Southampton

University of Southampton Research Repository

Copyright © and Moral Rights for this thesis and, where applicable, any accompanying data are retained by the author and/or other copyright owners. A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge. This thesis and the accompanying data cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the copyright holder/s. The content of the thesis and accompanying research data (where applicable) must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the copyright holder/s.

When referring to this thesis and any accompanying data, full bibliographic details must be given, e.g.

Thesis: Author (Year of Submission) "Full thesis title", University of Southampton, name of the University Faculty or School or Department, PhD Thesis, pagination.

Data: Author (Year) Title. URI [dataset]

UNIVERSITY OF SOUTHAMPTON

FACULTY OF ENGINEERING, SCIENCE & MATHEMATICS INSTITUTE OF SOUND AND VIBRATION RESEARCH

ΒY

SHARMILA PATEL

THESIS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF CLINICAL PRACTICE

October 2020

UNIVERSITY OF SOUTHAMPTON

<u>ABSTRACT</u>

FACULTY OF FACULTY OF ENGINEERING, SCIENCE & MATHEMATICS INSTITUTE OF SOUND AND VIBRATION RESEARCH

Doctor of Clinical Practice

Neural refractory properties and behavioural measures of temporal resolution and speech perception in cochlear implant users.

by Sharmila Patel

Temporal processing is of increased importance in cochlear implant users due to the degraded spectral information provided by cochlear implant devices in comparison to what is heard by normal hearing individuals. Studies have shown that speech perception through a cochlear implant is limited when the transmission of temporal information is impeded and there is considerable individual variability in performance. The health of the underlying neural population is thought to be a key predictor of temporal processing efficiency and speech perception outcomes. The central aim of the work reported here was to attempt to delineate the relative contribution of peripheral and central temporal processing on speech perception. This was achieved by comparing objectively measured temporal properties of the auditory nerve with behavioral measures of temporal processing, and analysis was completed to determine if these measures predicted speech perception in cochlear implant users.

An experiment was conducted with 18 unilaterally implanted adults who were stratified by deafness onset, which was used an indicator for neural survival and by stimulation rate. The electrically evoked compound action potential (eCAP) recovery function was used as an objective measure of recovery from refractoriness and the Random Gap Detection Test (RGDT) was used as a behavioral measure of temporal processing. Arthur Boothroyd (AB) word phoneme scores were measured for each subject across a range of presentation levels. The results of this study showed the eCAP recovery function was not affected by deafness onset and stimulation rate and was not a predictor speech performance; but RGDT thresholds were strongly correlated with deafness onset and stimulation rate, and were a very strong predictor of speech performance in the same individuals across presentation level.

Contents

List o	of Figures	9	
List of Tables			
Acad	Academic Thesis: Declaration Of Authorship20		
Ackn	owledgements	21	
List o	of Abbreviations	22	
Chap	ter 1 Introduction	25	
1.1	Overall Contributions to knowledge		
1.2	Structure of this thesis	37	
Chap	ter 2 Background	38	
2.1	The cochlea		
2.2	The auditory nerve	42	
2.3	Refractoriness	47	
2.4	Central auditory pathways	48	
2.5	The likely limitations imposed by impairments in the auditory pathwa	ay50	
Chap	ter 3 Electrical Hearing in The Auditory System	54	
3.1	Cochlear Implant	54	
3.2	The sound processor	56	
3.3	Spectral representation	56	
3.4	Place code	56	
3.5	Amplitude compression	58	
3.6	Speech coding strategies	59	
3.7	Front end processing	61	
3.8	Filter bank and envelope sampling	61	
3.9	Channel selection and mapping	62	
3.10	Temporal structure of speech: Coding and relevance to perception.	63	
3.11	Temporal coding in cochlear implants	67	
3.12	2 Channel interaction	70	
3.13	Amplitude modulation dectection	75	

Chapter 4 Objective and Behavioural Measures of Temporal Processsing....80

4.1 What are the individual differences in temporal processing that may influence	
speech perception?80	
4.2 Are there intra-cochlear regional differences in temporal processing in CI	
users that may influence speech perception?81	
4.3 Current evidence base for eCAP recovery function and speech perception.82	
4.4 The eCAP recovery function background88	
4.4.1 The eCAP morphology89	
4.4.2 Neural Response Telemetry	
4.4.3 Forward masking paradigm91	
4.5 Two pulse experimental paradigm to estimate recovery function	
4.6 Multi-pulse experimental paradigm to estimate recovery function94	
4.7 Behavioural measures of temporal processing97	
4.8 Gaps in knowledge103	
4.9 Conceptual model and hypotheses104	
Chapter 5 Methodology106	
5.1 Developments in methodology106	
5.1 Developments in methodology	
 5.1 Developments in methodology	
5.1Developments in methodology.1065.2Pilot Study.1065.3General Method1075.3.1The eCAP recovery function107	
5.1Developments in methodology.1065.2Pilot Study.1065.3General Method1075.3.1The eCAP recovery function1075.3.2The eCAP recovery function stimuli and recording of parameters110	
5.1Developments in methodology.1065.2Pilot Study.1065.3General Method1075.3.1The eCAP recovery function1075.3.2The eCAP recovery function stimuli and recording of parameters1105.3.3Random Gap Detection Test.111	
5.1Developments in methodology.1065.2Pilot Study.1065.3General Method1075.3.1The eCAP recovery function1075.3.2The eCAP recovery function stimuli and recording of parameters1105.3.3Random Gap Detection Test.1115.3.4Speech perception tests114	
5.1Developments in methodology.1065.2Pilot Study.1065.3General Method1075.3.1The eCAP recovery function1075.3.2The eCAP recovery function stimuli and recording of parameters1105.3.3Random Gap Detection Test.1115.3.4Speech perception tests1145.4Results of the pilot study116	
5.1Developments in methodology.1065.2Pilot Study.1065.3General Method1075.3.1The eCAP recovery function1075.3.2The eCAP recovery function stimuli and recording of parameters1105.3.3Random Gap Detection Test.1115.3.4Speech perception tests1145.4Results of the pilot study1165.5Subjects and sample size calculation118	
5.1Developments in methodology.1065.2Pilot Study1065.3General Method1075.3.1The eCAP recovery function1075.3.2The eCAP recovery function stimuli and recording of parameters1105.3.3Random Gap Detection Test.1115.3.4Speech perception tests1145.4Results of the pilot study1165.5Subjects and sample size calculation1185.6Study participants118	
5.1Developments in methodology.1065.2Pilot Study1065.3General Method1075.3.1The eCAP recovery function1075.3.2The eCAP recovery function stimuli and recording of parameters1105.3.3Random Gap Detection Test.1115.3.4Speech perception tests1145.4Results of the pilot study1165.5Subjects and sample size calculation1185.6Study participants1185.7Main experiment119	
5.1Developments in methodology.1065.2Pilot Study	
5.1 Developments in methodology. 106 5.2 Pilot Study. 106 5.3 General Method 107 5.3.1 The eCAP recovery function 107 5.3.2 The eCAP recovery function stimuli and recording of parameters 110 5.3.3 Random Gap Detection Test 111 5.3.4 Speech perception tests 114 5.4 Results of the pilot study 116 5.5 Subjects and sample size calculation 118 5.6 Study participants 118 5.7 Main experiment 119 5.8 Analysis 120	
5.1 Developments in methodology	

6.1.2 Statistical analysis124
6.2 The eCAP recovery function measurements125
6.2.1 The eCAP recovery function Tau measurements and deafness onset129
6.2.2 The eCAP recovery function Tau measurements and stimulation rate130
6.2.3 Posthoc analysis for eCAP recovery function Tau measures and electrode
location131
6.2.4 The eCAP recovery function T0 measurements and deafness onset132
6.2.5 The eCAP recovery function T0 measurements and stimulation rate133
6.2.6 The eCAP recovery function A measurements and deafness onset134
6.2.7 The eCAP recovery function T0 measurements and stimulation rate135
6.2.8 Summary of results for eCAP recovery function measurements
6.3 RGDT thresholds136
6.3.1 RGDT thresholds and deafness onset137
6.3.2 Posthoc analysis for RGDT frequencies and deafness onset138
6.3.3 RGDT thresholds and stimulation rate137
6.3.4 Posthoc analysis for RGDT frequencies and stimulation rate139
6.3.5 Summary of results for RGDT thresholds141
6.4 AB word phoneme scores141
6.4.1 AB word phoneme score and deafness onset142
6.4.2 Posthoc analysis for AB word phonemes presentation level and deafness
onset and deafness onset142
6.4.3 AB word phoneme score and stimulation rate
6.4.4 Posthoc analysis for AB word phonemes presentation level and deafness
onset and stimulation rate146
6.4.5 Summary of results for AB word phoneme scores147
6.5 Multiple linear regression147
6.5.1 Electrode 19 eCAP recovery function Tau measurement147
6.5.2 Electrode 16 eCAP recovery function Tau measurement
6.5.3 Electrode 10 eCAP recovery function Tau measurement
6.5.4 Electrode 6 eCAP recovery function Tau measurement
6.5.5 RGDT thresholds
6.5.6 AB word phoneme scores 40dBA155

6.5.7 AB word phoneme scores 50dBA	157
6.5.8 AB word phoneme scores 60dBA	159
6.5.9 AB word phoneme scores 70dBA	
6.6 RGDT thresholds and AB word phoneme scores	162
Chapter 7 Discussion	168
7.1 Summary of thesis and overall findings	168
7.2 The eCAP recovery function	169
7.2.1 The feasibility of measuring the eCAP recovery function	170
7.2.2 The eCAP recovery function and deafness onset	170
7.2.3 The eCAP recovery function and implant type	173
7.2.4 The eCAP recovery function and stimulation rate	173
7.2.5 The eCAP recovery function and speech perception	174
7.2.6 The eCAP recovery function and RGDT thresholds	175
7.3 RGDT thresholds	176
7.3.1 RGDT thresholds and deafness onset	176
7.3.2 RGDT thresholds and frequency	178
7.3.3 RGDT thresholds and stimulation rate	178
7.3.4 RGDT thresholds and age	181
7.4 RGDT thresholds and AB word phoneme scores	182
7.5 Limitations of current study	187
7.6 Future studies	188
Chapter 8 Conclusion	191
List of References	192
Appendix A: NHS National Research Ethics, reference 18/LO/12/41,	local safety
and ethics committee approval	230

List of Figures

Figure 7: Illustration of hair cell stimulation, receptor potential and auditory nerve fiber discharge (from Flock, 1965). The tip links tense during displacement toward the taller stereocilium, thus increasing the probability that the ion gated channel will open

Figure 8: Illustration of how deflection of the hair bundle towards the tallest stereocilia causes potassium channels to open at the tip links, the influx of potassium ions causes the cell membrane to depolarise which results in and the influx of calcium ions. These fuse to the synaptic vesicles in the cell which triggers the release of the neurotransmitter glutamate into the synaptic cleft between the hair cell and SGN which causes a neural spike in the ANF...**42**

Figure 9: Innervation patterns of the afferent and efferent neurons in the organ of Corti. Afferent innervation is provided by the SGNs which have central axons that form the AN. There are two types of afferent neurons, Type I neurons which receive synapses from the IHCs and Type II neurons which receive synapses from the OHCs. Efferent innervation is provided by a subgroup of neurons in the superior olivery complex that send axons to the OHCs.

Figure 10: Illustrates the difference in APs between High SR ANFs and Low SR ANFs....44

Figure 14: Schematic of the various central auditory nuclei and the ascending pathways...50

Figure 19: Block diagram of main stages of CI speech processing......60

Figure 27: The conceptual model for an experiment where measurement (1) predicts (2) and both (1) and (2) predict speech performance (3). The factors that are likely to influence each measurement and how they may be associated with each other are discussed below......**104**

Figure 29: Fitted exponential recovery function: F (MPI) = A (1-exp [-a (MPI-T0)]) at a reference MPI of 300 μ s. The neural response becomes measurable above the threshold T0

and the eCAP amplitude increases with a time constant (Tau) up to an asymptotical limit, the saturation level A. Parameters: T0 = 496.41 μ s; A = 172.58 μ V, Tau = 822.36 μ s......**110**

Figure 30: The mean RGDT and AB word phoneme scores for the 5 subjects in the pilot study. The red circles represent the pre-lingual subjects and the green circles represent the postlingual subjects. The pre-lingual subjects have larger GDTs and lower AB word phoneme scores when compared to the post-lingual subjects......**117**

Figure 31: Box plots of the data obtained for each eCAP recovery function measurement component at the different electrode locations. A (μ V) is the maximal amplitude of the neural response at saturation level, T0 (μ s) is a measure of the absolute refractory period and tau (μ s) is the time constant of recovery during the relative refractory period......**126**

Figure 32: The eCAP recovery function measurements obtained for subject 2 at electrode 19
Figure 33: The eCAP recovery function measurements obtained for subject 2 at electrode 16. Note, recovery function could not be calculated at this electrode therefore an exponential curve is not fitted
Figure 34: The eCAP recovery function measurements obtained for subject 2 at electrode 10
Figure 35: The eCAP recovery function measurements obtained for subject 2 at electrode 6
Figure 36: Median Tau Measurement at different electrode locations based on deafness onset 129
Figure 37: Median Tau measurements at different electrode locations based on rate130
Figure 38: Mean (+ 2 SD) Differences in mean Tau measurements between electrode pairs
Figure 39: Median eCAP recovery function T0 measurements by deafness onset132

Figure 40: Median eCAP recovery function T0 values by rate133
Figure 41: Box plot analysis of eCAP recovery function A values by deafness onset134
Figure 42. Box plot analysis of eCAP recovery function A values by stimulation rate135
Figure 43: Box plot analysis of RGDT scores at each frequency136
Figure 44: Median RGDT thresholds at each frequency based on deafness onset137
Figure 45: Mean (+ 2 SD) RGDT thresholds for paired t-tests for RGDT frequencies and deafness onset
Figure 46: Median RGDT scores by stimulation rate
Figure 47: Mean (+ 2 SD) RGDT scores for independent t-tests for RGDT frequencies and stimulation rate
Figure 48: Box plot analysis of AB word phoneme scores across presentation levels141
Figure 49: Median AB word scores based in deafness onset142
Figure 50: Mean AB word phoneme scores based on presentation level for paired t- tests 143
Figure 51: Mean (+ 2 SD) AB word phoneme scores for independent t-tests based on deafness onset
Figure 52: Median AB word scores based on stimulation rate145
Figure 53: Mean (+ 2 SD) AB word phoneme scores for paired t-tests based on stimulation rate
Figure 54: Average RGDT thresholds and average AB Word phoneme scores for each subject by deafness onset and stimulation rate 163
, , ,

 Figure 55: AB Word Phoneme Scores at 70dBA for each subject by deafness onset and

 stimulation rate
 163

Figure 56: AB Word Phoneme Scores at 60dBA for each subject by deafness onset and stimulation rate. Represents the score achieved by 1 subject in post-lingual high stimulation rate group and 1 subject in the pre-lingual high stimulation rate group......**164**

Figure 61: Composite RGDT thresholds for subjects in the high stimulation rate group. Data for Subject 12 (red circle) and Subject 17 (green circle).....**180**

Figure 66: The AB word phoneme scores at 40dBA shown for each subject based o	n
individual RGDT thresholds	184
Figure 67: (I) The recording conditions used to obtain single pulse recordings (RRF) a	and pulse
train recordings (Adaptation) and (II) How the eCAP to an individual pulse train w	would be
derived	190

List of Tables

Table1:	The word recognition scores based on SGC count in 6 bilaterally implanted subjection	ects.
Reprodu	uced from Seyyedi et al., 2014	.52

 Table 3: The lower and upper frequency distributions of electrodes 19,16,10 and 6, which correspond to the test frequencies used in the RGDT 500,1000, 2000 and 4000Hz.......109

 Table 6: The number of subjects in the pre-lingual and post-lingual group based on stimulation

 rate
 124

 Table 7: Posthoc paired t-tests for eCAP recovery function Tau measures and electrode

 location
 131

Table 11: Posthoc independent paired t-test for AB word phoneme scores based on deafness

 onset. Differences reaching the Bonferroni-corrected significance level are given in bold...144

Table 16: Summary of multiple regression analysis B = Unstandardized regression coefficient; SE_B = Standard error of the coefficient; β = standardized coefficient for the dependent variableelectrode 6 Tau153

Table 17: Summary of multiple regression analysis B = Unstandardized regressioncoefficient; SE_B = Standard error of the coefficient; β = standardized coefficient for averageRGDT threshold scores.**155**

Table 18: Summary of multiple regression analysis B = Unstandardized regression coefficient; SE_B = Standard error of the coefficient; β = standardized coefficient for AB word phoneme scores at 40dBA......**157**

 Table 23: RGDT thresholds in low stimulation rate group. Subjects 15 and 18 are post-lingually deaf.

 180

Academic Thesis: Declaration of Authorship

I, Sharmila Patel, declare that the thesis entitled "Neural refractory properties and behavioural measures of temporal resolution and speech perception in cochlear implant users" and the work presented in it are my own has been generated by me as the result of my own original research.

I confirm that:

- 1. This work was done wholly or mainly while in candidature for a research degree at this University;
- 2. Where any part of this thesis has previously been submitted for a degree or any other qualification at this University or any other institution, this has been clearly stated;
- 3. Where I have consulted the published work of others, this is always clearly attributed;
- 4. Where I have quoted from the work of others, the source is always given. With the exception of such quotations, this thesis is entirely my own work;
- 5. I have acknowledged all main sources of help;
- 6. Where the thesis is based on work done by myself jointly with others, I have made clear exactly what was done by others and what I have contributed myself;
- 7. None of this work has been published before submission

Signed:		
Date:	23/10/2020	

Acknowledgements

Thanks are due to a great number of people for their role in my doctoral studies. Firstly, I would like to express my deep gratitude to my doctoral supervisor, Professor Carl Verschurr, for his invaluable insight, immense knowledge and continuous support. I would like to thank him for his assistance in developing my academic and research skills, his guidance and encouragement helped me through out. I am also grateful to my second supervisor, Dr Steve Bell, for stepping in at the last minute to give me valuable feedback and suggestions on improving my work.

I would like to thank my friends and colleagues for their continued kindness, support and encouragement, it is not possible to mention everyone but I would like to give special thanks to Nimita Shah for providing moral support and reassurance throughout. I would also like to thank Seema Gajjar for physically being there in the final stint and keeping me motivated. I am also grateful to Pranita Gandhi for providing her scientific expertise and help.

My sincere thanks to my team at St George's University Hospitals Foundation Trust, for their patience, understanding and unwavering support, I could not have done this without them. I am extremely grateful to all of my participants without whom this research would not have been possible.

Finally, I am indebted to my parents and brother for the unparalleled love and support they have given me throughout my life. I thank my parents for giving me the opportunities and experiences that have made me who I am. They selflessly encouraged me to explore new directions in life and none of this would have been possible without them, I dedicate this thesis to them.

List of Abbreviations

- ACE Advanced Combination Encoder ADRO - Automatic Dynamic Range Optimisation
- AGC- Automatic gain control
- AM Amplitude modulation
- AN Auditory neuron
- **ANF** Auditory nerve fibre
- ANOVA- Analysis of variance
- ARP Absolute Refractory Period
- AZBio Arizona Biomedical Sentence Recognition Test
- BKB Bamford-Kowal-Bench
- BKB-SIN Bamford-Kowal-Bench Speech-in-Noise Test
- BM Basilar membrane
- BP Bipolar
- C- level Comfort level
- **CF-** Characteristic frequency
- CI Cochlear implant
- CIS Continuous interleaved sampling
- **CN** Cochlear Nucleus
- **CNC** Consonant-Nucleus-Consonant
- dB Decibel
- **DR** Dynamic range
- eCAP Electrically evoked action potential
- **GDT** Gap Detection Threshold
- FFT Fast Fourier transform
- HI Hearing impaired
- HL Hearing level
- Hz Hertz
- IC Inferior colliculus
- IDR Input dynamic range
- IHC Inner Hair Cell
- HSRF High spontaneous rate fibres
- K+ Potassium
- LL Lateral lemniscus

- **LLC** Lateral lemniscus complex
- LSRF Low spontaneous rate fibres
- MAP Measurable Auditory Percept
- MCL Most Comfortable Loudness
- **MDT** Modulation detection threshold
- MP Monopolar
- MPI Masker Probe Interval
- Na+ Sodium
- NH Normal hearing
- NICE National Institute for Clinical Excellence
- n-of-m number-of-maxima
- OC Organ of Corti
- OHC- Outer Hair Cell
- pps/ch Pulses per second per channel
- RF Radio Frequency
- **RGDT** Randomised Gap Detection Test
- **RGDT-EXP** Expanded Randomized Gap Detection Test
- RM Reissner's Membrane
- **RRF** Refractory Recovery Function
- **RRP** Refractory Recovery Period
- SD Standard deviation
- SGC Spiral Ganglion Cell
- SGN Spiral Ganglion Neuron
- SM Scala media
- SNR Signal-to-noise ratio
- **SOC** Superior olivary complex
- **SPEAK** Spectral Peak
- SPL Sound pressure level
- SR Spontaneous discharge rate
- SRT Speech reception threshold
- ST Scala tympani
- SV Scala vestibuli
- T-level Threshold level
- TM Tectorial membrane
- **TMTF** Temporal modulation transfer function

VCV- vowel-consonant-vowel

Chapter 1: Introduction

Cochlear Implants (CIs) are hugely successful in restoring hearing for people with severe to profound hearing loss however, there is significant individual variability in speech recognition performance among CI users. For example, the median recognition of disyllabic words is 70% 1-year post implantation with a range 0-100% (Lazard et al., 2010). This variability is observed in both post-lingually deaf adults and congenitally deaf children (Lee et al., 2005). The proportion of recipients with word recognition scores less than 10% is approximately 10% (Bodmer et al., 2007). This marked variance has not been fully explained and researchers have suggested that patient related factors such age, deafness onset and cognitive function are likely contributors (Blamey et al., 1996; Holden et al., 2013; Lazard et al., 2012; Kaandorp et al., 2017; James et al., 2019). Furthermore, peripheral predictors such as the health of the underlying neural population (Nadol et al., 2016); and the duration of auditory deprivation which impacts both the peripheral and central auditory systems (O'Donoghue et al., 2000) may account for some of the variance in speech recognition. Other factors that may influence speech recognition outcomes are device related, such as the electrode array position, insertion depth and the number of active channels (Skinner et al., 2002; Yukawa et al., 2004; Finley et al., 2008; Lazard et al., 2012; Esquia Medina et al., 2013; Holden et al., 2013; James et al., 2019). It is therefore reasonable to assume that CI users who have the fewest limiting factors are likely to achieve the highest speech recognition scores (Holden et al., 2013).

Blamey et al. (1996) examined data from 808 CI recipients retrospectively and found that duration of deafness had a strong significant negative effect on speech perception. The data was obtained from several different centres which created some limitations as different programming methods, speech recognition tests and rehabilitation techniques were used across centres. More recent studies also support the findings in the Blamey et al., (1996); Rubinstein et al., (1999) found a strong negative correlation between duration of deafness and post-operative monosyllabic word recognition. Green et al. (2007) reported duration of deafness to be an independent predictor of performance, accounting for 9% of the variability in a retrospective study examining 117 post-lingually deaf patients implanted between 1988 and 2002. Leung et al., (2005) examined a large group of CI recipients who were divided into a younger group (<65 years of age, n = 491) and an older group (\geq 65 years of age, n = 258); and found monosyllabic word scores significantly declined with longer duration of deafness.

Holden et al., (2013) conducted a study with 114 post-lingually deaf adults from a single centre; to identify sources of variability in CI outcomes by evaluating monosyllabic word recognition scores at numerous test intervals over a 2-year period post device activation. Participants were divided into six outcome groups based on the percentile ranking of their final word score. Figure 1 shows each participant's final word score in rank order from lowest to highest, along with the outcome groupings and demonstrates the high levels of inherent variability in CI performance between individual subjects. Overall the study found that the higher performing outcome groups consisted of subjects who had a shorter duration of severe to profound deafness, as shown in figure 2.



Figure 1: Final word score for each participant ranked in order from lowest to highest score and each participants corresponding outcome group. From Holden et al., (2013). Reproduced with permission, copyright Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.



Figure 2: Scatterplot of duration of severe to profound hearing loss in relation to the six outcome groups. Group 1 (poorest performers) and group 6 (highest performers). From Holden et al., (2013). Reproduced with permission, copyright Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.

The perception of complex signals such as speech involve the processing of both spectral and temporal information (Rosen, 1992; Shannon et al., 1995; Moore, 2008). The most successful CI users are unable to discriminate speech as well as normal hearing (NH) listeners, especially in adverse listening conditions (Bhargava et al., 2016). This may be because CI speech processing signals do not replicate the sophisticated nonlinear mechanisms involved in the normal peripheral auditory system; therefore, the auditory information delivered by a CI remains coarse and CI users receive impoverished and degraded spectral information about the speech signal when compared to NH listeners (Cohen et al., 2003; Loizou, 1999; Zeng et al., 2004), consequently temporal information plays a critically important role in CI users. Psychophysical studies have found that the large variability in speech perception in CI users is significantly related to the individual differences in temporal processing abilities (Looi et al., 2008; Cazals et al., 1991, 1994; Muchnik et al., 1994; Busby and Clark 1999; Fu et al., 2002). This work examines how peripheral factors of variability (degree of neural survival) that are associated with the duration of auditory deprivation (which influences how central auditory pathways are reorganised) differ between pre- and post-lingually deafened adult CI users. This study investigates how objectively measured temporal properties of the auditory nerve relate to behaviourally measured temporal processing and speech perception. As these measures are underutilised in CI users they may help us better understand if a significant neural-behavioural relationship exists that can account for the individual differences and variability in speech recognition following cochlear implantation.

Some studies have investigated the speech perception abilities in NH listeners under acoustic conditions that are sufficiently degraded to produce average performance comparable to that observed in CI users. O'Niell et al., (2019) examined the contribution of perceptual and cognitive factors for speech perception in NH listeners and CI users, in order to identify how much more variable speech perception is between CI users than between NH listeners, under similarly degraded conditions. 30 CI users were tested on word intelligibility in sentences with and without semantic context, presented in quiet and in noise. Performance was compared with measures of spectral ripple detection and discrimination, thought to reflect peripheral processing, as well as with cognitive measures of working memory and non-verbal intelligence. 30 age matched and 30 younger NH adults were also included in the study and were presented with materials via a tone excited vocoder, that was adjusted to simulate the effects of loss of spectral resolution and to produce performance for speech perception in noise that was comparable to that found for the CI users. Results showed that CI users performed more poorly on sentences lacking semantic context than either NH group, suggesting CI users rely more heavily on contextual cues to assist with speech understanding similar to the findings of Dingemanse and Goedegebure, (2019) who showed that CI users made more use of contextual information in recognition of words and sentences than NH listeners. The between subject variance was greater for CI users than for either group of NH listeners in speech perception for speech stimuli both with and without context. A strong correlation was found between the speech measures and the measures of spectral resolution in CI users, similar to other studies (Henry et al., 2005; Holden et al., 2016; Jeon et al., 2015; Won et al., 2011; Zhou, 2017), which suggest that the measures of spectral resolution capture more than just peripheral contributions to speech perception. The average performance for CI users was also poorer than both NH groups on measures of both working memory and nonverbal intelligence, which indicates that central factors such as cognition may influence speech understanding and could explain some of the individual differences in CI users.

It is important to consider physiological differences between the normal functioning and impaired auditory system and how these might influence speech recognition. The inner hair cell (IHC) and auditory nerve fibre (ANF) synapse is the primary conduit through which auditory information is transmitted to the auditory nervous system. In the normal ear, 95% of ANFs make synaptic connection only with IHCs (Spoendlin, 1972). Each ANF has a cell body in the spiral ganglion neuron with a peripheral axon that contacts acoustic receptors in the

organ of Corti, with a terminal bouton that forms a synapse with the IHC. The central processes collect together to form the auditory nerve that projects into the brain. In a healthy ear, movement of the stereocilia of IHCs leads to streams of neural impulses in ANFs. This electrical activity has patterns with temporal and spectral characteristics that essentially enable identification and interpretation of speech at higher neural levels (Moore, 2013). Temporal information is carried through the precise timing of neural impulses both within and between nerve fibres, whereas spectral information is represented in the spatial distribution of activity across the neural population (Wouters et al., 2015).

The auditory system uses temporal cues, such as the duration of speech segments and the duration of silent intervals between speech segments, to differentiate various speech sounds (Dorman et al, 1985). In NH subjects, precise perception of spectral and temporal patterns facilitates accurate speech intelligibility, which is dependent on the integrity of neural mechanisms in the auditory periphery and central system (Bregman, 1990; Shannon et al., 1995; Elhilali et al., 2003; Woolley et al., 2005). These processes are compromised in subjects with sensorineural hearing loss (SNHL), which is caused by damage to the inner hair cells (IHCs) of the cochlea; this consequently reduces speech discrimination in these individuals as there are fewer functional channels available to convey auditory information in comparison to NH listeners (Kim et al., 2010; Kirby and Middlebrooks, 2010, 2012; Garadat et al., 2012, 2013; Long et al., 2014).

Spiral ganglion neurons (SGNs) receive synaptic input from IHCs which are responsible for the mechano-electrical transduction of sound; the conversion of mechanical vibrations into action potentials, and provide the sole route to convey speech information from the auditory periphery to the auditory cortex (Myer et al., 2009) (Figure 3). Each human cochlea contains ~15,000 IHCs and ~40,000 auditory nerve fibres (ANFs) and once destroyed, neither of these structures regenerate (Harrison and Howe 1974; Fujioka et al., 2015). SGNs therefore play a crucial role by serving as the initial point at which afferent action potentials are encoded (Boulet et al., 2016). Extensive dysfunction and loss of IHCs following SNHL has been shown to lead to degeneration of the peripheral portion of the SGNs, (Figure 4) (Miura et al., 2002; Nadol et al., 1989; Zimmermann et al., 1995), which decreases the ability of the auditory nerve to transmit spectral and temporal information with high fidelity (Hartmann et al., 1989), and subsequently to significant changes in the central auditory pathways (Webster and Webster, 1977; Kitzes and Semple, 1985; Kral et al., 2005). As it is not possible to directly quantify the

surviving IHCs and SGNs in humans it is difficult to predict how neural degeneration contributes to individual difficulties in speech understanding.

A CI is a neural prosthesis that electrically stimulates the residual SGNs in subjects with severe-profound SNHL. Its efficacy is therefore primarily dependent on the severity of SGN loss as fewer neurons being available for stimulation limits the efficiency of information transmission through a CI system. Neural representations of speech have two vital features, temporal code which is reliant on the SGNs firing in phase with the incoming speech signal, and place code which is tonotopic and determines the perception of pitch depending on the site of stimulation on the basilar membrane (BM) (Robles and Ruggero, 2001). Pitch perception with CIs is poor due to the spread of electrical current in the cochlea which prevents excitation of discrete SGNs and reduces the fine frequency discrimination abilities in CI users. This results in sparser spectral cues being available, making CI users more reliant on temporal information (Xu et al., 2005; Sagi et al., 2009), hence, temporal resolution is of substantial importance in electrical hearing. Temporal resolution plays a critical role in speech comprehension because speech components contain a multitude of temporal cues and allows the identification of small variations that occur in the speech signal over time, which enables the perception of segmental, syllabic, phonetic and word distinctions in continuous speech (Rosen, 1992 and Rupp et al., 2002). We currently have an impoverished understanding of SGN excitability and temporal interactions in response to electrical stimulation and this thesis sheds light on the mechanisms underlying neural temporal processing in CI users and their effects on behavioural measures of temporal resolution and speech perception.



Figure 3: Processing of sound involves the peripheral and central auditory pathways: **a**) Sounds waves are picked up by the outer ear which causes the middle ear bones to vibrate **b**) this produces a traveling wave which causes deflection of IHC bundles in the organ of Corti and this action elicits neural discharge of ANs **c**) these impulses are transmitted to the ascending central auditory pathway. This is the bottom up process for speech perception





Although CIs are hugely successful in improving speech perception which is linked to broader outcomes in linguistic, social and educational functioning (Meyer et al., 2003); they do not provide equivalent benefit for all recipients and large individual differences and variability in speech recognition performance is routinely reported in the literature (Niparko et al., 2010; Pisoni et al., 1999); even when factors such as deafness onset, age at implantation, duration of deafness and neural health are taken into account (Pyman et al., 2000; McDermott, 2004; Stickney et al., 2004 and Blamey et al., 2013). The high variability in performance may partly arise due to individual differences in the ability of the central auditory system to adequately resolve and process electric stimuli (Kraus et al., 1993; Micco et al., 1995; Middlebrooks et al., 2005; Moore and Shannon, 2009). Other factors that may explain these differences are the natural variations in the anatomical height, width and length of individual cochlea by as much as 40% (Erixon et al., 2009) between subjects. The electrode array design and proximity of the electrode contact to the target neural region can also result in varied patterns of neuronal stimulation, furthermore differences in speech processing strategies for CIs, which determine the excitation patterns within the cochlea are likely to heavily influence speech recognition (Skinner et al., 1999; Loizou et al., 2000; James et al., 2003; Skinner 2003; Spahr and Dorman 2005; Holden et al., 2011; Van der Beek et al., 2015; Busby and Arora 2016).

In order to convey temporal information to the CI user, the neural discharge pattern in response to electrical stimulation must convey the temporal detail in the input signal. Most CI processors use a temporal code in which the envelopes of speech sounds are extracted and used to amplitude modulate interleaved trains of biphasic pulses. Thus, the ability of CI users to resolve temporal envelope information is crucial for overall speech recognition (Muchnik et al.,1994. Shannon et al., 1995 and Chatterjee and Shannon, 1998) and deficits in temporal resolution can result in reduced phoneme and word identification through the CI (Tyler et al, 1989; Cazals et al., 1991; Muchnik et al., 1994; Sagi et al., 2009). A fundamental property of SGNs that generate action potentials is refractoriness, the period in which SGNs are incapable of generating a subsequent action potential immediately following previous stimulation. Refractory properties are likely to heavily influence the temporal responsiveness of the auditory nerve to trains of pulses that are typical of CI stimulation (Wilson et al., 1997; Tejani et al., 2017). It is reasonable to assume that SGNs that recover from refractoriness more rapidly will be available to generate an action potential to the subsequent stimulus providing a more accurate representation of the temporal code which is vital for encoding speech envelope cues. Results of animal studies support this theory and show that the physiological status of the auditory nerve can influence neural refractoriness which influences how

sequences of electrical pulses presented by the CI are coded by the auditory nerve (Miller et al., 2001; Matsuoka et al., 2000).

It is not possible to directly measure the neural population in human subjects and one method to evaluate the variability in refractoriness in CI users is to objectively measure the electrically evoked compound action potential (eCAP) recovery function. The eCAP is a direct measurement of the summed neural responses generated by an ensemble of SGNs to electrical stimulation (Miller, Brown, Abbas and Chi, 2008) and can therefore be used to evaluate the physiological status (number of neurons recruited) of the peripheral auditory nerve; and the recovery time constants in the responding population of SGNs (Brown et al., 1990). Near field recording of eCAPs is possible using intra-cochlear electrodes utilising the reverse telemetry function implemented in Custom neural response telemetry (NRT) software for Nucleus devices. Neural refractory properties in CI users could provide information on the temporal precision differences in individuals and the functional implications of refractoriness in speech perception. The intent of this thesis is to characterise the effect of refractoriness in the peripheral auditory system and evaluate the eCAP as a location specific measure of the electrode-neuron interface and its likely contribution to temporal acuity and speech perception in CI users.

For the majority of adult CI users, hearing loss has occurred after a substantial period of NH, or following amplification which has allowed adequate auditory function prior to cochlear implantation. One of the strongest predictors of speech perception outcomes following implantation is whether hearing loss and implantation occurred before or after language was acquired (Dawson et al., 1992; Semenov et al., 2012; Zwolan et al., 1996). In post-lingually deaf adults we might expect better speech perception as it is reasonable to assume that in the absence of substantial auditory deprivation, the dysfunction and atrophy in SGNs is less significant in comparison to subjects who are born with severe-profound hearing loss and receive a CI in adulthood. Inadequate stimulation of the auditory system before cochlear implantation causes pathological changes in the cochlea and alters how the central auditory pathways develop (Shepherd and Hardie, 2001); which may impose additional temporal processing limitations in pre-lingually implanted CI users which restricts their speech performance outcomes (Ponton et al., 1996; Ponton and Eggermont, 2001). Hence, even if the auditory nerve was able to respond to electrical stimulation in an efficient manner, the central processing deficits and the ability to adapt to the novel neural stimulation in those with long term deafness may be different compared to those with short durations of deafness. Processing the coarse speech signals provided by a CI requires additional processing beyond

what is necessary for NH listeners and these demands may be greater in subjects with prelingual deafness. Thus, an aim of this study is to investigate how temporal processing effects speech perception in CI users based on the duration of auditory deprivation.

To delineate the central contribution to temporal processing from the peripheral influences in CI users, it is possible to measure gap detection thresholds (GDTs), which are commonly used to assess temporal resolution (Garadat and Pfingst, 2011; Lister et al., 2011). Temporal resolution can be defined as the ability of the auditory system to detect gaps between two consecutive sound stimuli which ensures they are detected as separate events. Normal temporal resolution is vital for speech perception which requires rapid separation of speech segments (Swaminathoan and Heinz, 2012; Picton, 2013) and abnormal GDTs prevent the phonological processing that allows consistent detection of the boundaries between speech sounds in variable phonetic contexts (Ben-Artzi et al., 2005). Normal GDTs are achieved when SGNs are able to synchronously recover from refractoriness of the initial stimuli and subsequently encode the start of the second stimuli within the time frame that the gap exists (Kirby and Middlebrooks, 2010). CI users may require longer gaps in between stimuli to be able to reliably and consistently detect separations between sounds as damage to the peripheral and central pathways may result in altered temporal discharge patterns, this is most likely due to the dys-synchronous response of the SGNs to the gap. There is currently a small body of evidence regarding temporal resolution abilities in CI users and our understanding of how this impacts the speech perception is limited. This thesis provides insight on how GDTs can be utilised as an index to the integrity of the central auditory system and as a predictor of speech perception.

A critical parameter of speech processing strategies is stimulation rate as it plays a vital role in transferring temporal cues from rapidly changing speech signals. In CI programming software this is controlled by the per channel stimulation rate, which refers to the number of pulses per second delivered from an electrode pair to the ANFs. There are currently a wide range of stimulation rates available in current CI systems, ranging from low rates 200 pulses per second to high rates 5000 pulses per second, which can be adjusted to optimise performance. Studies have shown that speech perception varies as a function of stimulation rate both within and across recipients (Brill et al., 1997; Friesen et al., 2005; Holden et al., 2002; Kiefer et al., 2000; Loizou et al., 2000; Vandali et al., 2000) and this could be due to individual differences in the temporal response properties of the auditory nerve and/or temporal processing abilities (Cazals et al., 1994; Fu, 2002). Temporal properties of ANFs responses are substantially different when the fibres are stimulated electrically with a CI than with acoustic stimulation in the NH ear. In a healthy cochlea SGNs fire spontaneously in an independent and stochastic nature which results in neurons remaining in varying states of refractoriness (Rubinstein et al., 1994); and enables high rates of temporal coding in the auditory system to up 4kHz due to the summation of neural responses across the neural population. However, in the typically pathologic cochlea of CI recipients this ability is greatly reduced and SGNs stimulated electrically fire in a highly synchronous manner; as shown by Moxon (1971) who measured the discharges of 19 single ANFs in cats and found phase locking of ANFs prevents coding of high frequency temporal information and fine structure, therefore transmission of high frequency temporal information is likely compromised in CI users. This is supported by the findings of Liberman and Dodd (1984) who compared spontaneous activity in 24 single ANFs from pathological ears in cats and showed a significant decrease in the mean rates of spontaneous discharge in ANFs associated with the selective loss of the tallest row of stereocilia from the IHCs. Furthermore, Dynes and Delgutte (1991) completed systematic measurements of 140 single ANFs in 12 anaesthetised cats and found significant phase locking to electric stimuli above 1 kHz, suggesting that poor frequency discrimination in CI users above this frequency is not due to a lack of temporal information but may be due to the inability of the central processes to make effective use of the available phase locking information. It is important to note that the cats used in these animal studies had NH prior to insertion of the stimulation electrodes into the cochlea, in contrast, human CI users are likely to have longer durations of deafness prior to implantation so neural degeneration and discharge rates are likely to differ between animal and human subjects.

There is some evidence to support the theory that higher stimulation rates in CI users can induce stochastic firing of SGNs (Wilson et al., 1997; Rubsinstein et al., 1999), which would provide more detailed temporal sampling and could improve speech performance (Dawson et al., 2000; Dorman et al., 1997; Dorman et al., 2000; Loizou et al., 1999). It is important to note that there are no clear or consistent advantages reported for the use of high stimulation rates, and incomplete recovery of neural responsiveness between speech segments could potentially blur the neural code for speech onsets. Therefore, choosing an optimal stimulation rate requires a subjective process of trial and error which can be time consuming. In this study we examine the extent to which temporal neural response patterns, measured by eCAP recovery function, correlate to behavioural measures of temporal resolution and speech perception as a function of stimulation rate in CI users.

1.1 Overall contributions to knowledge

The overarching question which motivates this research is "To what extent does temporal processing influence speech performance in CI users?" The central aims of this study were to determine if there was a correlation between objective and behavioural measures of temporal processing and if these were predictive of speech perception. To the author's knowledge no other study has attempted this.

The work described in this thesis contributes to the existing literature in several ways. Neither electrophysiological nor behavioural measures of temporal processing are included in standard clinical practice to evaluate speech perception in CI users. Therefore, the results of this work show that both can be employed reliably and consistently in a clinical setting. The findings of this work add to the knowledge base on methodology, demonstrating that eCAP recovery function measurements can be completed with relative ease and do not require any additional equipment. The results also highlight the potential clinical application of the Random Gap Detection Test (RGDT) as a strong predictor for speech performance. An additional contribution to methodology is the successful measurement of acoustic GDTs utilising circumaural headphones, a method which has had limited use as most clinical testing with CI users is completed in a soundfield environment. This study adds to the six studies which have previously investigated the correlation between recovery function and speech perception in humans. Similar to five of these studies we have found no significant correlation between recovery time constants and speech perception results (Fulmer et al., 2011; Lee et al., 2012; Gantz et al., 1994; Brown et al., 1990; Kiefer et al., 2001; Turner et al., 2002).

Furthermore, this work improves our understanding of temporal resolution abilities in CI users, and the factors such as deafness onset and stimulation rate which contribute to the individual differences in performance. This research revealed a very strong correlation between impaired temporal resolution and speech perception and supports the idea that temporal resolution abilities are likely to account for the large variation in speech performance between CI users. This study found overwhelming evidence that GDTs were predictive of speech performance across a range of scenarios, but eCAP based objective measurements were not. A paper based on the original work in this thesis is currently being prepared for publication.
1.2 Structure of this thesis

This thesis is concerned with investigating how the temporal properties of the auditory nerve impact temporal processing and speech perception outcomes in CI users. The present chapter has introduced the topic of the thesis and summarised its main aims and objectives.

Chapter 2 – Background: introduces the anatomy and physiology of the normal functioning ear and outlines how the temporal properties of the auditory nerve differ between the normal functioning and impaired auditory system.

Chapter 3 – Electrical Hearing in the Auditory System: details how electrical hearing with a CI works and provides a description of the different facets of signal processing and the perceptual effects of these parameters.

Chapter 4 – Objective and Behavioural Measures of Temporal Processing: Drawing on evidence from previous studies this chapter provides an overview of how objective and behavioural measures of temporal processing can be utilised to address gaps in knowledge.

Chapter 5– Methodology: describes the development and design of the experimental work

Chapter 6 – Results: This chapter reports results from the experimental work

Chapter 7 – Discussion: This chapter discusses the results of the experimental work and describes the limitations and advantages of this work when compared to previous studies, alongside recommendations for further work.

Chapter 8 – Conclusion: This chapter contains a general summary of the key findings from this experimental work.

Chapter 2: Background

This chapter focuses on the neural mechanisms of information transfer through the different levels of the normally functioning auditory system; beginning with the passage of mechanical impulses through the middle and inner ear, and continuing with non-linear mechanoelectric transduction within the organ of Corti, which gives rise to neural impulses in ANFs that are subsequently received by higher levels of the central auditory system. An outline of how changes to these physiological mechanisms following SNHL, lead to impairments in the auditory pathway as well as the limitations these impose to temporal processing are described. In CI users the cessation of afferent inputs to the auditory system following SNHL leads to a series of anatomical, physiological, and cognitive changes in both the peripheral and the central auditory pathways. These alterations are likely to contribute to the deterioration of speech performance with increasing duration of auditory deprivation.

2.1 The Cochlea

The cochlea is a bony structure embedded in the temporal bone, which spirals for two and a half turns and contains three fluid filled chambers, the scala vestibuli (SV), scala tympani (ST), and scala media (SM). The ST and SV are continuous with one another, via a foramen known as the helicotrema. Both these scalae contain perilymph fluid which has a composition that is rich in sodium (Na+) and poor in potassium (K+) concentration. The SM lies between these two chambers and is separated from the SV via Reissner's Membrane (RM) and from the ST via the Basilar Membrane (BM). The SM contains the organ of Corti (OC), which contains the receptor cells also known as hair cells (Pickles, 1988). The SM does not directly communicate with the other scalae and contains endolymph fluid which is rich in potassium (K+) and poor in sodium (Na+) concentration which makes the potential difference between the endolymph and the perilymph +80 mV (Pickles 1988). This endolymphatic potential appears to be due to the selective secretion and absorption of ions by the stria vascularis (Pickles, 1988). Damage to the stria vascularis results in loss of the endolymphatic potential and failure of mechanoelectrical transduction (Pauler et al., 1988).

The cochlea acts as a frequency filter that separates and analyses individual frequencies from complex sounds. These tuning properties result from anatomic and physiologic characteristics of sensory hair cells and the BM. Movement of the stapes at the oval window, causes it to move back and forth which results in a corresponding forward movement at the round window. This oscillation causes compression of the perilymph and this pressure variation causes

displacement of the BM, which generates a traveling wave along its length. Because motion of the BM reflects the frequency–intensity pattern of the sound initiating the wave, distinct populations of cochlear hair cells in the organ of Corti will be set in motion by different sound stimuli. The BM is tonotopically organised, from 20 Hz to 20,000 Hz (20 kHz), the base, which is nearest the oval window, is selective for high frequencies, whereas the apex, the end nearest the helicotrema, is selective for low frequencies. The differential displacement of the BM is the basis of frequency specificity in auditory function (Pickles, 1988). See figure 5.



Figure 5: Displacement of the basilar membrane and frequency specificity. (A) The route of sound signals as it progresses from the external ear, through the middle ear into the inner ear. (B) A Cross section of the cochlea from apex to base. The blue and red lines represent the spiral course of the scala vestibule and scala tympani. (C) The basilar membrane separates sound waves into different frequencies. It is narrow and stiff at the base and becomes wider and more flexible towards the apex. The hair cell stereocilia also increase in height from base to apex and when excited produce an action potential. From Henkel (2018). Reproduced with permission, copyright Elsevier

Transduction, the conversion of mechanical energy to intracellular electrochemical events, occurs in the organ of Corti, which is the highly specialised sensory epithelium that rests on top of the BM (Hudspeth and Jacobs, 1979). It is composed of IHCs, outer hair cells (OHCs), supporting cells, and the tectorial membrane (TM). IHCs form a single row spiralling from base to apex, and the OHCs form three parallel rows that follow the same course. These cells are separated by the tunnel of Corti, which is formed by the filamentous arches of the inner and outer pillar cells and is filled with fluid similar to perilymph (Belyantseva et al., 2005). Each hair cell has a bundle of projections called stereocilia which are filled with a microfilament called actin and each stereocilia are on the outer border and in contact with or embedded in the TM which is the gelatinous arm that extends over the organ of Corti (Flock et al., 1981; Belyantseva et al., 2005). In humans, there are approximately 12 000 OHCs per cochlea and each OHC has approximately 140 stereocilia; in comparison there are approximately 3500 IHCs, each with approximately 40 stereocilia (Pickles, 1988). Stereocilia are surrounded by endolymph, whereas the remainder of the hair cell is surrounded by perilymph. See figure 6.



Figure 6: Structure of the organ of Corti and the relation of type I and type II afferent fibres to the spiralling ranks of inner and outer hair cells. From Henkel (2018). Reproduced with permission, copyright Elsevier

Movement of the BM causes a shearing motion between the TM and organ of Corti which causes the hair bundle to deflect (Pickles, 1988), this process results in a graded depolarisation of the hair cells due to the opening of ion gated channels at the tips of the stereocilia. Stretching of the tip links towards the tallest stereocilia open the membrane channels and results in cell depolarisation. The large potential difference between the endolymph and the hair cell interior creates a force of 150 mV that drives potassium ions into the cell and increases the range of the cell's graded electrical response to mechanical displacement (Hudspeth, 1989; Denk et al., 1995). Subsequently, when a hair cell depolarises, voltage gated calcium channels at the base of the cell open, and the resulting influx of calcium causes synaptic vesicles to fuse to the cell membrane which triggers the release a neurotransmitter at the glutamatergic synapses that causes specialised ion channels to open on the postsynaptic neuron cell membrane and initiates signal propagation to afferent neurons (Ottersen et al., 1998), see figure 4. Conversely when the hair cell deflects in the opposite direction, toward the short stereocilia, this contracts the tip link and closes the membrane channels, resulting in hyperpolarisation (Nadol, 1990). See figure 7 and 8.



Figure 7: Illustration of hair cell stimulation, receptor potential and auditory nerve fiber discharge. The tip links tense during displacement toward the taller stereocilium, thus increasing the probability that the ion gated channel will open.



Figure 8: Illustration of how deflection of the hair bundle towards the tallest stereocilia causes potassium channels to open at the tip links, the influx of potassium ions causes the cell membrane to depolarise which results in and the influx of calcium ions. These fuse to the synaptic vesicles in the cell which triggers the release of the neurotransmitter glutamate into the synaptic cleft between the hair cell and SGN which causes a neural spike in the ANF.

2.2 The auditory nerve

The vestibulocochlear nerve (cranial nerve VIII) is derived from the embryonic placode. It emerges from the pontomedullary junction and exits the skull via the internal auditory meatus in the temporal bone. Inner and outer hair cells receive their primary afferent innervation from SGNs, these bipolar neurons send peripheral axons to the hair cells and their central axons form the main component of the cochlear nerve. There are two types of afferent neurons which separately stimulate the inner and outer hair cells and have distinctly different structures, vary in volume and innervation patterns (Spoendlin, 1985). The first type, Type I neurons send processes to contact the IHCs in a highly convergent manner, contacting a single cell that is innervated by approximately 20 afferent fibres (Spoendlin 1975; Kujawa and Liberman 2009; Meyer et al., 2009). Type 1 neurons make up 90-95% of the afferent population, are relatively large in diameter and myelinated; thus, their information reaches the brain quickly, within a few tenths of a millisecond (Matthews and Fuchs 2010). In contrast the second type, Type II neurons send processes to contact approximately 10 OHCs that are innervated by approximately 6 auditory fibres (Weisz et al., 2012 and Spoendlin 1975). Type II SGNs make up the remaining 5-10% of the afferent population, they are unipolar, smaller in diameter and unmyelinated, hence transmit neural information at a much slower rate. (Benson and Brown 2004). OHCs are therefore innervated only by a small minority of the afferent neurons which highlights the functional importance of the role of the IHCs and Type I neurons as the

predominate mechanism for neural transmission to the brain (Kiang et al., 1967; Sachs and Abbas, 1974; Sachs and Young, 1979; Young and Sachs, 1979; Young, 2008). Merchan-Perez and Liberman, 1996). See Figure 9.



Figure 9: Innervation patterns of the afferent and efferent neurons in the organ of Corti. Afferent innervation is provided by the SGNs which have central axons that form the AN. There are two types of afferent neurons, Type I neurons which receive synapses from the IHCs and Type II neurons which receive synapses from the OHCs. Efferent innervation is provided by a subgroup of neurons in the superior olivery complex that send axons to the OHCs.

Frequency is coded in the auditory nerve based on the position of ANFs along the cochlear spiral. At high intensities, each fibre responds over a large range of frequencies but at the intensity drops the response range narrows and is therefore most sensitive at its characteristic frequency (Evans, 1975). The characteristic frequency (CF) is the frequency at which the fibre has the lowest spike threshold. ANFs are spontaneously active and discharge at rates that vary from 0 to more than 120 spikes per second. Sound levels must therefore exceed the ANFs threshold before they discharge above their spontaneous rate. As the intensity of a single tone increases so does the rate of firing for the ANF at that CF, the firing rate is the highest at the start of the stimulus and then adapts over tens of milliseconds. When the sound intensity rises beyond the saturation point the ANFs are unable to fire any faster as they are refractory (Evans, 1975). ANFs differ in spontaneous discharge rate (SR) and threshold to stimuli; Liberman (1978) demonstrated that there are three classes of afferent fibers in the auditory nerve of the cat. The classes were discovered by obtaining spontaneous rates and tuning curves from a large population of fibers (100-150 ANFs) which showed ANFs are bimodal with low SR fibres (< 18 spikes per second) associated with high absolute thresholds and high SR fibres (> 18 spikes per second) associated with low absolute thresholds. Most ANFs have high spontaneous rates (70%) and saturate rapidly, in contrast those with low

spontaneous rates saturate more slowly. High spontaneous rate fibres code intensity changes at low levels, and the low spontaneous rate fibres code intensity changes at high levels (Evans 1975). The range over which the ANF changes its firing rate in response to changes in intensity of sounds is called the dynamic range. The dynamic range is narrow for high spontaneous rate fibres and wider for Medium and low SR ANFs. Previous animal studies suggest that the high-threshold, low-SR fibres are important for hearing in background noise as they have larger dynamic ranges and are not as affected by the presence of masking but they are more prone to damage following noise exposure and as a result of aging (Costalupes et al., 1984). Therefore, loss of low SR auditory fibres would be expected to show decreased ability to understand speech in noise (Schmiedt et al., 1996). There is a generalisation that has been assumed in literature that the different spontaneous classes found in the cat are also found in other mammals, however, there are some studies that show no evidence of these categories in other species, notably guinea pig (Manley and Robertson, 1976) and gerbil (Ohlemiller and Echteler, 1987) The differences between the results of those studies and Liberman (1978) may be due to differences in methodology, threshold algorithms, or an inadequate sample of fibers in one animal.



Figure 10: Illustrates the difference in APs between High SR ANFs and Low SR ANFs

The place code, reflects the mechanical filtering that occurs in the cochlea, the responses of the basilar membrane are sharply tuned and highly specific, the apical end of the basilar membrane responds best to low frequencies, whereas the basal end responds to high frequencies. Thus, every place along the basilar membrane has its CF, the frequency to which that place responds most strongly, this is known as tonotopic organisation, and it is maintained throughout the auditory pathways up to primary auditory cortex, thereby providing a potential neural code for the pitch of sounds (Ohm 1843, Helmholtz 1863). The temporal code depends on the rate with which ANFs generate APs at a certain phase within the period of the sound (Seebeck, 1843). At low frequencies the ANFs fire at preferred phases of the sound wave at each cycle, this is usually at the peak amplitude. At low frequencies the ANFs are phase locked to the stimulus waveform, (Rose et al. 1967) and the neurons are able to generate APs at almost every cycle, as shown in Figure 11a. By phase locking, the response pattern of the ANF accurately reflects the frequency code of the signal. Phase locking has been extensively researched in all vertebrate classes; squirrel monkey (Rose et al., 1967; Geisler et al., 1974) cat (Galambos and Davis. 1943; Rupert et al., 1963; Kiang et al., 1965; Pfeiffer and Molnar, 1970; Kim and Molnar. 1979; Evans, 1980; Johnson, 1980), chinchilla (Woolf et al., 1981; Oshima and Strelioff, 1983) guinea-pig (Tasaki, 1954; Harrison and Evans, 1979). birds (Sachs et al., 1974. 1980; Sullivan and Konishi, 1984) crocodile (Klinke and Pause, 1980; Smolders and Klinke. 1985) turtle (Crawford and Fettiplace. 1980) frog (Narins and Hillery, 1983) and fish (Fay, 1978). Phase locking in response to low frequencies can be observed in all ANfs irrespective of their CF; but is less effective at higher frequencies (> 4 kHz) as ANFs are unable to fire at each phase of the cycle, as they are limited by the refractory period and APs cannot be generated rapidly, At higher frequencies groups of ANFs respond to specific phases of the sound wave and when grouped provide a representation of the frequency, this is known as the volley principle (Wever and Bray, 1930; Evans, 1979) see figure 11b; suggesting the cochlea might possess different physiological transduction mechanisms for low and high frequencies, with a possible transition from temporal code to place code between 4-5kHz (Moore, 1993).



Figure 11: (A) Each of the eight ANFs are firing in phase with the incoming signal and demonstrate phase locking (at low frequency) where the inter-spike interval is sufficient for the ANFs to recover and be non-refractory allowing them to generate a subsequent AP at the next phase of the stimulus cycle. (B) At higher frequencies up to 4kHz, the volley principle is shown with each of the eight ANFs firing at random time intervals as the inter-spike interval is too short and a larger number of ANFs are refractory. The bottom trace in the figure shows the combined responses of all eight ANFs, which is sufficient to reproduce the frequency of the incoming signal.

Phase locking is essential in order to separate components of complex speech. Two tone suppression is a nonlinear mechanical process caused by the interactions between the vibrations in the cochlear. This is demonstrated when a second tone (suppressor) is introduced just above or below the CF of an ANF and results in at least a 20% reduction in the firing rate of the ANF (Pfeiffer and Suga, 1971) see figure 12. Suppression is important in the coding of speech as stronger components of the signal are likely to be supressed as a result of a reduction in the ANF firing rate due to the presence of less-intense components (Delgutte, 1990).



Figure 12: Suppression areas of an ANF. The continuous line shows the tuning curve of the ANF. When a second tone is added with a level and frequency within the shaded area the firing rate of the ANF is reduced.

2.3 Refractoriness

The refractory period of SGN starts when an action potential has been generated and is a momentary decrease in the SGN's discharge probability (Hodgkin and Huxley, 1952; Gray, 1967), which prevents it from spiking twice in rapid succession. The duration of the refractory period is approximately 1 ms (Gray, 1967). In CI users this period can be estimated based on eCAP measurements and lasts approximately 400 ms (Morsnowski et al., 2006). See chapter 4. The initial period following a spike forms the absolute refractory period, during which period the SGN is unresponsive and is unable to fire another action potential regardless of the intensity of the stimulus. The absolute refractory period is followed by the relative refractory period, during which period the SGN starts to regain its resting state responsiveness and the spike probability to a stimulus increases from 0 and returns to 1 at full recovery (Boulet et al., 2016). Within the relative refractory period the SGN is able to generate a spike but at an elevated threshold (see figure 13). The duration of the stimulus and the interval between the spikes can occur within the refractory period, thereby, preventing spikes to consecutive pulses which could also result in a shift in the phase alignment between pulses. Therefore, refractoriness is likely to play a significant role in temporal coding within SGNs as it can affect both synchronisation and entrainment of pulses.



Time (ms)

Figure 13: Recovery from inactivation is a time and voltage-dependent process. During the refractory period, sodium channel inactivation prevents an increase in sodium channel conductance, which results in the absolute refractory period during which period the SGN is unable to generate an action potential. During the relative refractory period sodium channels are deactivated and there is a large potassium conductance which produces an increased threshold for an action potential initiation.

2.4 Central auditory pathways

A complex chain of nerve cells helps to process and relay auditory information, encoded in the form of nerve impulses, directly to the highest cerebral levels in the auditory cortex. These dynamic processes enable perceptual acuity such as pitch recognition, melody recognition and being able to hear in noise. These perceptual tasks are complex and one critical aspect of the high temporal resolution of the auditory system is the rapid and accurate transmission of sound information throughout its many pathways and the ability to combine and integrate the auditory streams from both ears (Gage and Roberts, 2000; Gage et al., 2006). SNHL may results in changes in the central pathways that can change how sound is processed in the

cortex and effect auditory perception, speech discrimination and temporal mechanisms involved in audition such as integration, ordering and masking (Phillips, 2002).

The cochlear nerve enters the brain stem at the pontomedullary junction, where it bifurcates and terminates in the two major subdivisions of the cochlear nucleus, the dorsal and ventral cochlear nuclei. The neurons arising from the cochlear nucleus project to the superior olivary nuclei in the brainstem (Pickles, 1988). The superior olivary complex (SOC) receives binaural input and is concerned with sound localisation, based on interaural time and intensity differences. Neuronal fibres from the SOC ascend with fibres from the cochlear nucleus forming the pathway of the lateral lemniscus. Many neurons in the lateral lemniscus complex are specialised for extracting temporal patterns in complex sounds, which are transmitted to the inferior colliculus (Malmierca et al., 1998). The tonotopic mapping of the cochlea is strictly maintained in the cochlear nucleus, lateral lemniscus, and reticular formation and this finding supports the theory of a place code for sound frequency (Ehret and Romand, 1997; Popper and Fay, 1992; Webster et al., 1992). The inferior colliculus is the primary site for integrating inhibitory and excitatory inputs, which themselves have different temporal properties, and so interact to produce filters for temporal features of sound. The time constants of the filters suggest that they are relevant for the analysis of sound envelope, such as the estimation of the duration, the amplitude modulation rate, or the rate of frequency modulation (Covey and Casseday, 1999). Activity from the inferior colliculus ascends to the medial geniculate body of the thalamus, which continues the integration of the spatial, spectral, and temporal features that have been extracted separately and partially reintegrated within the nuclei of the lower levels of the auditory system, to refine the neural coding of specific sound which is then presented to the auditory cortex (Gruters and Groh, 2012), see figure 14. In parallel with ascending pathways are descending pathways that originate from regions in the Cortical and subcortical auditory system cortex to the periphery (Bajo and King, 2013; Usrey and Sherman, 2019). One important function of the descending pathway is to provide top down information and exhibits inhibitory functions that can affect many aspects of subcortical performance such as filtering (Diamond et al., 1992), sharpness of tuning (Villa et al., 1991), and response plasticity (Ma and Suga, 2001).



Figure 14: Schematic of the various central auditory nuclei and the ascending pathways

2.5 The likely limitations imposed by impairments in the auditory pathway

SGCs are the first order target neurons for CIs that are responsible for transmitting electrical stimuli to the central nervous system (Kalkman et al., 2014). Studies using animal models have shown that IHC loss induces retrograde neural degeneration which results in a substantial reduction in the activity of SGNs (Liberman and Kiang, 1978; Hartmann and Klinke, 1984; Hinojosa et al., 1983; Shepherd and Javel; 1997). It has been suggested that this degeneration is a gradual process which initially involves the loss of the peripheral process, followed by a significant reduction in soma area and partial demyelination; ultimately resulting in cell death (Terayama et al., 1977; Spoendlin, 1984; Leake and Hradek, 1988; Spoendlin and Schrott, 1989; Shepherd and Javel, 1997; Hardie and Shepherd, 1999). The preservation of SGCs has been shown to be negatively correlated with the duration of deafness (Nadol et al., 2006), therefore, it is reasonable to assume that the volume of SGCs will strongly influence the level of speech perception achieved by CI users. Subjects with shorter durations of deafness are likely to have better neural survival compared to those with longer durations of deafness, resulting in better speech performance. Differences in neural survival patterns at the periphery could elucidate the large individual variability in speech performance reported in adult CI users.

A number of post mortem examinations of temporal bones of post-lingually deaf adults have shown varied histological results and it has not been possible to reveal a consistent relationship between the degree of SGC survival and speech performance in CI users. Some studies have concluded that there is no relationship between the SGC population and speech perception scores (Khan et al., 2005; Blamey et al., 1997; Xu et al., 2012; Seyyedi et al., 2014). In contrast Fayad et al (2006) demonstrated a statistically significant negative correlation between total SGC count and word recognition scores in histologic examination of 14 implanted temporal bones. There was an inverse relationship between SGC count and performance suggesting that central and cognitive factors are likely to contribute to the variability seen in CI users. Nadol et al., (1989) reported that subjects with different aetiologies had varying SGC counts, in the ninety-three temporal bones they examined, they found subjects with sudden idiopathic deafness had the highest residual SGC count and subjects with deafness due to pre-lingual or genetic causes had the lowest residual SGC count, with the diagnostic group accounting for 57% of the variability in SGC count. Similarly, Xu et al., (2012) showed there was great variability in the residual SGC count of the 4 temporal bones they examined. They found surviving dendrites varied from 5% to 30% and there was no correlation to speech performance. The speech recognition scores varied from 4% to 89% and the cases with the highest number of SGCs had better speech scores. However, as this study only examined four cases it is considerably weaker when compared to the findings of Nadol et al., (1989).

Possible reasons for the variability in the results of these studies is that when comparing SGC count and word recognition scores, subjects were not always matched for confounding factors such as duration of deafness, age at implantation, deafness onset and cognitive ability. Additionally, in some studies with unilaterally implanted subject's researchers compared the SGC count in the implanted ear with the contralateral ear and assumed both ears would have had the same number of SGCs prior to implantation (Khan et al., 2005; Fayad et al., 2006). It is possible that the large across subject variability seen in SGC count (Hinojosa and Marion, 1983), may also be present between ears in the same subject, therefore these comparisons may have weakened the statistical power in these studies.

Seyyedi et al., (2011) compared the temporal bones of 21 bilaterally implanted subjects and reported that one ear could be used as a control ear for each subject and demonstrated that the number of surviving SGCs was similar between the ears when both ears were deafened by the same deafness onset and had the same level of hearing loss. A later study by the same

author (Seyyedi et al., 2014) examined the relationship between SGC count and word recognition by comparing the temporal bones of six bilaterally implanted subjects. The results showed that there was a significant positive correlation between the differences of word recognition scores and SGC counts between the ears of each patient. Interestingly, the four ears with the largest number of residual SGCs did not have the highest word recognition scores and there was still great variability in SGC count between three subjects in their series, as shown in Table 1.

Subject	SGC count right	Word	SGC count Left	Word
	ear	Recognition	ear	Recognition
		Score		Score
1	2326	5	5916	25
2	2326	28	2611	30
3	11635	66	12546	66
4	16000	56	16401	60
5	10064	86	8364	80
6	7548	57	8500	58

Table1: The word recognition scores based on SGC count in 6 bilaterally implanted subjects.Reproduced from Seyyedi et al., 2014

Collectively, these results suggest that the residual SGC count following hearing loss cannot solely explain the differences in speech perception scores and long durations of deafness do not necessarily result in significant neural degeneration. None of these studies have calculated the minimum number of SGCs that would be required for satisfactory speech perception in CI users. Temporal bone studies of NH subjects have documented the SGC count to be in the range of 23,193 to 39,114 (Guild, 1932); a later study by Otte et al (1978) reported the range as 19,000 to 38,000 SGCs. In CI users Hinojosa and Marion (1983) reported SGC counts ranging from 0 to 25,873. In a limited case series, Linthicum et al (2009) reported that two out of four subjects in their study with fewer than 3,000 SGCs were still able to achieve relatively good word recognition scores. Therefore, it is likely that the central auditory system, contributes significantly to how successful a recipient is with processing the signal provided by a CI. It is possible that input from a fewer number of SGCs is adequate in subjects with better central processing, which might explain why some of the subjects in these studies were able to achieve relatively good speech performance despite having a lower volume of SGCs.

The relationship between the number of surviving SGCs and speech performance is not clear in CI users, however, some of these studies have shown that the cochlear pathology and neural survival patterns are also highly variable along the length of the cochlea (Hinojosa and Marion 1983; Khan et al., 2005; Fayad et al., 2009). This suggests that individual CI users will have differing neural survival patterns at each electrode location, which leads to variation in the function of each electrode-neural interface (see section 3.12). It is likely that individuals with longer durations of deafness will have a fewer number of well-functioning channels across electrodes due to the sparser neural survival. Poor functioning electrode-neural interfaces are likely to result in reduced temporal acuity for CI users. In the subsequent chapter we discuss how channel interactions may contribute to errors in speech perception in CI users and describe how temporal coding with a CI differs from acoustic hearing, and how these factors are likely to impede temporal transmission in CI users. As maturation of the neural peripheral and central auditory pathways is dependent on auditory stimulation, auditory deprivation is likely to compromise both pathways and therefore limit the benefit that can be achieved with a CI. In comparison, these pathways are already formed in post-lingually deafened CI users, who have an auditory memory, and considering SGCs are the main responders to electrical stimulation, robust pre-existing pathways are likely to result in better outcomes with CIs.

Chapter 3: Electric Hearing in the Auditory System

This chapter describes the components of a CI system, the mechanisms of operation and the psychophysics. A description of the different facets of signal processing and the perceptual effects of these parameters are provided.

3.1 Cochlear implant

Severe-profound SNHL often results in substantial loss, damage and dysfunction of hair cells and can also lead to degeneration of the peripheral portion of the auditory neurons, reducing the volume of SGNs; in such cases some degree of hearing can be restored with a CI (Merchant and Nadol, 2010). A CI bypasses the deficient transducer structures and directly stimulates the SGNs via electrical current which generates an action potential in lieu of the neural transmitter that would have been released by normal functioning IHCs. CIs consist of three parts: an external sound processor, a subcutaneous receiver, and an intra-cochlear electrode array (see figure 15). Most CI systems use electrode arrays that are surgically inserted into the scala tympani and extend one to one and half turns from the base to the apex. Commercially available CI electrodes consist of 12-22 electrode contacts. An implant channel comprises one active electrode along the cochlear array and one reference electrode, which may be inside or outside the cochlea. The stimulation mode determines the current flow between an active and a reference electrode. The most commonly used stimulation mode in cochlear implant systems from all manufacturers is monopolar mode, where current flows between an intra-cochlear (active) electrode and an extra-cochlear (reference) electrode. The active electrode typically delivers a train of biphasic pulses. Most of the current flows along the fluid-filled scala tympani, but some also flows into the less conductive osseous spiral lamina adjacent to it. Within this bone lie the SGNs, whose axons form the auditory nerve (Bierer, 2010), see figure 16. The proximity of the electrodes to the different subpopulations of SGNs, global neural survival and fibrosis around the electrode array are likely to affect how well the neural elements of the auditory nerve are innervated. One of the main aims of a CI is to replicate the coding of speech that occurs in the normal functioning auditory system however; this is a challenging task as speech is a complex signal that is coded into patterns of neural discharge in approximately 20,000 ANFs (Pickles 1983) and a CI is limited by the number of spatial contacts, which cannot fully replicate the robustness of the peripheral auditory system. Thus, spectral coding in the cochlea is restricted however, temporal coding of frequency can be reproduced by electrical stimulation of the ANFs.



Figure 15: Components of a CI system. The speech processor captures, digitises and encodes sound. The speech processor transmits the encoded sound through the coil to the implant just under the skin. The implant transmits the encoded sound along the electrode array which is positioned in the cochlea. The electrodes stimulate the ANFs, which relay the signals to the brain to produce hearing sensations.



Figure 16: Cross section of the cochlea showing an electrode array inserted in the scala tympani. The electrode contacts stimulate peripheral axons of the SGNs, whose central axons send neural impulses to the brain. The electrode array is designed to stimulate groups of nerve fibres in the same tonotopic manner as the BM.

3.2 The sound processor

The speech processor uses a microphone to detect sounds and splits these into channels by band pass filtering. The signal is then compressed and sent to the transmitter coil where the receiver converts them into electrical signals which are processed using pre-defined coding strategy. The electrical current is delivered to individual electrodes (see figure 15). Stimulation of basal electrodes represents high frequency sounds and more apically located electrodes represent lower frequency sounds in line with the tonotopic arrangement of the basilar membrane (Niparko et al., 2000).

There are three main stages of processing the sound signals, the spectral pattern representation by band-pass filtering, the coding of sound signals by the band envelope and amplitude compression to map the large acoustic dynamic range (100-120dB in NH listeners) to the narrow electrical dynamic range of 15dB in CI users (Nelson et al., 1995).

3.3 Spectral representation

The frequency coding in CIs is achieved by distribution of electrical energy at multiple electrodes which provides a spectral code (Burian et al., 1979) and temporal code is attained when the amplitude of the pulse trains on each electrode are modulated by the amplitude envelope of the acoustic signal (Rosen 1992). Each electrode carries information in a frequency range that, in NH, would be transduced by hair cells and ANFs at a place of the basilar membrane in the vicinity of the electrode (Bierer, 2010). The clinical map sets out the tonotopic arrangement in the CI and assigns a frequency band to each channel. The electrodes that form the channel affect how the electrical current delivered by that channel activates the ANFs (Bierer, 2010). Most CI users appear to reach optimum performance with six to eight channels, and there do not appear to be any significant advantages of having all channels active for speech perception measured in quiet and background noise (Dorman and Loizou, 1997; Fishman et al., 1997; Dorman and Loizou, 1998; Loizou et al., 1999 and Friesen et al., 2001).

3.4 Place code

The place code in a CI is crude due to the small number of electrodes; excitation of discrete SGNs is inadequate due to the spread of electrical current which stimulates a broader number of SGNs and reduces the fine frequency discrimination abilities of a CI user (Clarke, 2013), due to cross-channel interaction (Throckmorton and Collins, 2002). Differences in channel interaction patterns may help to explain variations in CI user performance but the evidence base for this is limited (this is discussed in more detail in the temporal coding section).

Envelope and temporal fine structure are known to be two important acoustic cues, especially for speech intelligibility and are represented in the timing of neural firing (Chen & Zhang 2008). Envelope refers to the relatively slow rate fluctuations in the overall amplitude of speech over time, while temporal fine structure is defined as the rapid oscillations with which the signal crosses zero (Rosen 1992; Moore 2008). Temporal fine structure processing is reflected in the synchronised firing patterns (phase locking) of ANs to a specific phase of the carrier (Zeng, 2002; Moore et al. 2012). Temporal fine structure processing is known to play an important role in pitch perception, which is important for speech perception (McDermott& Oxenham 2008; Moore 2008). Current CI processing mainly conveys mainly envelope information for a number of different frequency bands and temporal fine structure cues are largely discarded (Qin and Oxenham 2003; Nie, Barco and Zeng 2006). Therefore, the lack of TFS cues in conventional CI encoding strategies reduces temporal pitch cues and may contribute to poor speech understanding. Low frequencies can be coded by the periodicity in the signal applied to an electrode but due to the limited number of channels spectral resolution is reduced and pitch perception is poor. Coding of the periodicity of complex sounds in CIs depends almost entirely on a temporal code and does not extend above about 300 Hz (Moore, 2003). Buchman et al., (2014) reported that deeper electrode insertion angles provide greater cochlear coverage in the apical regions, thus better tonotopic place representation which results in better speech perception in CI users, discussed in further detail in (see temporal coding section).



Figure 17: Illustration of electrical stimulation of SGNs by a CI. A) The different electrodes stimulate subpopulations of SGNs (highlighted in blue, green, yellow and red). Due to current spreading in the cochlea, such that a single SGN is subjected to a weighted sum of the currents delivered by the nearby electrodes, this is shown in B) which shows pulse trains delivered by electrodes 1-8 for a speech segment, encoded at a rate of 900 pulses per seconds on each electrode. C) The current spread profile is shown in red that smears the contributions of all 8 electrodes, in this example when the SGN is located between electrodes 4 and 5. From Boulet et al,. (2016) Reproduced with permission, copyright Springer Nature

3.5 Amplitude compression

Acoustic information carried in speech is complex and varies over time in spectral content and intensity (Oxenham and Bacon 2004). Under acoustic stimulation, SGNs have a greater dynamic range, a more variable firing rate, and undergo weaker phase locking (Boulet et al, 2016). In contrast CI users have a narrow dynamic range as electrical stimulation by passes the chemical synapse between the IHCs and SGCs, hence presenting the information in acoustic signals onto electrodes remains a challenge and an amplitude gain compressor (AGC) is used to compress signals into the narrow dynamic range of electrically evoked hearing. A measurable auditory percept (MAP) is a set of processing parameters unique to an individual CI user, which includes the minimal permissible current level (T level) for each electrode to elicit a soft sound percept, and the maximum permissible current level (C level) to elicit a comfortable loudness percept. The range of acoustic input levels that are mapped onto the CI user's electrical dynamic range, during front end processing are referred to as the input dynamic range. The Nucleus devices used in the present study implement a fixed 40dB input dynamic range, which is determined by the range of input signals between the C-SPL and T-SPL see figure 18, that would be stimulated within the electrical dynamic range

(between C-level and T-level). In the present study the standard fixed input dynamic range was used.



Figure 18: Dynamic range requirements in cochlear implant users.

Nelson et al., (1995) have shown that the main limitation to amplitude coding in CI user's is their ability to discriminate the number of amplitude steps. CI users who performed well could discriminate 40-50 amplitude steps, the Nucleus devices used in this study implement 256 steps which suggests that a large number of discriminable current steps being available within the electrical dynamic range is unlikely to impact performance. It is likely that the input dynamic range therefore plays a key role in how spectro-temporal information is mapped into electrical hearing. A narrow input dynamic range may compromise a CI user's ability to detect soft speech because less of the acoustic signal is being mapped into the CI user's electrical dynamic range (Holden et al, 2011). This is supported by the findings of Dawson et al (2007) who showed that when the input dynamic range was progressively increased from 31dB to 56dB, CI users demonstrated improved word recognition at low presentation levels in quiet.

3.6 Speech coding strategies

Speech processing strategies for CIs determine the excitation patterns within the cochlea and subsequently have a strong influence on speech perception. The main aim of filter bank based speech processing strategies is to provide the vital cues of speech waveform for speech understanding. All subjects in this study were recipients of Nucleus CI512 and CI532 devices and used the Advanced Combinational Encoder (ACE) sound coding strategy. Therefore, we focus here on the specific coding strategies employed in this device, noting there are some differences with other manufacturers' devices which are not covered here. The acoustic signal

received by the Nucleus CP910 sound processor used in this study can be split into a maximum of 22 frequency channels which match the number of active intracochlear electrodes. ACE is an n-of-m (channel selection/peak clipping) envelope extraction strategy which separates speech signals into sub-bands (M) and derive envelope information from each band signal. N bands with the largest amplitude are then selected for stimulation (N out of M) in each time window (see channel selection section). It is designed to increase temporal resolution by reducing the density of electrical stimulation thus concentrating on the most important spectral components of the speech signal (Wilson and Dorman, 2008). The signal processing framework of the ACE strategy is shown in Figure 19 and a description of the stages in signal processing are described below.



Figure 19: Block diagram of main stages of CI speech processing

3.7 Front end processing

At the input stage or front end processing the acoustic signal detected by the microphone is converted to a digital signal, frequency shaping and level adjustments are completed at this stage. The front-end block typically involves a pre-emphasis filter, a sensitivity control and an AGC system. During the signal transformation high frequencies are removed beyond 8kHz due to an anti-aliasing filter within the CP910 speech processor which is required prior to analog-to-digital conversion. The pre-emphasis filter plays a key role in emphasising the high frequency components within the signal in order to increase the audibility of high frequency spectral content. The limited dynamic range and reduction in amplitude coding in CI users which subsequently requires implementation of AGC has been discussed above (see amplitude compression section).

3.8 Filter bank and envelope sampling

At the next stage of signal processing the digital signal is sent through a filter bank. The Nucleus filter bank implements a fast fourier transform (FFT) for the frequency analysis of the signal. The filter bank splits the signal into frequency bands so that each frequency band is allocated to one stimulation channel. The FFT is performed on windowed input blocks of 128 samples (8 ms at 16 kHz) of the signal. A Hann window is applied and gives each bin a 6 dB bandwidth of 250 Hz. Each analysis frame is overlapped with the previous frame to make the analysis rate or the envelope sample rate close to the stimulation rate. For a fixed 128 point FFT analysis, there are 64 bins for real components with frequencies spaced linearly at multiples of 125 Hz, but this exceeds the number of channels in the Nucleus implant (maximum of 22) so the channel envelope is calculated by combining the sum of powers which provides a set of frequency bands. The bands are spaced linearly below 1 kHz and logarithmically spaced above 1 kHz. For the bands below 1 kHz, each band is assigned to one FFT bin. Bin 0 and 1 are discarded and the assignment starts from bin 2. For frequency bands above 1 kHz, two or more consecutive FFT bins are combined to produce wider bands. The default frequency range in the Nucleus implant is 187 – 7937 Hz. The frequency allocation for a 22 channel filter bank is shown in Figure 20.



Figure 20: 22 channel FFT filter bank used with ACE and resulting frequency response. From Laneau et al., (2006). Reproduced with permission, copyright Acoustic Society of America.

3.9 Channel selection and mapping

The channel selection method for the ACE strategy is called maxima selection, which scans the amplitudes of the channel envelopes and selects the channels with the highest amplitudes, stimulus pulses are delivered only to the electrodes that correspond to the channels with those highest amplitudes. For each frame of the audio signal, N electrodes are stimulated sequentially and one cycle of stimulation is completed. The number of cycles per second therefore determines the rate of stimulation on a single channel, also known as channel stimulation rate, which represents the temporal resolution of the implant (Nogueira et al., 2005). The standard ACE strategy uses the length of the processed segment 128 samples and overlap 32 samples. Therefore, if the channel stimulation rate is increased this leads to a corresponding increase in the overlap between the FFT analyses, hence frequency components that occur within the same channel are unlikely to be resolved accurately. The total number of electrodes (M) represents the frequency resolution, only a sub set of electrodes (N), out of (M) electrodes, with the largest amplitude are selected in each cycle. There is therefore a trade-off between the spectral and temporal representation of the signal. If N is decreased there is a loss of spectral content however, as channel stimulation rate can be increased there is a better temporal representation of the signal. Equally if the channel stimulation rate is decreased, N can be increased giving a better spectral representation of the signal. The number of maxima is a clinical parameter and can be different between CI users. In the present study the default maxima of 8 was used for all subjects. In the final stage of signal processing envelope fluctuations are coded to the corresponding electrode channel. See section 3.5 on amplitude compression.

3.10 Temporal structure of speech: Coding and relevance to perception

The temporal structure of speech provides important linguistic contrasts which are crucial for speech perception. Rosen (1992), developed a framework for describing the acoustic structure of speech based purely on temporal features. The temporal structure of speech is classified into three categories of speech cues based on dominant temporal fluctuation rates, they are envelope, periodicity, and fine structure cues (Van Tasell et al., 1987, Rosen, 1992). In the framework postulated by Rosen (1992) the envelope cues contain modulation frequencies from 2 to 50 Hz, representing acoustic aspects of phonetic segments combined with stress and voicing information (Mermelstien, 1975; Howell and Rosen, 1983; Delgutte and Kiang, 1987; Doman et al., 2008 and Miller, 2008). The temporal envelope represents the timing of events in the speech stream, and provides the temporal framework in which the fine structure of linguistic content is delivered (Dullman et al., 1994). Periodicity cues exist from 50 to 500 Hz and convey information about voicing and intonation. Periodicities of higher frequencies, from 0.6 to 10 kHz, comprise the fine structure of the speech signal and convey information related to aspects of consonant place and vowel identity. These temporal features are discussed below and the framework formulated by Rosen (1992), is shown in figure 21 which summarises the importance and relationships between each feature.

The temporal envelope:

Conveys four main types of linguistic information:

1. Segmental cues that assist with identifying the place of articulation such as voiceless fricatives (Dorman et al., 1980) based on rise and fall time of the fricative based on rise and fall time as well as duration, for example short release transients are indicative of plosive sounds. Rapid changes in overall amplitude distinguish consonants from non-consonants (Stevens, 1980,1981; Stevens and Blumstein, 1981), or continuants from non-continuants (Shinn and Blumstein, 1984).

2. Segmental cues for voicing, vowels typically have a greater amplitude than voiceless obstruents. It is thought that the existence and duration of the silent gap is important for distinguishing voiced from unvoiced plosives (Umeda, 1975).

3. Segmental cues that allow vowel identity based on the duration and quality change in the vowel sound, for example the vowel in "heed" is of significantly longer in duration than that in "hid" (Lehiste, 1970).

4. Prosodic cues that assist with syllabification. Dynamic envelope cues and relative amplitude provide some information on where stress is assigned in words, providing distinctions in meaning (Crystal, 1969). Information on speech rate can assist listeners distinguishing between segmental and prosodic contrasts (Miller, 1981).

Periodicity:

Includes the properties of speech which are periodic (sounds fluctuating at rates between 50-500Hz) and aperiodic (sounds fluctuating at rates between 2Hz up to 5-10kHz). As both sounds differ greatly in rate of fluctuation, the acoustic contrast of periodicity versus aperiodicity is reflected in the time domain as regularity versus irregularity of the speech signal, and in the frequency domain as the distinction between the harmonic and continuous spectrum (Rosen, 1992). Periodicity information conveys two main types of linguistic information:

1. Segmental information about voicing manner, the presence of low frequency quasi-periodic acoustic energy in a speech signal reflects the vibrations of the vocal folds (for example, the /m/ of mate). These voiced sounds provide the most important cue to the phonological feature in voicing and the most basic distinction between manner and voice features obtained from phonetic voicing patterns. Speech segments that are aperiodic are a result of noise generated by aerodynamic flow between closely spaced articulators, and provide a strong cue for voicelessness, or the fricative manner of articulation (Rosen, 1992).

2. Prosodic information associated with intonation and stress, the fundamental frequency of quasi-periodic energy in speech reflects the rate of vocal fold vibration and provides the perception of voice pitch. Linguistically meaningful patterns of voice pitch are known as intonation and tone, both play a crucial role in accenting syllables in words and sentences, in clarifying pronoun references and in marking syntactic units, and separating questions from statements (Fry, 1986; Rosen and Fourcin, 1986; Lehiste, 1970 and Rosen, 1992).

Temporal fine structure:

Rosen (1992), refers to variations of wave shape within single periods of periodic sounds, or over short time intervals of aperiodic ones as fine structure information, which informs about the spectrum of sound (amplitude and phase) and contain the formant patterns. Fine structure relates to timbre and quality of speech which conveys two types of segmental linguistic information:

1. Segmental cues to place of articulation and vowel quality, this is considered the most important function of fine structure as spectral shape variations are the only acoustic cues to place. Voiceless fricatives in English can be distinguished from one another on the basis of static spectral shape or the formant transitions in the following vowel, with the importance of each cue strongly dependent on the particular place of articulation (Harris, 1956). Spectral shape is the major cue to vowel identity.

2. Segmental cues to voicing and manner, voiced sounds have a spectrum that is heavily weighted below 1kHz, hence tend to have low fluctuation rates, whereas voiceless sounds have peak energies at considerably higher frequencies, thus higher fluctuation rates. Studies have shown that first formant transitions play some role in distinguishing English voiced from voiceless plosives in initial prevocalic position (Soli, 1983; Stevens and Klatt, 1974). The shape of the spectrum can also signal cues to manner, for example, nasals, are characterised by low first formant frequency, broad resonances, and zeros in the spectrum (Fujimura, 1962). Additionally, sudden spectral changes that occur in conjunction with sudden envelope changes can assist with distinguishing consonant sounds from non-consonant sounds (Stevens, 1980, 1981)



Figure 21: The temporal features of speech in linguistic contrasts. The size of the stars indicates the extent to which a particular feature operates in a linguistic contrast, with a blank space indicating very weak or non-existent cues. Periodic cues, which occur across a number of segments, are cued by slow rate categories. From Rosen (1992). Reproduced with permission, copyright The Royal Society (U.K).

Studies have shown that spectral cues alone are insufficient for robust speech decoding (McDermott, 2009; Moore & Gockel, 2002) and emphasise the central role of temporal cues in in providing a contact within which the spectral content is processed. Several psychophysical studies have demonstrated that speech becomes less intelligible when the temporal structure of speech is modified and presented at unnaturally slow or fast rates, even when the fine structure is preserved (Ahissar et al., 2001; Ghitza & Greenberg, 2009) or if its temporal envelope is smeared (Arai & Greenberg, 1998; Drullman, 2006; Drullman, Festen, & Plomp, 1994a, 1994b; Greenberg, Arai, & Silipo, 1998; Stone, Fullgrabe, & Moore, 2010). These findings show the critical importance of the temporal structure of speech for its intelligibility. In contrast previous studies have investigated the minimal information required to comprehend speech in NH listeners in conditions of reduced spectral information and demonstrated that a high level of speech recognition is maintained even when all spectral cues in speech were removed as long as the temporal envelope is preserved (Drullman et al., 1994; Shannon et al., 1995). Shannon et al., (1995) presented envelope information that was low-pass filtered at successively lower frequencies and used to modulate bands of noise as a carrier. Listeners were able to decode continuous speech with remarkable accuracy, and no change in performance was observed when the low pass filter cut off was 50Hz or higher.

Removing envelope fluctuations above 50 Hz had no effect on recognition, while removing envelope fluctuations between 20 and 50 Hz resulted in reduced phoneme discrimination and reduced speech recognition. Therefore, speech recognition is possible with only three spectrally adjacent bands of noise, even when each band is modulated by the low frequency envelope information below 50 Hz. Drullman et al., (1994) measured speech recognition in NH listeners when slow or fast envelope modulations were removed from the speech signal. The speech recognition score remained the same when the envelope fluctuations below 16 Hz were preserved. Reductions in envelope frequencies below 16 Hz resulted in a significant decrement for consonant recognition. This work indicates that while spectral information is of course important in decoding speech, it is not vital and the temporal envelope carries more relevant information for speech recognition.

3.11 Temporal coding in cochlear implants

CI users have limited spectral resolution therefore the reliance on temporal information is heightened. Two areas relevant to temporal coding in CI devices that have received attention in the literature are pulsatile stimulation rate and modulation depth perception. In CIs current is delivered to the electrodes in the form of amplitude modulated trains of biphasic pulses. The modulation waveforms are generated proportional to the temporal envelopes of band-pass filtered components of the acoustic signal. Therefore, the extent to which CI recipients are able to efficiently process temporal envelope information is likely to influence their overall benefit with a CI. Although speech coding strategies such as ACE extract the temporal envelope of speech. CI users are restricted by the temporal response of a fixed FFT and sampling rate. The Nucleus 512 and 532 devices implement an audio sampling rate of 16 kHz and a fixed FFT length of 128 points (see FFT section above) and completes 125 analyses per second (1600/128). The temporal response of the filter is similar to a low-pass filter with a cut off at 125 Hz, which would suggest the envelope bandwidth is effectively limited to 125 Hz and minimal information is available in the envelope above 125Hz. To increase the temporal information there would need to be an increasing overlap between each FFT analysis with the previous frame so that the number of overlapping analyses is equal or close to the stimulation rate. The Nucleus 6 processor used in the present study can employ a range of stimulation rates from 250 pulses per second per channel (pps/ch) up to 3500 pps/ch. As the stimulation rate is increased there is less overlap between the data points with each analysis, this suggests that unless filter bank parameter such as the sampling rate (are shortened) or FFT length (is decreased) is co-varied with higher stimulation rates there is likely to be minimal benefit in temporal detail for the envelope.

Limitations in filterbank technology may explain why studies using Nucleus devices and the ACE strategy show variable benefits of increased pulsatile stimulation rates (Vandali et al, 2000; Holden et al, 2002; Weber et al, 2007; Plant et al, 2007; Arora et al., 2009). Vandali et al., (2000) investigated the effect of varying stimulation rate from 250, 807, and 1,615 pps/ch on speech comprehension of five listeners using the Nucleus 24 cochlear implant. Open-set monosyllabic words in quiet and open-set sentences at different signal-to-noise ratios were used. The study showed no significant difference in speech recognition between 250 and 807 pps/ch and significantly poorer performance in noise was obtained for the 1,615 pps/ch rate, although this is largely attributed to the result of one subject in the study. A questionnaire completed by subjects in the study also showed a preference for lower rates of stimulation compared to the 1615 pps/ch rate.

However, Holden et al., (2002) compared stimulation rates of 720 pps/ch and 1800 pps/ch in eight adult subjects using Nucleus 24 implants with the ACE strategy and found that two subjects obtained better performance with 1800 pps/ch compared to 720 pps/ch, at lower intensity levels (50dB SPL). Testing in noise showed significantly higher scores with the 720 pps/ch rate for two subjects, whereas one subject performed better with the 1800 pps/ch, and similar to Vandali et al., (2000) the preference for stimulation rate also varied. Both the studies by Vandali et al (2000) and Holden et al (2002) are unlikely to have been able to demonstrate the effects of higher stimulation rates due to the limited analysis rate of 760 Hz employed in the SPRINT processor used in those studies. Due to the small sample size in both studies neither are able to demonstrate a robust relationship between stimulation rate and speech performance.

Likewise, Plant et al (2007) compared high and low rate stimulation rates in fifteen subjects and also varied the maxima. No significant differences were observed in speech recognition between stimulation rates but five subjects showed individual benefits and obtained significantly better scores with higher rates (2400 pps/ch and 10 maxima, or 3500 pps/ch and 9 maxima) compared to lower rates (1200 pps/ch and 10 maxima, or 1200 pps/ch and 12 maxima) for speech tests conducted in either quiet or noise. Two subjects obtained significant benefit in both quiet and noise with the higher set of rates. However, four subjects in the study remained on the lower rate program for an additional three-twelve weeks which resulted in significant learning and three of these subjects reported preferring the lower rate program. Similarly, Weber et al (2007), did not demonstrate a significant difference between stimulation rates of 500, 1200, and 3500 pps/ch using the ACE strategy and speech perception scores in quiet and noise. Although, some variability in individual scores was observed for sentences in noise with six of the fourteen subjects obtaining benefit with the higher rate programme. Arora et al., (2009) investigated low to moderate stimulation rates of 275, 350, 500, and 900 pps/ch and compared speech perception performance for eight subjects with the Nucleus CI24 CI using the ESPrit 3G processor. The majority of subjects showed a preference for 500 pps/ch and achieved better performance on speech perception in noise with rates of 500 or 900 pps/ch but no significant effect of rate was found for monosyllabic word tests. Collectively these studies show the benefit of higher stimulation rates are not conclusive although one reason for individual variations could be attributed to the effects of channel interaction (see channel interaction, which is greater at higher stimulation rates (Brill et al., 1997).

Other studies have evaluated stimulation rate in Med-el CI devices using the continuous interleaved sampling (CIS) speech coding strategy and have shown benefits for moderate and high stimulation rates (Loizou et al, 2000; Verschuur, 2005; Nie et al, 2006). Verschuur (2005) evaluated speech perception performance across various rates of stimulation (ranging from 400-2020 pps/ch) for six users of the Med-El Ineraid and Combi 40 + Cl. Subject performance displayed no effects of stimulation rate for sentence testing, consonant recognition and categorical identification of acoustic speech cues. However, two subjects showed significantly reduced sentence scores at lower rates, which would suggest that sentence testing is more sensitive to rate changes and higher stimulation rates may be advantageous for certain individuals.

In contrast, Loizou et al., (2000) found a significant effect of rate on speech performance of six Med-el CI users on a number of speech materials. Speech scores were obtained at stimulation rates of 400, 800, 1400, and 2100 pps/ch and results showed that higher stimulation rates between 800-2100 pps/ch produced a significantly higher performance on word and consonant recognition than lower stimulation rates lower than 800 pps/ch. The VCV consonant test with the aCa context showed less sensitivity to changes in rate in comparison to when used in the iCi or uCu context. The authors suggested that this may be due to the formant transition being more critical in the aCa context as a signal to place of articulation. However, it is likely that the place of articulation is dependent on spectral resolution so higher rates would enable better coding of the onset frequency of the formant transition and would have therefore been expected to have a larger impact on place of discrimination.

Nie et al., (2006) varied the stimulation rate from 1000 to 4000 pps/ch on four pairs of fixed electrodes in five users of the Med-El COMBI 40+ and reported a significant advantage of higher stimulation rates for consonant recognition and sentence scores in noise. These results add weight to the findings of Shannon et al., (1995) and support the argument that temporal cues from limited spectral bands are adequate for speech perception in quiet, however, speech recognition in noise is more dependent on spectral resolution (Dorman et al, 1999; Qin and Oxenham, 2003).

The effect of stimulation rate on speech perception does not show a clear trend and comparisons are complicated by the use of different CI systems. Differences in results between studies may be caused by factors such as stimulation mode, number of electrodes used, stimulus intensity, the speech coding strategy used, speech material used, amount of practice with a given stimulation rate and prior experience with a CI. Studies which found a significant effect of rate on speech recognition used with higher rates (Loizou et al., 2000), 2100 pps/ch), in comparison to most of the studies with the Nucleus devices which have used lower rates (Fu and Shannon, 2000; Vandali et al., 2000; Holden et al., 2002; Arora et al., 2009). It is possible that some of these studies did not use a high enough stimulation rate to cause desynchronisation of the SGNs and are therefore not close enough to the subject's stochastic rate which prevents any benefit in speech performance.

3.12 Channel interaction

The Nucleus Ltd implants have 22 intra-cochlear electrode sites and each electrode conveys information for a specific frequency range (Henry et al., 2000; Nelson et al., 2011). Typically, electrodes are positioned in relatively close proximity to adjacent electrodes, hence the electrical current fields are not distinct and broader stimulation can cause increased channel interaction, which is defined as any effect that the stimulation of one electrode channel has on the activation of a spatially separated channel (Cohen et al., 2003). It has been suggested that higher levels of channel interaction lead to spectral blurring of the speech signal which leads to degraded speech perception in CI users (Friesen et al., 2001; Stickney et al., 2006; Jones et al., 2013). Earlier studies of channel interaction have shown that speech outcomes do not improve when the number of channels increase above 10 (Dorman and Loizou 1997; Hanekom and Shannon 1998; Friesen et al., 2001; Fu and Nogaki, 2005; Fishman et al., 1997; Shannon et al., 2011), suggesting that channel interaction makes neighbouring electrodes less distinguishable and therefore limits speech perception.

Friesen et al., (2001), varied the number of channels for NH subjects (listening to acoustic vocoder simulations of CIs) and post-lingually deafened CI subjects to determine the number of effective channels that could be accessed by CI users. For NH subjects, average sentence recognition scores of 100% were reached with 6-8 channels in quiet, and 8-10 channels in noise (+10 dB signal-to-noise ratio). CI users were able to obtain an average score of 80% correct in quiet and 60% in noise for eight channels or greater. These findings suggest that increasing the number of available electrodes past eight does not increase performance as CI users cannot access more than eight effective channels even when a higher number of electrode sites are available (16-22 electrodes in the devices included in their study). These results are consistent with other studies that speech recognition does not improve beyond 8-10 spectral channels for CI users (Fishman et al., 1997; Friesen et al., 2005; Shannon et al., 2011). However, more recent studies have demonstrated that with newer pre-curved electrode arrays, speech perception increased when the number of channels were increased beyond 12 (Croghan et al., 2017; Berg et al., 2019a). In contrast, Berg et al., (2019b) demonstrated there was no significant benefit in speech performance when the number of channels was increased beyond 8-10 in CI users with a pre-curved electrode array.

The variability seen in speech performance across CI users (Blamey et al., 1996; Holden et al., 2013) may be explained by the differences in the conditions of neural function near each individual electrode (Pfingst et al., 2015). CI users are limited by the electrode-neural interface, which refers to the interface between the CI electrode and the target SGNs (Bierer 2010), hence a well-functioning electro-neural interface is a critical component for the transmission of speech signals through a CI. It is likely that all electrode-neural interfaces in an implant cochlea are not equally effective, with some stimulation sites contributing more significantly than others to a subject's speech perception. Several peripheral factors contribute to suboptimal interfaces such as the degree of SGN degeneration inherent to CI users (Pfingst et al., 2011); and how far the electrodes are positioned from the target SGNs (Bierer 2010; Miura et al., 2002; Finley et al., 2008; Long et al., 2014). Degeneration of SGNs and central auditory system neurons occurs in the absence of auditory input (Otte et al., 1978), therefore the duration of auditory deprivation prior to cochlear implantation is likely to contribute to the quality of the electro-neural interface.

Longer durations of auditory deprivation are likely to result in suboptimal interfaces, thus, the efficacy of each channel of stimulation differs between individuals. It is quite possible that spectral speech cues transmitted via channels with poor quality interfaces are smeared due to the overlap of current between channels. Previous studies have shown that sparser neural

survival results in higher detection threshold (requiring more electrical current) which results in a greater spread of excitation resulting in poorer spectral resolution (Bierer and Faulkner 2010; Long et al., 2014, DiNino et al., 2019). The hypothesis that the variability in speech performance can be explained by duration of deafness is supported by Leung et al. (2005) who examined a large group of CI recipients between the ages of 14 to 91 years in a multicentre study. CI users were divided into a younger group (<65 years of age, n = 491) and an older group (\geq 65 years of age, n = 258). Post implant monosyllabic word scores significantly declined with longer duration of deafness in both groups.

Several studies have investigated if speech perception scores can be improved by using siteselection strategies that disable poor performing channels in a subject's MAP, thereby reducing channel interaction (Zwolan et al., 1997; Noble et al., 2013, 2014; Bierer and Litvak 2016; Garadat et al., 2013; Vickers et al., 2016; Goehring et al., 2019b). Some of these studies demonstrated improvements in speech perception (Zwolan et al., 1997; Garadat et al., 2013; Saleh et al., 2013; Noble et al., 2013, 2014) and others did not find significant improvements (Henshall and McKay, 2001; Vickers et al., 2016; Bierer and Litvak 2016; Goehring et al., 2019b).

For example, Zwolan et al (1997) assessed users with an older generation Cochlear Ltd device, Mini-22 and deactivated channels based on poor electrode discrimination. They found a significant improvement in speech perception for seven out of the nine participants in their study, however there was considerable individual variability in the benefit obtained. Similarly, in the study by Garadat et al., (2013), speech perception improved in all 12 subjects when the electrodes with the high amplitude modulation detection thresholds (poor temporal sensitivity) were deactivated. They reported significant benefit for consonant recognition and sentence scores in noise for eight out of twelve subjects, although they showed a deterioration in vowel recognition scores in seven out 7 out of twelve subjects. Other studies showed improved speech performance among CI users when electrode sites were deactivated based on the results of computed tomography imaging (Noble et al., 2013, 2014); which predicted which channels had the highest degree of interaction with other channels. However, the authors do not provide any psychophysical or electrophysiological evidence to support that the channels selected by their computational model for deactivation were in fact those with high levels of channel interaction.

Some studies have not found any benefit from electrode deactivation, Henshall and McKay (2001) disabled electrodes with poor pitch precepts and demonstrated no improvements in
speech perception scores, and some subjects' showed performance deteriorated. Although not statistically significant, Bierer and Litvak (2016) found that deactivating channels with high focused thresholds, increased consonant and vowel identification scores for poor performing subjects which suggests that channel reduction has the potential to benefit certain CI users. Similarly, Vickers et al., (2016) deactivated in-discriminable electrodes in thirteen subjects with Cochlear Ltd devices and compared speech perception scores with their optimised clinical maps. They found there were no significant benefits of electrode deactivation on speech perception which may suggest that channel reduction is not beneficial for users of n-of-m speech coding strategies.

Some methodological differences between studies are likely to account for some of these mixed results. Most of these studies used different devices and measures to select the channels for deactivation which makes comparison of results more difficult. Additionally, factors such as neural survival and the distance of the electrode from the SGNs were not taken into account in most of these studies. Studies have shown that electrodes that are further away from neural tissue have a wider spread of excitation leading to higher channel interaction (Long et al., 2014). When electrodes are deactivated the frequency allocation of the remaining channels is broadened and shifted apically, resulting in the experimental MAP sounding significantly different to the subjects optimised MAP. Most studies did not account for learning effects and subjects were not given an adequate period of time to adapt to their experimental MAPs; it is therefore possible that speech scores may have been better than reported in some studies if subjects were provided an acclimatisation period.

Other researchers have explored another approach to improving the electrode-neuron interface by using current focusing methods which simultaneously stimulate a number of neighbouring electrode channels to restrict the spread of neural excitation, hence reducing channel interaction. Computational modelling studies have demonstrated that current level requirements are higher and the spread of excitation is broader for electrodes further away from the SGNs or near a region of neural degeneration (Goldwyn et al., 2010; Kalkman et al., 2015). Models of electrical current flow have demonstrated the broadest spatial extent of electrical fields with monopolar (MP) stimulation modes, and progressively more narrow fields with bipolar (BP) stimulation. All subjects in the present study used MP stimulation which would suggest a larger number of SGNs are likely to be recruited due to the increased spread in excitation (Spelman et al., 1995; Jolly et al., 1996; Kral et al., 1998; Briare and Frjins, 2000). Overlapping excitation patterns between adjacent electrodes may distort spectral and

temporal information resulting in decreased pitch and speech perception (Favre and Pelizzone, 1993; Abbas et al., 2004; Boex 2003; Crew et al., 2012; Hughes 2008; Jones et al., 2013; Pfingst et al., 2004; Snel-Bongers et al., 2012).

Similar to channel deactivation, results of studies investigating the relationship between focused stimulation and speech perception have shown mixed outcomes. Most studies have not demonstrated a benefit (Mens and Berenstein 2005; Berenstein et al., 2008; Bierer and Litvak 2016; Langner et al., 2017; DeVries and Arenberg 2018) and only one study has demonstrated significant benefit in individual subjects (Srinivasan et al., 2013). Srinivasan et al., (2013) compared speech perception in noise in six CI users with an experimental monopolar and partial tripolar strategy and demonstrated a significant improvement in speech perception in noise with partial tripolar stimulation, with a mean improvement in speech sentence recognition thresholds of 3dB. The authors suggest that as partial tripolar stimulation uses two intra-cochlear electrodes, this reduces current spread in the cochlea in comparison to monopolar strategies where the ground electrode is extra-cochlear which results in a wider spread of current. Studies have shown than partial tripolar stimulation requires larger current levels to reach adequate loudness levels, which could lead to greater power consumption and issues with voltage compliance limits (Bierer and Litvak, 2016).

Berenstein et al., (2008) compared speech perception with monopolar and partial tripolar speech processing strategies in steady and fluctuating noise and found no benefit with focused stimulation in speech perception., although they reported that CI users with relatively poor speech perception performed better with speech recognition tasks when using the focused stimulation strategy. More recently, DeVries et al., (2016) found a relationship between electrode position, current spread, and focused behavioural thresholds using eCAP measurements and computed tomography, in ten unilaterally implanted adults with Advanced Bionics HiRes90k devices. The width of the eCAP spread of excitation was positively correlated with the electrode-to modiolus distance in most subjects. The eCAP peak amplitudes were negatively correlated with behavioural thresholds, and channels with smaller amplitudes had higher behavioural threshold indicative of poor neural survival and or synchrony in those region. Subjects with larger eCAP peak amplitudes and lower behavioural thresholds demonstrated better speech perception scores, which suggest that the eCAP peak amplitude may be sensitive to neural status and can be used as a proxy for neural health.

With simultaneous stimulation, current fields can interact by summing or subtracting prior to neural stimulation, which may cause over stimulation or an insufficient amount of current (White et al., 1984; Abbas and Brown, 1988; Boex et al., 2003a; Middlebrooks, 2004;). In order to reduce these effects, speech processing strategies such as ACE use sequential pulse presentation, however, non-simultaneous channel interaction can still occur due to forward masking effects within the stimulated neural population. Forward masking is the mechanism by which the SGNs respond to the first stimulus but are unable to respond to the following stimulus due to neural refractory properties (see section on eCAP and refractory properties). When a stimulus is presented at a supra-threshold level the SGNs ability to respond to the second stimuli is depressed (Shannon 1999). Throckmorton and Collins (1999) demonstrated that forward masking of one pulse over a successive pulse serves to blur between-channel amplitude differences, which may lead to reduced speech perception. They reported a significant correlation between average psychophysical forward-masking levels and speech recognition for sentences, consonants, and phonemes in seven Nucleus 22 recipients using BP stimulation and found 3 of the subjects with the narrowest stimulation patterns demonstrated better spatial selectivity and had the highest speech perception scores. This is similar to the findings of Chatterjee and Shannon (1998) who showed higher degrees of neural overlap compromised speech recognition scores, although they found that the effects of forward masking were reduced as the interval between the masker and probe increased.

3.13 Amplitude modulation detection

Speech signals display prominent low frequency modulations in their temporal envelope. Modulation frequencies which are close to the average syllabic rate of 3-4Hz are the most pronounced. When these are modulation frequencies are degraded there is a marked reduction in speech intelligibility (Drullman et al., 1994; Drullman et al., 1994; Houtgast and Steeneken, 1973). Amplitude modulation detection is a measure of temporal sensitivity and NH listeners can perceive amplitude fluctuations as shallow as 5% for modulation frequencies below 60 Hz. Above that frequency, modulation sensitivity decreases by about 3 dB per octave, until they reach 1 kHz, at which modulations evoke a percept of a steady sound, rather than rough fluctuations (Viemeister, 1979). Variations in amplitude over time are salient for speech perception because components of prosodic and segmental information are provided by fluctuations in the amplitude envelope (Blamey et al., 1985; Grant et al., 1985; Van Tasell et al., 1987; Freyman et al., 1991). Temporal modulation transfer function (TMTF) can be used to determine the temporal resolution of the auditory system and is a physical measure of the amplitude modulation (AM) detection thresholds as a function of modulation rate (Galvin and Fu 2005). The TMTF is a plot of modulation detection threshold as a function of modulation frequency and has been described in both normal (Viemeister., 1979; Bacon and Viemeister, 1985,

Moore and Glasberg, 2001) and electric hearing (Cazals et al., 1991; Shannon, 1992; Busby et al., 1993; Fu, 2002).

It was shown that TMTFs from CI users have higher cut off frequencies (between 100 and 200 Hz) than the typical acoustic TMTFs in NH listeners, which is approximately 68.8 Hz (Bacon and Viemeister, 1985) and the TMTF function is independent of stimulus level (Viemeister 1979; Moore and Glasberg, 2001). In comparison Shannon (1992) measured TMTFs in postlingually deaf CI users by taking three types of measurements, detection of amplitude modulation, detection of low-frequency sinusoidal waves and detection of beats in two-tone complexes. The response pattern of the TMTF was similar across the three tasks and CI users typically demonstrate similar low pass filter characteristics to those obtained in NH listeners. These results would suggest that temporal envelope cues are largely dependent on amplitude coding can be conveyed by relatively low stimulation rates. However, the TMTFs had a higher mean cut off frequency of 140 Hz and varied as a function of stimulus level, with poorer temporal modulation detection thresholds at lower stimulus levels.

Busby et al., (1993) measured perception of temporal modulations in 7 CI users for a series of modulation frequencies, pulse rates and pulse durations. They estimated the low pass filter cut off frequency was between 50-100Hz (lower in comparison to Shannon, 1992). Of relevance to the present study, Busby et al., (1993) used duration of deafness as a predictor of temporal processing, three of the subjects in the study were pre-lingually deaf and their overall perception of temporal information was poorer in comparison to the four post-lingually deafened subjects. However, it should be noted that the deafness onset of deafness for the three pre-lingually deaf subjects was meningitis which can cause a significant loss of SGNs (Nadol et al., 1989). These results suggest that there is considerable variation in temporal processing between individual CI users although it is not clear if these differences are due to central or peripheral contributions.

Other studies which have investigated the relationship between temporal processing and speech recognition abilities. Cazals et al., (1991) investigated the correlation between basic temporal psychophysical abilities and speech perception in 5 Ineraid CI users. They measured the detection of a silent gap in noise and interval between two. The results showed a significant correlation between the temporal resolution of clicks at the most basal cochlear electrode and the perception of place of articulation of consonants. Fu and Shannon (2000) measured phoneme recognition in CI users and NH listeners as a function of the low-pass cut off

frequency and found no significant difference in performance in both groups for cut off frequencies above 20 Hz. Both vowel and consonant scores dropped significantly when the cut off frequency was reduced from 20 Hz to 2 Hz, this is interesting as it would suggest that only very low level modulation rates are required for phoneme recognition and increasing the envelope cut off frequency above 20Hz does not provide additional temporal information,

Of significance are the findings of Fu (2002), previous studies measured modulation detection performance at higher stimulus levels closer to the C (comfort) level of the MAP, in contrast Fu (2002) measured the modulation detection thresholds across a range of stimulus levels. A strong correlation was found between phoneme recognition scores and mean modulation thresholds in 9 CI users who were recipients of the Nucleus 22 CI and were using the SPEAK processing strategy. The results showed that the mean modulation detection threshold averaged across all input levels was a strong predictor of phoneme recognition, which highlights the importance of temporal processing abilities in CI users. These results suggest that CI users' psychophysically measured temporal resolution is related to their speech recognition abilities.

Use of high rate pulse trains may provide better temporal sampling of the speech signal and is likely to increase the stochastic response properties of the activated SGNs (Rubinstein et al., 1999; Wilson et al., 1997). In doing so this reduces atypical phase locking which desynchronises neural firing patterns without excessive reductions in the probability of firing across the neural population; so that the rapid amplitude modulations of speech may be encoded more accurately by the auditory nerve. However, as mentioned, high rate stimulation in CI users has not consistently shown to improve speech recognition in CI users.

Neural firing has been shown to synchronize with rate cycles of up to 1000 Hz in human electric hearing (Wilson et al.,1997). CI users who typically lack synaptic noise which is a caused by the release of neurotransmitter at the synaptic cleft between the IHC and SGN and results in spontaneous neural firing. Thereby, placing ANFs in varying states of refractoriness and hence limiting the synchronous response to a stimulus. In CI users, a potential source of noise is the voltage sensitive sodium channels at the neural membrane (Wilson et al, 1994; Rubinstein et al, 1999). Wilson et al (1994) suggested that for pulses presented at high rates, low levels of neural noise "jitter" may be introduced due to refractoriness and/or discharge of the neural membrane. This jitter is likely to increase with time and interact with pulses to produce levels of stochastic independence among SGNs. Hence, if a greater population of

SGNs are kept out of their absolute refractory period it is possible to reduce the amount of a temporal smearing, which weakens the salience of the amplitude envelope, consequently this would allow a better neural representation of the temporal fluctuations in the speech signal.

Fu and Shannon (2000) also evaluated the effect of stimulation rate on consonant and vowel recognition in CI users and found that recognition improved as stimulation rate was increased from 50 to 150 pps/ch, but no further significant improvements were seen when the rate was increased from 150 to 500 pps/ch. Similarly, Pfingst et al., (2007) found subjects had better modulation detections for lower rates (250 pps/ch) compared to higher rates (4000 pps/ch), although the authors reported a significant effect of stimulation site, and modulation detection abilities were better at the apical stimulation site. This finding may be attributed to the differences in neural survival patterns between individuals (Hinojosa and Lindsay, 1980; Nadol, 1997) and across site variations in modulation detections suggest that testing at one or two sites (as in the studies by Shannon, 1992; Busby et al, 1993; Cazals et al, 1994; Fu, 2002; Galvin and Fu, 2005) may not provide a complete assessment of a CI recipient's modulation sensitivity.

Galvin and Fu (2005) examined the effects of stimulation rate and level on modulation detection thresholds in CI users and found a significant correlation between stimulation rate and level, with an improvement in modulation detection at low stimulus levels when using a low stimulation rate (250 pps/ch) compared to a high rate (2000 pps/ch), suggesting that the carrier rate strongly affects modulation sensitivity. Consistent with the findings of Shannon (1999) they reported that modulation sensitivity was poorest at quiet listening levels. Which would suggest that CI users may not have access to the enhanced temporal cues provided by high stimulation rates especially nearer their T (Threshold) levels. It should be noted that the results in this study were obtained by direct stimulation which therefore does not take into account the impact of CI signal processing.

Based on the evidence it is not clear how much temporal information CI users have access to, with perceptual measures (such as the psychophysically measured TMTF) it is not possible to delineate if temporal information loss is due to limitations in CI signal processing or due to the underlying neural physiology (loss of information at the electro-neural interface). Given the large variability in TMTFs reported in the above studies it is possible the electro-neural interface plays a more significant role in accounting for temporal information loss. To date there have been no studies which have utilised objective measures (such as eCAP recovery function) in combination with psychophysical measures of temporal processing which could assist with identifying the source of temporal information loss. Therefore, the question of how much access a given individual has to temporal information remains unanswered. In the following chapter methods in which these measurements can be completed are discussed.

Chapter 4: Objective and Behavioural Measures of Temporal Processing

There is currently not a strong evidence base to account for the large individual differences and variability in speech recognition among CI users. In current clinical practice most speech outcome measures are also not directly linked to the underlying mechanisms that may contribute to variations in outcomes. The following chapter provides an overview of the literature on how temporal processing can be measured both objectively and behaviourally in CI users in an attempt to identify the possible sources of individual differences in performance.

The two main questions which drive this review are:

- 1. What are the individual differences in temporal processing that may influence speech perception?
- 2. Are there intra-cochlear regional differences in temporal processing in CI users that may influence speech perception?

4.1 What are the individual differences in temporal processing that may influence speech perception?

As described in Chapter 2, section 2.5, it is hypothesised that one reason for the large individual variability in CI users is the difference in neural survival patterns across different subjects. Although a firm connection between SGC count and speech perception has not been established (Fayad et al., 2006; Khan et al., 2005) it is likely that the success with a CI depends on the presence of an adequate number of healthy SGCs. Poor neural function is likely to impede the transmission of speech information to the auditory nerve and limit outcomes with a CI. It is not clear how patterns of neural survival affect speech performance, objective and behavioural measures could assist clinicians optimise programming parameters in order to improve information transfer in CI users. It is hypothesised that neural health will be more significantly compromised in CI users with pre-lingual deafness and longer periods of auditory deprivation prior to cochlear implantation when compared to post-lingually implanted CI users. We would therefore expect temporal processing abilities to vary between these subjects.

As it is not feasible to directly measure the SGC count in CI users, information regarding the synchronous firing of a population of ANFs and temporal response properties can be obtained by measuring the eCAP recovery function. The refractory recovery of the auditory nerve can be evaluated using the single-pulse forward masking paradigm for eCAP measurement (Brown et al., 1990; Miller 2001). This technique utilises a masking pulse that causes the ANFs to enter a refractory state where they are unable to generate an action potential to the subsequent probe pulse. As eCAPs are generated within the cochlea they are likely to reflect the quality of the neural structures at the electrode-neural interface, there is currently insufficient evidence on how eCAP recovery time constants vary along the cochlea. The eCAP recovery function is not routinely used in clinical practice and we are still limited in our knowledge on its characterisation in CI users and its utilisation as a predictor of speech performance. Robust eCAP response depends on highly synchronised neural activity, therefore predicted poor neural survival in the pre-lingual group is likely to result in less synchronised neural responses which may reduce neuronal refractoriness and result in eCAPs with a smaller overall amplitude and prolonged eCAP latencies. The purposes of this study is to evaluate refractory properties of the auditory nerve in adult CI users with pre-lingual and post lingual deafness using the eCAP recovery function and to investigate the correlation between eCAP recovery time constants, behavioural measures of temporal resolution and speech perception abilities.

It is also plausible that subjects with pre-lingual deafness will have greater central temporal processing deficits due to a reduced number of effective channels being available to relay spectro-temporal information to the central auditory system; therefore, we hypothesis that behavioural measures of temporal resolution may be a useful tool in reflecting such impairments. It is hypothesised that objective measures of temporal processing, measured by eCAP recovery function are correlated to behavioural measures of temporal resolution, measured by GDTs. It is hypothesised that subjects with pre-lingual deafness will have slower eCAP recovery functions and elevated GDTs which is likely to result in poorer speech performance. This leads us to the second question:

4.2 Are there intra-cochlear regional differences in temporal processing in CI users that may influence speech perception?

Studies have shown that the cochlear pathology and neural survival patterns are highly variable along the length of the cochlea (Hinojosa and Marion 1983; Khan et al., 2005; Fayad et al., 2009). Therefore, localised differences in neural survival are likely to result in different

neural firing patterns. There is limited evidence regarding the variation of GDTs at different stimulation sites, some studies have suggested across site differences may relate to the difference in neural function in the cochlea near the stimulating electrode (Pfingst et al., 2008). By measuring the eCAP recovery function and GDTs at different locations along the implant array the aim is to determine whether the two measurements are correlated with each other, since they could both be influenced by neural survival. We hypothesise that eCAP recovery times will be faster and GDT thresholds will be shorter in apical regions compared to basal regions as SGC survival tends to be higher in this region (Khan et al., 2005; Fayad et al., 2009).

Theoretically, high stimulation rates available in CIs should enable better sampling of the speech signals by reducing synchronous firing of SGNs. However, as outlined later on in this chapter this has not been a consistent finding in previous studies. Individuals with sparser localised neural populations, may not benefit from higher stimulation rates due to spatial overlap of excitation (see section 3.12) and it is unclear if stimulation rates that produce different neural firing patterns (stochastic firing) are correlated to better speech perception. It is possible that GDTs at high stimulation rates may be poorer in some subjects as temporal characteristics such as fine structure are compromised when the time interval between pulses reaches the refractory period which would compromise the transfer of the temporal gap. Javel (1990) showed a reduction in the synchronisation of discharge probability of auditory neurons as the pulse rate reached the refractory period and pathological changes, such as demyelination that are associated with long durations of deafness lead to an increase in the refractory period (Shepherd and Javel 1997), which is likely to compromise representation of the temporal structure of the stimuli. This study therefore examined if there were any differences between the objective and behaviour measures between subjects based on their existing stimulation rates and if this was correlated to their speech performance.

4.3 Current evidence base for eCAP recovery function and speech perception

There are only six studies (Brown et al., 1990; Gantz 1994; Keifer et al., 2001; Turner et al., 2002; Fulmer et al., 2011 and Lee et al., 2012) which have investigated the correlation between eCAP recovery function and speech perception in CI users. Keifer et al., (2001) found a significant correlation in speech performance, for three speech coding strategies; spectral peak, continuous interleaved sampling, and advanced combination encoders in nine post-lingually deaf adults. Brown et al., (1990), found a significant correlation between the slope of

eCAP recovery and speech perception scores and postulated that subjects with steep recovery curves are likely to perform better with electrical stimulation compared to subjects with shallow recovery functions. The other studies (Gantz 1994; Keifer et al, 2001; Turner et al, 2002 and Lee et al, 2012) found no significant correlation, however, Fulmer et al (2011) found significantly faster recovery functions were associated with better speech recognition thresholds in noise for children with Auditory Neuropathy Spectrum Disorder (ANSD) and SNHL. Although not significant Gantz (1994) showed a moderate correlation between speech perception and recovery time constants, both studies suggested that faster recovery times resulted in better speech perception performance. Table 2 provides a summary of these six studies.

Study	Population	CI Device	Recovery Parameter	Speech Perception vs. Recovery Parameter		Ρ
Brown et al., (1990)	10 subjects	S Ineraid	Slope of recovery curve		Iowa NU-6 words R= 0.85 Iowa sentences R = 0.74	0.02
Fulmer et al., (2011)	20 children	AB 90K/CII, Med-EL Pulsar/Sonata, Cochlear Nucleus Freedom	Recovery function constant	ANSD SNHL Total ANSD SNHL Total	SRT in quiet R=0.10 R=0.03 R=0.21 SRT in noise R=0.85 R=0.25 R=0.45	0.78 0.94 0.38 0.08 0.49 0.04
Gantz et al., (1994)	10 adults	S Ineraid	Recovery time constant		lowa NU-6 words	0.09

					R=0.57 Iowa sentences R=0.51 Iowa medial consonants R=0.62	0.13 0.56
Kiefer et al., (2001)	9 adults	Cochlear Nucleus Cl24M	ISIma50	Speech coding Strategy SPEAK CIS ACE	Average of speech perception tests R= - 0.756 R = - 0.708 R = -0.780	0.02 0.03 0.01
Lee et al., (2012)	12 adults	AB CII/HiRes 90K	Recovery function constant		CNC Words $R^2 = 0.03$ HINT in quiet $R^2 = 0.02$ HINT in noise $R^2 = 0.003$	0.60 0.68 0.86
Turner et al., (2002)	5	Cochlear Nucleus Cl24M	Recovery time		Deviation from the normal speech weighted function R=0.05	0.94

Table 2: Summary of studies investigating the relationship between eCAP recovery function

 and speech recognition in human CI users. Redrawn from van Eijl et al., (2017).

Brown et al (1990) reported that faster recovery functions in 10 Ineraid CI users correlated with better speech performance scores, this finding was corroborated by Kiefer et al (2001) who found short recovery periods were associated with better speech recognition for different speech coding strategies (spectral peak coding - Speak, continuous interleaved sampling – CIS and advanced combination encoders - ACE). It should be noted that there are significant differences between the Ineraid CI system and Nucleus 24M implant used in the Keifer et al (2001) study. The Ineraid implant consists of 6 intra-cochlear electrodes in comparison to the Nucleus 24M which has 22 intra-cochlear electrodes, which is likely to lead to differences in the site of stimulation, spread of current and therefore the number of neural fibres recruited. Additionally, the method used to obtain the recovery function varied between both studies, Keifer et al., (2001) used the NRT software, whereas Brown et al (1990) used an analog-to-digital converter interfacing with a computer. Due to the difference in devices, and the eCAP recovery extraction method, factors such as sampling rate, filter settings and gain control are not comparable between both data sets.

Brown et al (1990) assessed word recognition using the Iowa NU6 word list and the Iowa Sentence test, which were presented in quiet at 73dB SPL in the sound field. In comparison, Keifer et al (2001) completed a more thorough assessment of speech perception, testing vowel and consonant identification, monosyllabic words and numbers as well as two sentence tests in quiet and noise at 70dB HL. In both studies the speech material was presented in the sound field and it is not clear if or how the non-test ear was controlled for in either study. Brown et al (1990) scored speech tests based on the words identified correctly rather than phonemes, this may have resulted in lower scores on the Iowa NU6 word test which could bias the correlation observed with the slope of recovery.

Furthermore, there was no attempt made to control for the amount of experience subjects' had with their CI (minimum use was 1 month) and it is not known if the subject group was pre or post lingually deaf. There is substantial evidence that suggests pre-lingually deafened adults attain poorer levels of speech perception with their CIs than post-lingually deaf adults (Klop et al., 2007; Teoh et al., 2004) and may therefore take a longer time to acclimatise to their cochlear implant, hence, a shorter duration of device use may also have resulted in poorer speech scores which may also bias the correlation observed with the slope of recovery. The 11 subjects tested in the study by Keifer et al (2001) were all post-lingually deaf and the duration of use with cochlear implantation ranged from 3 months to 12 years and subjects were given 4-6 weeks to adjust to a new MAP for each speech coding strategy prior to testing. In order to correlate the eCAP to speech performance, Kiefer et al (2001) averaged the results

of speech tests in each subject to find the best overall performance strategy. Of Importance, the eCAP recovery function could not be used to predict which strategy would provide the best performance as it correlated to a similar extent across all stimulation rates and coding strategies, although subjective preference and performance indicated a clear advantage of the ACE strategy

Fulmer et al (2011) investigated the relationship between the eCAP recovery function and speech recognition thresholds in both quiet and noise in 10 children with ANSD and a control group of children with SNHL. No difference was found in eCAP recovery function in the ANSD group compared to the SNHL group and similarly there was no difference in the speech recognition threshold in quiet; however, there was a significant effect of lower speech recognition threshold in noise with faster eCAP recovery function for all subjects. Participants in this study were recipients of 3 different implant systems and due to differences in technology and variations in measurement algorithms, the eCAP recovery function is less comparable between devices with a small sample size. The eCAP recovery function was also only measured at one mid-range electrode therefore any changes in recovery function based on site of stimulation were not observed, considering the significant variability in the site of lesion in patients with ANSD multiple electrode measurements may have provided further information on overall neural recovery in this patient group

Psychophysical pulse train forward masking (PTFM) recovery, is a measure that reflects single channel temporal processing abilities and refers to the increase in detection threshold of a probe when presented after a masker, compared with the probe's unmasked threshold. Electrical stimulation of ANFs with a CI shows this effect can persist up to several hundreds of milliseconds in both NH and CI users and is dependent on the duration and level of the masker (Plomp 1964; Shannon 1990). In comparison, recovery from eCAPs (single pulse forward masking) has been shown to be more rapid with time constants no greater than a few milliseconds (Brown et al, 1990; Morsnowski et al., 2006), see to section 4.4. It is thought that the eCAP recovery from a single pulse masker provides a direct measure of the short term recovery processes in surviving ANFs (Nelson and Donaldson 2001) where as there are two main contributors to PTFM, a rapid recovery process due to refractory properties of the ANFs and a slow recovery process arising from more central mechanisms (Nelson and Donaldson 2002), which is thought to reflect neural adaptation (Shannon 1990).

Lee et al (2012) examined the link between age, eCAP recovery time constants and PFTM recovery in CI users with the aim to identify the relative importance of each measure on speech performance. Their study consisted of a sample of 14 post-lingually deaf subjects who were grouped by age as older (>60 yr old, n=9, mean age 73.44) and younger (<60yr old, n=5, mean age 46.8yrs), and all subjects were Advance Bionic device users. The recovery time constant (eCAP and PFTM) was recorded at a single mid-electrode in all subjects in monopolar mode. The eCAP recovery showed no difference between groups, however, the psychophysical recovery from (PFTM), was significantly slower in older adults compared with the younger subjects (p < 0.0005), with a significant effect of age (R² = 0.70, p < 0.0005). There was also a significant positive relationship between psychophysical recovery and word scores (R² = 0.62, p < 0.001), although no relationship was found with sentences in noise. Due to these differences the authors therefore postulate that the eCAP recovery function time constant is more indicative of peripheral temporal processing and that the central auditory system is the dominant contributor to the slow recovery from PTFM, accounting for the differences in speech performance in both groups.

In humans age related loss of SGNs is commonly observed with neural presbycusis (Schuknect and Gacek, 1993; Makary et al., 2011) suggesting age is a stronger predictor of neural health, therefore the findings by Lee at al., (2012) are unexpected. They found eCAP recovery was not associated with age, however, it should be noted only12 eCAP recovery measurements were analysed as measurements could not be obtained in 2 subjects due to stimulus artifact interference. Additionally, the 5 subjects in the younger group had longer mean durations of deafness (23.2 years) compared to the 7 subjects in the older group (13 years), hence it is possible that differences in the population of SGNs at the one electrode site measured were not detected, it is therefore important to assess eCAP recovery constants at more than one electrode location, with a larger sample size.

Due to the limited number of studies with small sample sizes and inconsistent findings it is not clear if eCAP recovery functions can serve as both an objective measure of temporal processing and a reasonable index with which to predict speech perception abilities in CI users. These studies span a large period of time during which significant advances in technology and modifications in the methodology used to measure recovery function have occurred; which makes comparison between studies more challenging. For example, in earlier studies Brown et al., (1990) used electrodes connected in a voltage controlled feedback loop and Gantz et al., (1994) used a temporary electrode to measure eCAP recovery functions, whereas more recent studies (Keifer et al, 2001; Turner et al, 2002; Fulmer et al, 2011 and

Lee et al, 2012) have used telemetry technology incorporated in modern CIs. Additionally, the differences in devices used in these studies further limits comparisons, as there is insufficient evidence for eCAP recovery function as a predictor for speech perception, hence the author propose a study where all subjects are recipients of a Cochlear Ltd Nucleus device, use the same speech processing strategy and speech processor and are assessed using the same speech outcome measures.

4.4 The eCAP recovery function background

The eCAP represents a synchronised response generated by a group of electrically activated ANFs to the presentation of an electrical stimulus. It is not possible to directly measure the neural population in human subjects and the eCAP is a direct measurement of neural responses generated by ANs which allows evaluation of the physiological status of the auditory nerve (Brown et al. 1990). Near field recording of eCAPs is possible using intracochlear electrodes utilising the Neural Response Telemetry (NRT) function implemented in programming software, which became commercially available for eCAP recording in 1998, when Cochlear Ltd incorporated two-way telemetry in the Nucleus R CI24 cochlear implant system. In CI users, the absolute recovery period (ARP) and the RRP can be estimated based on the eCAP recovery function (Gantz et al., 1994; Miller et al., 2000; Charasse et al., 2003; Battmer et al., 2004; Shpak et al., 2004; Morsnowski et al., 2006; Cohen, 2009; Botros and Psarros, 2010; Fulmer et al., 2011; Kim et al., 2011; Lee et al., 2012). Most studies of the neural refractoriness of the electrically stimulated auditory nerve have been carried out using either a two-pulse masker-probe paradigm or multi-pulse stimulation masker-probe paradigms. The pulse that causes a refractory state in an ANF is referred to as the masker pulse while the subsequent pulse that is used to assess the state of refractoriness is referred to as the probe. The eCAP amplitude may be examined as a function of the masker-probe interval (MPI) to estimate recovery of the fibre population. Mechanisms of voltage gated-ion channels give rise to refractoriness (Hodgkin and Huxley 1952) therefore the recovery function is dependent on the stimulus level at the neural membrane as well as the membrane properties, both of which may differ across the neural population (Miller et al 2001).

Measuring eCAPs has historically been difficult due to the lack of a method for recognising and minimising contamination of the stimulus artefact on the recorded response (He et al., 2017). The forward masking method (see section 4.4.3) was first developed by Brown et al., (1990) for measuring the eCAP from an intra-cochlear electrode in human CI patients. This technique was further developed by a modified template subtraction (Miller et al., 2000) which allows artefact free eCAPs to be recorded. Cochlear Ltd incorporated these techniques in their two-way telemetry function software, Neural Response Telemetry (NRT), see section 4.4.2. Similarly, other manufacturers have their own telemetry capabilities although the methods for stimulus extraction vary between devices. Advanced Bionics Ltd utilise Neural Response Imaging (NRI) and Med-el Ltd use Auditory Response Telemetry (ART). For the purpose of this research we focus on NRT as all the subjects in this study were implanted with Cochlear Ltd devices.

4.4.1 The eCAP morphology

The eCAP recorded in CI users usually shows a biphasic morphology that consists of one negative peak (N1) occurring around 0.2-0.4 ms following stimulus onset, followed by a much smaller positive peak (P2) occurring around 0.6-0.8 ms, and eCAP amplitudes can be as large as 1-2mV (Brown and Abbas, 1990; Brown et al., 1990, 1998; and Abbas et al., 1999). This singe peak morphology occurs in 80% of all measureable eCAPs (Lai and Dillier, 2000; and Miller et al., 2008). Double peak eCAP responses are rarer with an incidence of 10-20% (Lai and Dillier, 2000) and consist of two positive peaks, P1 occurring at about 0.4–0.5 ms and the P2 typically occurring around 0.6–0.7 ms (Lai and Dillier, 2000). See figure 22.



Figure 22: Typical eCAP waveform (Type 1a) the amplitude of the eCAP is defined as the voltage difference between N1 and P2 and Type II double peak eCAP waveform.

4.4.2 Neural Response Telemetry

The NRT software consists of a bidirectional telemetry circuit and has been developed by Dillier et al (1995) at Zurich University in collaboration with Cochlear Ltd. It was validated by Lai et al (1997) as a technique to directly measure the eCAP of the stimulated ANs in response to electrical stimulation from a single electrode contact. Several studies have found a strong

correlation between the eCAP threshold and the predicted Threshold (T) and Comfort (C) levels which can assist in the programming process (Brown et al., 1996, 1998; Abbas et al., 1999). The compound action potential that results from a stimulus applied on a given intra-cochlear electrode is recorded from a neighbouring electrode as voltages. These voltages are amplified and encoded for transmission back over the radio frequency (RF) link to the storage buffer in the speech processor. These measurement data are retrieved by the NRT software for further processing, display and storage. See figure 23.



Figure 23: The NRT software communicates with the cochlear implant via the speech processor. Stimulation is initiated by the software and the resulting eCAP is measured by an amplifier in the implant and the data is transmitted back to the speech processor, which sends it to the software which then processes the incoming data.

The typical neural action potential which is produced is very small (approximately 100uV) in amplitude compared to the stimulus artefact which is several times larger and occurs close to the evoked neural response. To ensure the recording of the neural response is not contaminated with the stimulus artefact the NRT software implements a forward masking paradigm (see section 4.4.3) described by Charlet de Sauvage et al (1983) and Brown et al (1990) in order to extract the neural response.



Figure 24: The neural response amplitude is very small compared to the electrical stimulation which makes it difficult to extract the neural response from stimulus artefact.

4.4.3 Forward masking paradigm

Forward masking is a phenomenon in which one stimulus (masker) suppresses the detection of a subsequent sound (probe). The shorter the interval between the masker and probe, the more suppression occurs. Forward masking tasks generally measure how intense the probe signal needs to be in order to be detectable in the presence of the masker as a function of the silent interval between them. In the NRT algorithm, the forward masking paradigm includes four stimulation intervals. The first interval (A) the probe stimulus is presented alone and the recording contains the neural response and the probe stimulus artefact. The second interval B, presents a masker stimulus followed by the probe stimulus, after a specified interval between the masker and the probe, known as the masker probe interval. With adequate forward masking, this recording only contains the stimulus artefacts from the masker and the probe. In the third interval (C), the masker and the probe sequence (as B) is repeated and the probe is set to a minimum level in order to extract the probe artefact, therefore the masker is presented alone. This recording contains the stimulus artefact from the masker. Subtracting the (C) recording from (B) yields the probe stimulus artefact alone, subtracting this from (A) yields the neural response to the probe (A) final recording (D) is taken to record the artefact produced from the measurement amplifier, at interval (D) both the masker and probe are presented at minimal levels in order to prevent any stimulus artefacts from either the masker or the probe. The subtraction (A-(B-(C-D))) then yields the desired neural response (Abbas et al., 1999; Brown et al., 1990, 1998, 2000; Dillier et al., 2002). See figure 25.



Figure 25: The diagram above illustrates how the forward masking algorithm functions. **A.** The probe stimulus is presented alone. The probe recruits auditory nerve fibres near the stimulated electrode. The measured wave form contains the neural response as well as the stimulus artifact. **B.** A masker stimulus is presented followed by the probe stimulus. The masker stimulus recruits the same auditory nerve fibres as in condition *(MPI: masker-probe time interval)*, only stimulus artifact (no neural response) is recorded for the probe stimulus in this condition. **C.** The masker stimulus is presented alone. The probe is then presented shortly after the masker within the refractory period of those fibres. **D.** Zero current pulse to elicit system artifact

4.5 Two pulse experimental paradigm to estimate refractory function

Numerous studies have used a two pulse masker pulse paradigm to estimate the refractory function of the auditory nerve to electrical stimulation. Studies in animals (Hartmann et al., 1984b; Stypulkowski and van den Honert, 1984; Dynes, 1996; Brown and Abbas, 1999; Cartee et al., 2000; Miller et al., 2001; Cartee et al., 2006) have been used to infer single-fibre refractory properties. Analyses of the cat's electrically eCAP RRF suggest that the ARP typically ranges from 600 to 700 μ s (Dynes, 1996) and full recovery occurs within 1.5-2ms (Dynes, 1996, Cartee et al., 2000). Other studies have yielded lower estimates closer to 350 μ s (Miller et al., 2001; Stypulkowski and van den Honert, 1984). Miller et al., (2001) determined the single pulse threshold (the current level) at which the AN spikes 50 % of the time to a pulse while the neuron is at rest, and demonstrated that complete recovery is restored by 3 ms after the masker pulse is presented. They were also found that some fibres may fire at 100% efficiency even at MPIs as short as 500 μ s and more than a third of their sampled fibres responded at that interval without a significant decrease in spike efficiency. This is consistent

with the findings of Brown and Abbas (1990) who reported that a 500 µs MPI typically produced maximum refractoriness.

Cartee et al., (2000) obtained threshold vs MPI data for 25 single fibres and estimated a RRP time constant of 0.7ms. Cartee et al., (2000) used the same recovery equation as Miller et al., 2001 but did not include an ARP, which could have biased the time constant estimate upward. Miller et al., (2001) obtained recovery time constants at a shorter minimum MPI in comparison to Cartee et al., (2000) and found that the accuracy of the ARP is strongly dependent on the minimum MPI. These studies used cats that were acutely deafened during the experiment and therefore, did not evaluate the impact of long standing degenerative changes within the cochlea. Shepherd et al (2004) found a positive correlation between the duration of deafness and absolute refractory periods in ANs of rats. Despite the varied estimates of the recovery time constants in these studies, there is consensus that the AN thresholds decrease exponentially as the MPI increases and faster recovery of fibre threshold can be caused by higher probe levels (Matusoka et al., 2000; Miller et al., 2001; Shepherd et al., 2004). At longer MPIs, there will be a larger number of ANs that have recovered and are ready to respond to the second stimulus; which results in a larger amplitude response.

Immenov and Rubinstein (2009) suggest that sodium ion inactivity may not be the sole channel activity within the SGN which accounts for refractoriness. They used a computational model of SGNs in a cat embedded with rapid sodium channels that activated the transient potassium channels, and delayed the receptor channels. They yielded an ARP of 750 μ s, similar to the values of 700 μ s reported by Cartee et al., (2000) but longer than the ARP (~ 450 μ s) reported by Miller et al., (2001). Their model also predicted a RRP of 4.6ms which is close to the 5ms RRP reported by Hartman et al., (1984) and Dyne (1996).

The eCAP recovery function measures in human subjects have yielded median values of ARP (276 - 645 μ s) and RRP (600 to 1350 μ s) and recovery of the eCAP appears to be complete by about 4ms (Brown et al., 1996, Pesch et al., 2005; Morsnowski et al., 2006; Hughes et al., 2012; Wiemes et al., 2016). The eCAP is an aggregate response which is dependent on the number and function of surviving SGNs and their properties such as fibre thresholds, fibre diameter and the distribution of high or low spontaneous- rate fibres. All of these variables are likely to effect the spike threshold and speed of action potential propagation (Rhode and Smith, 1985; Muller and Robertson, 1991). Loss of peripheral processes may lead to a greater spread of excitation which may cause the site of action potential generation to move to a central axon

(Javel and Shepherd, 2000) and higher current levels may be required to induce an action potential. Additionally, demyelination observed studies in deafened animals (Elverland and Mair, 1980; Leake and Hradek, 1988), is likely to result in a large increase in membrane capacitance (England et al., 1990; Vabnick et al., 1997), consequently, more charge is required at the neural membrane to initiate depolarization (Smith and McDonald, 1999). There are currently a limited number of studies on eCAP RRF in human subjects and they are restricted by their small sample size. It remains unclear how the pathological and atrophic changes within the cochlea following SNHL effect temporal response properties in CI users.

4.6 Multi-pulse experimental paradigm to estimate refractory function

Refractory properties appear to have an alternating effect on the responses to pulse trains of pulses at rates of that 1000 pps/ch and above (Hay-McCutcheon et al., 2005; Hughes et al., 2012; Wilson et al., 1997). Wilson et al., (1997) examined eCAP amplitudes in response to increasing stimulation rates in ten subjects. At slow rates (100-200 pps/ch]), nearly all ANs fired with each pulse resulting in eCAPs that were similar in amplitude. This would indicate that the same population of ANs are depolarised and then fully recover following each pulse in the train. When the stimulation rate was increased (400 – 1500 pps/ch), an alternating eCAP amplitude pattern emerged due to the heterogeneous refractory recovery periods across the population of ANs. This resulted in subsets of ANs entering a refractory period and not recovering in time to discharge with every pulse. Consequently, the eCAP response to the first pulse was high in amplitude because many ANs were non refractory and were able to discharge to the stimulus but the response to the second pulse was lower as many of the ANs that discharged to the first stimulus were in a refractory period but recovered in time to respond to the third pulse and this alternating pattern then continued for pulses. When the stimulation rate was increased further (2000 – 3000 pps/ch), the alternating pattern diminished and the eCAP amplitude reduced and remained consistently smaller due to stochastic independence among ANs; likely due to the effects of incomplete refractory recovery, increased adaptation, and increased temporal jitter (Hay-McCutcheon et al., 2005; Mino and Rubinstein, 2006; Miller et al., 2008; and Wilson et al., 1997). Wilson et al., (1997) did not measure the eCAP recovery function in their study so it is not clear to what extent the temporal response patterns varied across individuals.

Hughes et al., (2012) defined the stimulation rate where the eCAP response discontinues this alternating amplitude pattern (desynchronization) as the stochastic rate, when a sub-population of ANFs is available to respond at any given point in time. Hughes et al., (2012) determined the stochastic rate for 29 subjects (27 with Nucleus devices and 2 with Advanced

Bionic devices) by measuring eCAPs in response to pulse train (containing 21 pulses) at rates of 900, 1200, 1800, 2400, and 3500 pps/ch at three electrode locations (basal, middle, and apical). Consistent with the findings of Wilson et al., (1997), an alternating amplitude pattern was observed for slow rates reflecting the refractory properties of the responding ANFs. At faster rates the overall amplitude was lower to the first pulse and the alternating pattern ceased. The stochastic rate varied across individuals and for the three electrode locations, 79% of subjects had different stochastic rates across the three regions of the cochlea. The stochastic rate occurred most frequently at 2400 pps for basal and middle electrodes, and at 3500 pps for apical electrodes. Hughes et al., (2012) also measured the eCAP recovery time constants at the three electrode locations, basal (1032.4 ms), middle (990.4 ms) and apical (774.4 ms) which are consistent with the finding of faster stochastic rates at the apical electrode. The authors suggest this may be due to better neural survival in the apical region with a more heterogeneous population of ANFs. This study did not evaluate rates lower than 900 pps/ch based on the alternating pattern observed in the study by Wilson et al., (1997) therefore, it is not clear if desynchronization could have been reached at rates slower than 900 pps/ch. Although the study indicates it may be possible to identify an optimal rate as speech recognition was not evaluated in the study it is not clear if the stochastic rate led to improved functional benefit. Additionally, as the pulse train was short in duration (21 pulses), the sampling window was limited so it is not known if the alternation pattern would continue across longer duration pulse trains. Hay-McCutcheon et al., (2005) showed moderately stable alteration patterns across a series of 100 pulses for a 1000-pps train however, other rates were not assessed.

Furthermore, as the rate varied across cochlea region consideration needs to be given to which region should be used to identify the optimal rate for the entire electrode array, and this is region is likely to be different across individuals. It would therefore be ideal to identify the region which provides the best speech recognition in a CI user. Studies have previously examined speech perception abilities in CI users by stimulating a specific selection of electrodes (Fu and Shannon, 1999; Pfingst et al., 2001; Shannon et al., 2001; Hochmair et al., 2003) and results have been varied. Fu and Shannon (1999) stimulated sets of four widely-spaced electrodes in three users of the Nucleus 22 CI. Maps were shifted basally to apically along the cochlea and the authors found that vowel and consonant recognition scores improved as the stimulated electrodes moved to a more apical location. All subjects had >100 hours' experience with the experimental tasks before the start of data collection. Similarly, other studies have deactivated sections of the electrode array (Geier and Norton, 1992;

Shannon et al., 2001) in order to stimulate isolated regions in the cochlea. Geier and Norton (1992), deactivated five electrodes in each region of the cochlea (apical, middle and basal) for six subjects. Shannon et al., (2001) varied the number (2-8) of electrodes that were deactivated in five subjects. Subjects in both studies were recipients of the Nucleus 22 implant. Both studies demonstrated that speech recognition scores worsened with the deactivated of apical electrodes, with better performance reported when middle electrodes were deactivated by Geier and Norton (1992) and when basal electrodes were deactivated by Shannon et al., (2001), although there was considerable variability between subjects.

In contrast two studies (Hochmair et al., 2003; Pfingst et al., 2001) found that stimulating the mid region of the cochlea resulted in better speech perception. Hochmair et al., (2003) assessed speech perception in ten users of the Med-El COMBI 40+ Cl with a fixed number of equally spaced channels (8) concentrated in the basal, middle and apical regions and compared these with the users every day MAP, which had all 12 channels active. The results showed that stimulation of the apical region of the cochlea resulted in better speech understanding, and that distributing the channels over the whole length of the cochlea improved speech perception in quiet and in noise. It should be noted that the full input frequency was compressed in the test conditions which would have introduced spectral mismatch, therefore the middle array maps may have produced better speech recognition scores as it is less sensitive to spectral compression, and the changes in the place code may be minimal in comparison to the apical and basal regions (Fu and Shannon, 1999a; Fu et al., 2002)

Similarly, Pfingst et al., (2001) stimulated basal, middle, and apical regions of the cochlea by with half the electrodes activated (11) in ten subjects implanted with either the Nucleus CIs. The highest sentence recognition scores were obtained using the middle region of the electrode array, and no difference was found between the scores obtained with the apical and basal MAPs. The variations in the results of these studies may be attributed to the differences in the distribution and number of stimulating electrodes, the studies with the Nucleus devices had covered a larger portion of the cochlea compared to the MAPs used by Hochmair et al., (2003).

Other studies have investigated the use of eCAP recovery function as a predictor of preferred stimulation rate (Kiefer et al., 2001; Shpak et al., 2004). Shpak et al., (2004) compared the eCAP responses of eleven Nucleus 24 recipients using the ACE processing strategy at rates

of 900, 1200 and 1800 pps/ch to each subject's preferred stimulation rate. Consistent with the findings of Hughes et al., (2012) the eCAPs varied based on electrode location however electrodes 7, 11, and 15 (mid electrodes) were found to be predictive of preferred stimulation rate. Subjects who preferred lower stimulation rates (900 and 1200 pps) demonstrated longer eCAP recovery times than those subjects preferring a higher stimulation rate of 1800 pps. This study assessed subjective preference and no speech perception assessments were completed so it is not clear if a subject's preferred rate equates to better performance. Likewise, Keifer et al., (2001) reported an association between short recovery time constants and higher levels of speech recognition. however, as stimulation rate preferences and performance were relatively uniform across subjects eCAP RRF could not be related to preferences of speech-coding strategy.

Although high stimulation rates may improve temporal representation and stochastic responses (Rubinstein et al., 1999), the evidence base for this is currently limited. The neural survival pattern and the condition of the surviving SGNs varies considerably between subjects (Hinojosa and Lindsay, 1980; Nadol, 1997), therefore, individual variance in the electrode neural interface and the condition of the AN are likely to contribute to the trade-off between channel number and stimulation rate. As discussed in section 3.12, higher stimulation rates produce greater electrode interaction which reduces the number of functional channels (Brill et al., 1997; Boex et al., 2003; Middlebrooks, 2004), hence individual CI users may be restricted by this upper limit. Collectively, these studies demonstrate that the eCAP recovery function is a feasible measurement however, it's potential clinical application is unclear due to limited research findings and there is also insufficient evidence for eCAPs as a predictive factor for speech perception

4.7 Behavioural measures of temporal processing

Auditory temporal processing refers to the perception of sound or the alteration of sound within a restricted or defined time domain (Musiek et al., 2005). Temporal processing consists of four sub-processes:

1. Temporal Ordering

Temporal ordering (or sequencing) refers to the processing of two or more auditory stimuli in their order of occurrence in time (Pinheiro and Musiek, 1985a). Research has shown that the ability to recognise, identify and sequence auditory patterns involves cognitive processes that are require integration of information from both hemispheres across the corpus calloum

(Musiek et al.,1980). Therefore, pattern (sequencing) tests are sensitive to hemispheric lesions, as well as interhemispheric dysfunction (Musiek and Pinheiro, 1987; Musiek et al.,1990). The most widely used clinical tests of temporal ordering are the Frequency Pattern Test and the Duration Pattern Test (Emanuel et al., 2011). Both tests have been used widely in the assessment of central auditory processing disorders in subjects with peripheral hearing loss (Musiek and Pinheiro, 1987; Musiek et al., 1990). and in individuals with cerebral lesions who demonstrate temporal ordering deficits (Belmont and Handler, 1971; Karaseva, 1972; Swisher and Hirsch, 1972; DeRenzi et al., 1977).

2. Temporal Resolution

Temporal resolution (or discrimination) refers to the shortest duration of time in which a listener can discriminate between two auditory signals (Gelfand, 1998). The threshold for detection is approximately 2-3 milliseconds in NH subjects (Philips, 1999) and is known as the temporal auditory acuity or minimum integration time (Greene, 1971). The most commonly used clinical tests of temporal resolution are two measures of gap detection, the Gaps-in-Noise (GIN) test (Musiek et al., 2005) and the RGDT (Keith, 2000). Another measure of temporal discrimination is the TMTF, discussed in section 3.13, there are however, no clinically available tests using TMTF.

3. Temporal Integration

Temporal integration is caused by the summation or aggregation of neuronal activity resulting from the additional duration of sound energy (Gelfand, 1998). This results in threshold improvement as duration increases up to about 200–300 msec in NH listeners (Durrant and Lovrinic, 1995). It has been observed that as a sound is decreased to one tenth of its original duration, the subject's threshold worsens by approximately 10 dB; the reverse occurs when duration increases. This phenomenon is referred to as a time intensity trade off (Durrant and Lovrinic, 1995). This same phenomenon holds true for intensity, as the duration of a brief signal is increased at suprathreshold levels, the sound is perceived as being louder. If the duration of a stimulus is decreased to less than 20 msec, threshold levels increase in NH listeners (Durrant and Lovrinic, 1977).

4. Temporal masking

Temporal masking (obscuring of one sound by another) is the threshold shift of one sound in the presence of other subsequent stimuli. This occurs when a stimulus, generally a tone, is presented with duration and intensity sufficient to reduce the sensitivity of a stimulus presented either before

or after the initial stimulus. The effect depends on the frequency region of the masking tone, with the most significant loss of sensitivity occurring within the same frequency region. Several parameters determine temporal masking, including the time interval between the masker and signal, masker level, masker duration, and the acoustic similarity between the masker and the signal. When these parameters are kept constant, temporal masking has been shown to decrease rapidly as the time interval between the masker and signal is increases (Durrant and Lovrinic, 1995). Geland (1998) found that the amount of masking increases as the intensity of the masker increases, however the relationship was nonlinear, a 10 decibel increase in masking level resulted in a threshold shift of approximately 3 decibels.

Currently, clinically feasible measures of temporal processing are limited to temporal ordering and resolution. Although there are a number of paradigms reported in the literature for assessment of temporal integration and temporal masking they are not clinically feasible due to the necessary equipment interfacing, as well as subject training and time requirements (Musiek et al., 2005).

The integrity of these sub-processes are essential for phoneme discrimination, speech in noise perception, duration discrimination, rhythm perception, and prosodic distinction (Phillips, 2002; Chermak and Musiek, 1997). Temporal resolution defines the capacity the auditory system has to detect the occurrence of two consecutive auditory events and, consequently, avoid them being detected as a single event (William et al., 1972; Gelfand, 2004). It is a critical skill for speech recognition, which depends on the listener being able to process temporal information at varying stimulation rates. In particular, fluctuations in the speech envelope contain lexical and syntactic information; segmental cues such as gap duration provide information about phoneme identity; and sub segmental information derived from the periodic vibrations of the vocal folds conveys voice pitch and sound quality (Teoh et al., 2003; Munson and Nelson, 2005; Langovan and Stuart, 2008). Furthermore, there is some evidence to suggest that normal temporal resolution allows the listener to detect fluctuations in the dips of background noise in order to acquire segmental cues which is important for speech recognition in noise (Bernstein and Grant, 2009; Rosen et al., 2013).

GDTs are a psychophysical task which measures temporal resolution and are determined by the shortest interval a person can detect between a pair of stimuli (Green, 1971; Eddins et al., 1992; Moore, 2005), and are used clinically as an index of the integrity of central auditory temporal processing mechanisms. Gap detection tasks which require the subject to detect the

presence of a gap between two sounds that are spectrally identical, stimulate the same set of SGNs and are referred to as a within channel task. The detection of the gap is thought to be limited only by the ability of the SGNs to encode the onset of the second stimuli (post gap) while recovering from the first stimuli (Phillips et al., 1997; Chatterjee et al., 1998). Within channel gap detection tasks therefore involve recovery from forward masking (Kirby and Middlebrooks, 2010). In contrast when the two stimuli are spectrally different, the subject is required to detect a gap between the offset of excitation in one frequency region, and an onset in a different channel, this is referred to as a between channel task (Phillips et al., 1997). Temporal resolution is therefore completed across channels requiring more processing at higher central levels as the stimuli are processed through independent neural pathways. GDT can therefore indicate the degree of neural overlap between the two stimuli (Heinz et al., 1996).

For within channel tasks NH listeners can detect gaps between 3-5 ms at moderate to high presentation levels regardless of the frequency of the stimuli (Penner, 1976; Fitzgibbons, 1983; Florentine and Buus, 1984; Hall et al., 1996; Shailer and Moore, 1983). However, when the two stimuli that bound the gap are different spectrally or in level, GDTs increase to 30-50ms (Divenyi and Danner, 1977; Divenyi and Sachs, 1978; Formby and Forrest, 1991; Formby et al., 1992). In CI users, Chatterjee et al., (1998) showed that within channel GDTs were longer when the stimuli bounding the gap was of unequal amplitude or unequal pulse rate. They concluded that the perceptual discontinuity caused by dissimilar markers complicated the gap detection task, and suggested that under these conditions GDTs may be a function of limitations caused by peripheral mechanisms as well as central processing. Figure 26 shows a schematic depiction of the differences between the two gap detection designs.



Figure 26: Illustration of gap detection stimuli for within-channel and between-channel designs. In the within-channel design, the leading and trailing markers of the gap have the same spectral content with the same duration. In the between-channel design, the leading and trailing markers of the gap differ, in this case the leading marker is shorter in duration that of the trailing one.

In NH listeners the neural responses from the peripheral auditory system to the brain operate synchronously and are able to switch off and back on within the time frame of the gap (Moore 1993). Forward masking and gap detection likely result from the same neural mechanisms, as these stimuli share a common temporal structure and have been shown to give consistent results in human psychophysical studies (Plomp, 1964). However, in subjects with SNHL alterations in peripheral pathways and central hearing abilities are likely to contribute to deficits in temporal resolution. They are also likely to affect both bottom-up sensory processing and top-down cognitive modulation of sounds, which can result in elevated GDTs in CI users (Kral and Eggermont, 2007). Previous studies have shown that hearing loss can lead to degraded neural encoding of temporal cues, psychoacoustic temporal processing abilities, and decreased speech perception performance in hearing impaired individuals (George et al, 2006; Anderson et al, 2013). When SGNs are unable to respond synchronously, sensitivity is compromised and it is not possible for listeners to reliably and consistently detect gaps, making it more challenging for them to detect shorter gaps.

The effect of stimulation rate on GDT in CI users has been investigated with mixed results (Preece and Tyler, 1989; Busby and Clark, 1999; van Wieringen and Wouters, 1999). All of these studies measured GDTs at stimulation rates no higher than 1250 pps/ch, hence SGNs may not have achieved stochastic independence. Wieringen and Wouters (1999), found GDTS of 2-8ms at 400 pps/ch. Although a consistent relationship between GDT and stimulation rate has been found, overall psychophysical studies of gap detection, show a trend towards increased temporal acuity (decreased GDTs) associated with higher pulse rates van Wieringen and Wouters 1999; Grose and Buss, 2007; Garadat et al., 2010). One possible explanation for this is that the recovery from forward masking might be faster when pulse rates are higher.

In CI users, the majority of previous studies have measured GDTs using direct electrical stimulation delivered to an electrode contact (Shannon, 1989; Garadat and Pfingst, 2011; Bierer et al, 2015) and only a few have measured GDTs using acoustic stimuli presented through a CI speech processor (Tyler et al, 1989; Muchnik et al, 1994; Wei et al, 2007, Zhang et al, 2013), therefore GDTs recorded using these approaches differ considerably. Unlike the electrical GDT that can only reflect restraints of temporal processing abilities in the auditory pathway, the acoustic GDT reflects both the limitations of CI speech processing strategy and the limitations of temporal processing abilities of the auditory system, which may account for some of the variability in the results of the above studies.

Electrically measured GDTs in CI users appear much lower and do not show as much variability as those measured acoustically and are similar to NH listeners. Studies have shown that the GDTs of post-lingually deaf adults using electric stimulation (Moore and Glasberg, 1988; Preece and Tyler, 1989; Shannon, 1989, Garadat and Pfingst, 2011; Bierer et al, 2015) are similar to NH listeners using acoustic (Fitzgibbons and Gordon-Salant, 1987; Fitzgibbons and Wightman, 1982; Florentine and Buus, 1984; Hall and Grose, 1997; Penner, 1977) ranging from 1.8 – 32.1 ms for different pulse rates and stimulus durations (Busby and Clark 1999). These results infer that that temporal resolution as measured by electrical gap detection is not impaired by peripheral damage.

In comparison, GDTs measured with an acoustic stimuli showed CI users had a longer average GDT of 30 ms, ranging from 4 to 128 ms (Tyler et al., 1989; Wei et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2013; Blakenship et al., 2016). Given that CI users perceive speech that is processed through their speech processor for day to day listening it seems reasonable to evaluate the

acoustic GDT as it has the advantage of reflecting the limitation of CI processing as well as the limitations of temporal processing abilities of the auditory system. The difference in GDTs between the two stimulation methods may suggest that the limitations of CI speech processing strategies may further contribute to deficits of temporal processing. Gaudrain (2016) investigated the origin of the differences between the GDTs obtained by direct electrical stimulation and stimulation via a clinical processor and compared the resulting electrodograms. The results showed that certain aspects of front end processing likely related to automatic gain control, reduce the depth of the gap, which is consistent with a reduction in gap detectability.

Due the differences in the stimulation approach (electric vs acoustic) and the differences in speech materials used across studies, there are mixed results in the correlation between the GDT and speech perception in CI users. Muchnik et al (1994) found a negative correlation between open set speech recognition and GDT. Busby and Clark (1999) found a significant negative correlation between the GDT and word scores for Bamford-Kowal-Bench (BKB) sentences in the auditory-visual condition. Tyler et al (1989) reported that individuals with acoustic GDTs less than 40 ms showed a wide range of performance on speech perception measures whereas subjects with GDTs greater than 40 ms showed poor speech recognition. More recently Blakenship et al (2016) compared acoustically measured GDTs in CI users and NH listeners and found that CI users displayed temporal processing impairments when GDTs were greater than 20ms and poorer speech performance than NH listeners. These results support the theory that temporal processing abilities in CI users contribute to the individual differences in speech performance.

4.8 Gaps in knowledge:

The literature has therefore raised the following questions:

1. Can eCAP recovery functions be measured reliably in CI users using NRT

2. Does eCAP recovery function inform us of the underlying neural physiology in CI users

3. Does eCAP recovery function predict psychophysical performance as measured by GDT? And if it does is that because the neural circuits that mediate recovery function and temporal processing are the same in individual subjects? 4. Does eCAP recovery function predict speech performance? And if it does can this information be utilised to optimise programming parameters in CI devices to enhance performance?

5. Do acoustically measured GDT thresholds inform us regarding temporal processing abilities in CI users?

6. Do these behavioural measures of temporal processing predict speech performance?

4.9 Conceptual model and hypotheses

To answer these questions, the conceptual model shown in figure 27 was designed, which aims to utilise the eCAP recovery function to measure the status of the underlying neural physiology in individual CI users. It was hypothesised that neural health is a key contributor to behavioural measures of temporal processing; hence, deficits in neural function associated with longer durations of auditory deafness are likely to be correlated to behaviourally measured performance of temporal processing as measured by RGDT. Furthermore, it was hypothesised that both measures could in turn affect speech performance as measured by AB word phoneme scores.



Figure 27: The conceptual model for an experiment where measurement (1) predicts (2) and both (1) and (2) predict speech performance (3). The factors that are likely to influence each measurement and how they may be associated with each other are discussed below:

The following hypotheses were drawn:

1. Longer durations of auditory deprivation are more likely to significantly compromise refractory properties due to the predictable pathological changes and associated neural degeneration in the auditory periphery. It was hypothesised that these alterations would result in longer recovery function time constants in pre-lingually deafened CI users with low stimulation rates, as measured by the eCAP recovery function.

2.. As the same neural deficits are likely to also compromise central auditory processing, it was hypothesised that the eCAP recovery function measurement would be predictive of the behaviourally measured temporal processing abilities in the same individual and longer GDTs were expected in individuals with pre-lingual deafness and low stimulation rates

3. It was hypothesised that both objective (eCAP recovery function) and behavioural (RGDT) measures would predict speech perception as measured by AB word phoneme scores. Lower speech recognition scores were anticipated in individuals with pre-lingual deafness and low stimulation rates (who based on the above hypothesises would demonstrate longer eCAP recovery function time constants and longer GDTs in comparison to post-lingually deafened subjects).

The next chapter describes the experimental design the methods used for this study.

Chapter 5: Methodology

In the previous chapter several questions were formulated based on the gaps identified in the literature. This chapter details the experimental design and methods developed to answer the questions raised and outlines a test-battery approach which investigates the relationship between objective and behavioural measures of temporal processing and their contribution to speech perception, providing justification for certain methodological decisions.

5.1 Developments in methodology

Different approaches were considered for the objective and behavioural measurements of temporal processing. The advantage of eCAPs over other electrophysiological measurements such as electrically evoked auditory brainstem responses or electrically evoked Cortical potentials is that eCAPs are evoked from the ANFs and therefore provide a more direct measure of the residual number and quality of SGCs, which constitute the electrode neural interface. Additionally, the measurement is fast and requires minimal patient co-operation; and does not require special equipment to be obtained as is the case with electrically evoked auditory brainstem responses or electrically evoked cortical potentials. Furthermore, the eCAP response is not affected by factors such a level of alertness and muscle artefact, both of which can impact the quality of the responses obtained from electrically evoked auditory brainstem responses or electrically evoked Cortical potentials.

Most of the studies reviewed in chapter 4 used relatively heterogeneous groups of CI users, and of significant importance to the present study, most had CI users that used different cochlear implant devices, hence used different signal processing parameters. In order to control for these variations, the present study reports findings from subjects' with either the Nucleus CI532 or Nucleus CI512 device. In order to ensure the effects of front end processing were uniform, every subject was tested with the same clinical processor, a CP910 speech processor, with fixed microphone sensitivity and orientation to ensure any differences in processor technology, such a microphone quality and location did not contribute to the variability in behavioural responses; and all subjects used the ACE speech coding strategy.

5.2 Pilot Study

Prior to the main experiment a small pilot study with 5 CI users was undertaken to assess how robust the test methodology was and to ensure appropriate modifications could be made prior to the completion of the main experiment. As it was anticipated that the main experiment would

have a range of participants with varying durations of hearing loss and stimulation rates it was important to check the feasibility and range of the proposed measures. The main aims of the pilot study were:

1. The duration of time it would take to undertake the experiment

2. To assist with the sample size calculation for the main experiment

3. As discussed in chapter 4, eCAP measurements can be used for several purposes although little information is available on the clinical utility of the eCAP refractory recovery function in CI users and it is not clear if it can be employed in a routine clinical setting. Previous studies have shown a lower success rate for obtaining responses (Bostros and Psarros 2010) when compared to threshold eCAP measurements, the pilot study therefore aimed to determine if it was feasible to obtain eCAP recovery function measurements successfully using the existing methods in the NRT software and to see if any of the test parameters required optimisation.

5.3 General method

The following section outlines the methods used for the pilot and main experiment, there were some modifications made to the methodology following the pilot study and these are outlined in the introduction of the main experiment. All tests were completed in a sound proof audiology booth.

5.3.1 The eCAP recovery function

All the subject's in the pilot and main study were recipients of Cochlear Nucleus Ltd devices. Subjects were unilaterally implanted with either a Nucleus profile (CI 512 or CI532) Contour Advance all of which are modiolar electrode arrays. Therefore, for the purpose of both experiments, the eCAP recovery function was measured using advanced NRT in Custom Sound Electrophysiology (CS EP) Software Version 5.2 (Cochlear Ltd), which controlled for stimulation and recording parameters, and was installed on a computer coupled with a portable programming interface and a CP910 Sound Processor (Cochlear Ltd). This allowed for a better comparison of results as it ruled out differences in technology between CI manufacturers that could contribute to variations in results; such as the type of speech processor, number of electrodes, electrode array position, channel frequency allocation and the software algorithms used to calculate neural recovery functions.

Each eCAP recovery function measurement involves presenting a masker and probe stimuli to an electrode pair and subsequently recording the resultant neural response (see chapter 4). The recording electrode was set two electrodes away apically from the stimulation active electrode, which is the default setting in CS EP software. The masker precedes the probe stimuli and the software automatically varies the MPI as well as the pulse width (pulse width per phase). Once the probe stimulus is completed, a measurement delay is introduced so that the stimulus artefact can decay which prevents saturation of the measurement amplifier. At the end of the delay interval, the compound action potential is measured as a sequence of 16 voltage samples collected at regular intervals corresponding to the sampling period (Lai 2009). The amplitude of each voltage sample is coded for transmission back to the speech processor by 16 pairs of pulses at the sampling period. At the default sampling rate of 10Hz, the 16 samples span a measurement period about 1.5 millisecond (Lai 2009). The probe stimulation rate defines the time from one probe stimulus to the next probe stimulus and the masker rate defines the time between consecutive masker stimuli (Lai 2009), see figure 28.



Figure 28: NRT stimulation and measurement sequence. Constant interphase Gap (IPG) of 25 µs is used for the masker and probe stimuli. 1) The MPI measured from the end of the masker to the onset of the probe, 2) The measurement delay started at the end of the probe stimulus.3) Stimulation rate time is as the interval between the start of the probe stimulus to the start of the next probe stimulus

In the CS EP software electrodes 6, 10, 16 and 19 were selected for eCAP recovery function measurements as these channels have the allocated frequencies (0.5,1,2,4 kHz) that correspond with the test frequencies on the RGDT (see table 3). Higher stimulus levels evoke larger eCAPs and thereby clearer recovery functions. Recovery function is dependent on the intensity of the probe stimulus, therefore, indirectly on loudness, hence for each subject eCAP recovery function measurements were completed at the current level they identified as the loudest acceptable presentation level (LAPL). To determine the subjects LAPL at each electrode, stimulation was initiated at 100 current levels, and increased in 5 current level steps until a response trace was observed and the subject indicated that the presentation level was
at a comfortably acceptable loudness level; the eCAP recovery function measurements were completed at this LAPL. Each recovery function consists of eCAP measurements obtained at MPIs ranging from 100 to 10,000 milliseconds. The NRT software automatically fits the recovery function measurement into an exponential function, using a mathematical model proposed by Müller-Deile et al (2003) which defines that:

F Masker Probe Interval (MPI) = A (1-exp [(-1/tau) (MPI-T0)])

	Electrode 19	Electrode 16	Electrode 10	Electrode 6
Lower Frequency (Hz)	563	938	2188	3938
Upper Frequency (Hz)	688	1063	2563	4563
Corresponding RGDT frequency (Hz)	500	1000	2000	4000

Table 3: The lower and upper frequency distributions of electrodes 19,16,10 and 6, which correspond to the test frequencies used in the RGDT 500,1000, 2000 and 4000Hz.

The recovery function has three parameters: 'T0', 'A' and 'tau'. T0 is the absolute refractory period (in μ s); A is the maximum amplitude of the neural response at the maximum saturation level (in μ V); and tau is the recovery time constant during the relative refractory period (in μ s), see figure 29.



Figure 29: Fitted exponential recovery function: F (MPI) = A (1-exp [(-1/tau) (MPI-T0)]) at a reference MPI of 300 μ s. The neural response becomes measurable above the threshold T0 and the eCAP amplitude increases with a time constant (Tau) up to an asymptotical limit, the saturation level A. Parameters: T0 = 496.41 μ s; A = 172.58 μ V, Tau = 822.36 μ s

5.3.2 The eCAP recovery function stimuli and recording of parameters

In order to record a valid eCAP the following recording parameters were controlled according to the methodology described by Abbas et al. (1999) and Lai et al (2009). Biphasic stimulus pulses with a pulse width of 25 µs per phase and an interphase gap of 7 µs were used and the frame rate was 80Hz between the stimuli. The recording electrode was located two locations apically from the stimulated electrode. The default amplifier gain was set at 60dB and the number of sweeps (averaging) was set at 100, averaging assists with the removal of the noise that accompanies the eCAP response. The eCAPs were measured and recorded (2 electrodes apically from the stimulating electrode) in response to a stimuli presented in monopolar mode at electrode 6 (basal), electrode 10 (mid), electrode 16 (apical) and electrode 19 (apical), the extra-cochlear ball electrode (MP1) served as the reference electrode. NRT uses a forward masking paradigm described in chapter 4 which consists of eCAP recordings under four stimulus frames to remove stimulus artifact: probe alone (A), masker plus- probe (B), masker alone (C), and zero-amplitude pulse (D). The masker stimulus level was set 10 current levels above the probe stimulus level, by using a masker level greater than the probe level allows adequate forward masking to be achieved (Lai et al, 2009). Forward masking is

also dependent on the MPI, at shorter MPIs up to 300 μ s facilitation effects are observed, which is thought to be caused by residual subthreshold depolarisation of ANs in which the masker stimulus does not generate an action potential (Finley et al., 1997), hence this depolarisation facilitates the probability of an action potential to the probe stimulus. Therefore, some ANs will be excited by the masker and go into absolute refractoriness, while others are depolarised below the excitation threshold which will facilitate the response to the consecutive probe stimulus. The absolute refractory period lasts between MPIs of 300 – 500 μ s, which is followed by the relative refractory period at MPIs >500 μ s and lasts up to 3-4 μ s. The default MPI for the reference measurement was 300 μ s. Changes were not made to the default parameters as the aim was to investigate if modifications were needed to these defaults based on the results of the pilot study.

5.3.3 Random Gap Detection Test

The RGDT is designed to identify temporal processing deficits that may be linked to poor phonologic processing and auditory discrimination, it is viewed as a test of temporal integrity at the level of the cortex (Keith, 2000). Previous studies have linked elevated GDTs to central auditory processing disorders, language delays, and aging-related decrements in temporal processing (Jerger et al., 2002; Smith et al., 2008; Lister et al., 2011b). Data on GDTs in Cl users has been relatively limited with mixed results, as mentioned in chapter 4, this may partially be attributed to the variety of stimulus parameters used in studies. The purpose of the RGDT is to identify the listener's auditory gap detection threshold and is the most commonly used clinical measure of temporal resolution. It has been used extensively in diagnosing central auditory processing deficits (Jerger et al, 2002; Chermak and Lee, 2005; Queiroz et al., 2010; Iliadou et al., 2014); however, it has limited use in the CI population (Zhang, 2013). There is currently limited data on the sensitivity of the RGDT (Chermak and Lee, 2005). The validity of the RGDT's ability to correctly identify individuals with temporal resolution difficulties was established by examining its predictive validity, using the Auditory Fusion Test-Revised (The RGDT is a revision of this test) as the criterion measure. Keith (2000) reported that gap detection thresholds obtained on the RGDT for tonal stimuli were comparable to fusion thresholds reported for the Auditory Fusion Test-Revised as published by McCroskey and Kidder (1980).

The RGDT, like eCAP recovery, depends on forward masking, where one stimulus (masker) suppresses the detection of the sound stimulus (probe) and is a within channel task (see figure 27). The shorter the interval between the masker and probe the greater the level of suppression, and the greater likelihood of both stimuli activating the same ANFs, with the

RGDT as the stimuli are identical (within channel) the task relies on the ability of the ANs to encode the start of the second stimuli whilst recovering from the first stimuli, and therefore requires recovery from forward masking (Kirby & Middlebrooks, 2010). Normal GDTs are typically less than 20ms and are vital for speech perception which requires rapid separation of speech segments.

Several studies have demonstrated that temporal resolution improves substantially with increasing stimulus level (Preece and Tyler,1989; Shannon,1989; Pfingst et al., 2007; Galvin and Fu, 2009). In a CI increasing the current level leads to the recruitment of more ANFs and increases the perception of loudness. Variations in loudness growth are likely due to the differing patterns of neural survival among CI users. Previous studies have shown that elevated GDTs and limited temporal processing are related to poor neural function (Moore, 1996; Moore and Oxenham 1998). It is plausible that GDTs obtained at low stimulation levels are more sensitive to the effects of local neural pathology as stimulation is more focused with less spread of excitation hence more precise stimulation of a narrow subset of ANFs close to the recording electrode. The RGDT was administered at 60dB HL in this experiment, as this level would likely demonstrate the best performance of temporal resolution in all subjects.

The RGDT was presented via free field sound speakers 1 meter away from test ear in the sound field through an audiometer using a CD player (using RGDT on the Auditec St. Louis CD) after calibration was successfully completed. The advantage of measuring GDT acoustically is that it is reflective of the limitations imposed by front end signal processing in speech processors as well as those imposed by electrical stimulation, hence results are able to provide information on temporal processing skills in CI users for routine daily use. During the practice screen, the researcher provided the subject information on the test and ensured they had a good understanding of the task and were able to respond appropriately. The subjects were instructed to verbally identify if they heard one or two sounds or hold up one finger if they heard one tone, or hold up two fingers if they heard two tones. The practice and main section of the test consists of pairs of pure tones separated by silent intervals, the silent intervals for the practice section begin at $0 \mu s$ and gradually increase to 40 ms (0, 2, 5, 10, 15, 20, 25, 30 or 40 ms). In the main section of the test, the silent intervals were presented in random order for each of the following pure tones, 500 Hz, 1000 Hz, 2000 Hz, and 4000 Hz, which were tested in sequence and not counter balanced across subjects. Each stimulus in the signal pairs has the same frequency and the same duration (17 ms, including a 1-ms risefall time). A 4.5 second inter-trial interval was used to allow subjects time to respond between presentations. The practice as well as the main section of the test (each frequency) was only

administered once. The smallest detectable gap was scored based on the subject's response for each frequency and compound score was also calculated across the four frequencies. For subjects who were unable to detect gaps at 40 ms, the RGDT-Expanded Test was administered which has longer silent intervals between stimuli, 50, 60, 70, 80, 90, 100, 150, 200, or 300 ms. At each frequency the RGDT threshold was calculated as the interval where the subject consistently identified two rather than one tones.

For scoring, at each frequency the GDT was defined as the interval where the subject consistently identified two rather than one tones. When completing the RGDT, it is not unusual for there to be uncertainty at the threshold between one and two tones, and some subjects may be inconsistent in their decision on whether they heard one or two tones. Below are examples of scoring in such cases, responses marked in red are considered the GDT:

If the subject reports hearing gaps as below:

Gap interval	0	2	5	10	15	20	25	30	40
msec									
Response	1	2	1	1	1	2	2	2	2

The response at 2msec would be considered an outlier and the GDT would be scored at 20 msec.

If the subject reports hearing gaps as below:

Gap interval	0	2	5	10	15	20	25	30	40
msec									
Response	2	1	2	2	2	2	2	2	2

The response at 0msec would be considered an outlier and the GDT would be scores at 5msec.

If the subject reports hearing gaps as below:

Gap interval	0	2	5	10	15	20	25	30	40
msec									
Response	1	2	1	1	2	2	1	1	2

The GDT would be scored at 40msec

If the subject reports hearing gaps as below:

Gap interval	0	2	5	10	15	20	25	30	40
msec									
Response	1	1	1	1	2	1	2	1	1

The GDT is not established and the Expanded GDT would need to be administered as this subject has a GDT >40 msec.

If the subject reports hearing gaps as below:

Gap interval	0	2	5	10	15	20	25	30	40
msec									
Response	1	1	2	1	2	2	2	2	2

The GDT would be scored as 15 msec as the subject displays uncertain responses at 5 and 10msec but more consistent responses at 15 msec and above.

Shannon (1989) obtained electrical GDTs for both closely spaced (bipolar) and widely spaced (monopolar) electrode configurations to assess the effects of the electrical field and neural activation using sinusoidal and pulsatile stimuli. GDT were found to be strongly dependent on stimulus level and the shortest gaps (1.5 - 3.1 ms) did not differ based on the separation between the stimulating and recording electrode. This study used direct electrical stimulation and measurements were completed with the stimuli marking the gap at a single electrode pair therefore across channel processing was not assessed. Measurements were also obtained from two different devices, the GDTs were lower for the Symbion device (monopolar, sinusoidal stimulation) compared to the Nucleus device (bipolar, biphasic stimulation). This difference in GDTs was as expected, as monopolar thresholds tend to be lower due to widespread neural activation compared to bipolar thresholds, which are the result of more focused electrical stimulation that activates fewer ANs (van den Honert and Stypulkowski, 1987; Shannon, 1983), and sinusoidal GDTs are slower than or equal to pulsatile GDTs for the same stimulating frequency (Shannon, 1985). The stimulation mode for all of the subjects in this study was monopolar mode (MP1 +2) which is the clinical default stimulation mode for Cochlear Nucleus devices.

5.3.4 Speech perception tests

The most commonly used clinical tests to assess speech perception in adult CI users are sentence and word lists. In the UK the most frequently used standardised tests to assess candidacy and monitor progress are the Bamford-Kowal-Bench (BKB) sentences (Bench et al., 1979) and Arthur Boothroyd (AB) word lists (Boothroyd, 1968). BKB sentences are highly

predictable as they contain contextual cues, therefore individuals with higher cognition and linguistic knowledge are able to predict the content of the sentence despite only accessing minimal speech cues (Kalikow et al., 1977). When administering BKB sentences in quiet for high preforming CI users it is easy to reach a ceiling which means the test lacks sensitivity in tracking progress over time. Furthermore, BKB sentences may not reflect the speech perception abilities in non-native English speakers and in subjects who are poorer performers.

AB Word lists therefore provide a better measure of speech perception because context cues are not available and are therefore not predictable. An additional advantage of word lists is that they can be scored based on the proportion of phonemes correct rather than words correct and therefore provide a better indication of speech performance. Scoring in phonemes is appropriate for a wide range of people and is also suitable for participants with English as a second language or pre-lingually deafened adults who are unable to report whole words. For these reasons AB word lists in quiet were used to assess speech perception in our subject group. There is minimal evidence on the correlation between the objective and behavioural measures of temporal resolution and speech perception in quiet, therefore speech perception was assessed in quiet in this experiment. It is likely that speech testing in noise will be more difficult for CI users and temporal resolution may play a greater role in predicting performance in more complex listening environments, however, we propose that the results of this study may form the basis of further studies investigating speech perception in noise. An additional reason for completing speech testing in quiet is that it allowed for the best performance in an optimal listening environment across subjects. Pre-lingual subjects who are usually at the lower end of the performance scale would have been unlikely to have complete speech perception testing in noise.

The AB word test comprises fifteen lists containing ten words, each word is made up of three phonemes. Each list has a total of 30 phonemes constructed from the same 10 vowels and 20 consonants. The AB word test (female speaker, audition alone) was administered via free field speakers 1 meter away from the test ear through a CD player. An AB word list was presented at sound presentation levels, 70, 60, 50, and 40dBA. The participant was asked to listen to each word in the list and then repeat what they heard, each word was scored based on the phonemes identified correctly, a maximum score of 30 phonemes was achievable per list presented. The presentation level was decreased in 10dB steps for each subsequent word list until the minimal presentation level of 40dBA was reached.

5.4 Results of the pilot study

Of the 5 subjects in the pilot study, three were pre-lingually deaf and two were post-lingually deaf. The results of the pilot experiment are shown in table 4 and figure 30. The eCAP recovery function was obtained successfully in all five subjects, however in some subjects the eCAP recovery function could not be measured at all electrodes, on a two occasions this was due to electrode compliance issues and on all other occasions it would appear that the stimulation current level at the test electrode was not adequate to elicit a neural response. In the pilot study eCAP recovery function was obtained for 45/60 of the measurements completed, providing a 75% success rate. The eCAP recovery function measurement took approximately 10 minutes to complete at four electrode locations and was not time consuming in a clinical setting.

	Subject 1	Subject 2	Subject 3	Subject 4	Subject 5
Deafness onset	Post-lingual	Pre-lingual	Pre-lingual	Post-lingual	Pre-lingual
Electrode 19 Tau	1075.27 ms	515.38 ms	899.70 ms	82.10 ms	1104.46 ms
Electrode 19 T0	536.74 ms	374.41 ms	187.05 ms	569.95 ms	494.72 ms
Electrode 19 Amplitude	80.36 mv	191.40 mv	54.58 mv	14.97 mv	96.96 mv
Electrode 16 Tau	822.36 ms	674.06 ms	Response not obtained	Response not obtained	772.01 ms
Electrode 16 T0	496.41 ms	330.99 ms	Response not obtained	Response not obtained	647.29 ms
Electrode 16 Amplitude	172.58 mv	177.32 mv	Response not obtained	Response not obtained	74.44 mv
Electrode 10 Tau	1212.70 ms	Response not obtained	1257.30 ms	729.01 ms	Response not obtained
Electrode 10 T0	520.90 ms	Response not obtained	528.81 ms	417.20 ms	Response not obtained
Electrode 10 Amplitude	66.74 mv	Response not obtained	21.70 mv	27.53 mv	Response not obtained

Electrode 6 Tau	1507.44 ms	13.71 ms	1181.59 ms	558.64 ms	Response not obtained
Electrode 6 T0	241.40 ms	548.72 ms	560.46 ms	449.03 ms	Response not obtained
Electrode 6 Amplitude	47.19 mv	16.54 mv	21.70 mv	42.79 mv	Response not obtained
Compound RDGT Score	30 ms	55 ms	60 ms	20 ms	60 ms
Compound AB Word Score	50%	23%	10%	57%	42%

Table 4. eCAP recovery function measurements and mean RGDT and AB word phonemescores for subjects in the pilot study.



Figure 30: The mean RGDT and AB word phoneme scores for the 5 subjects in the pilot study. The red circles represent the pre-lingual subjects and the green circles represent the postlingual subjects. The pre-lingual subjects have larger GDTs and lower AB word phoneme scores when compared to the post-lingual subjects.

The results of the pilot study were in line with expectation, and appeared to support the hypotheses proposed for the main study. Figure 30 shows that the pre-lingual subjects had longer RGDT thresholds with lower AB word phoneme scores in comparison to the post-lingual

subjects. The average RGDT thresholds were higher in the pre-lingual subjects when compared to the post-lingual subjects and the average AB word phoneme scores were lower in the pre-lingual subjects when compared to the post-lingual subjects. Based on the existing methodology the evidence from the pilot study demonstrated that all the measurements were appropriate to answer the questions raised in chapter 4.

5.5 Subjects and sample size calculation

The sample size calculation used to determine subject numbers for the main experiment was based on the mean RDGT and mean AB word scores obtained from the pilot study. Sample size was calculated based on an anticipated large size regression effect, f2 = 0.70, the required sample to obtain a power of 80% was 18.

Consequently, 18 subjects (13 females and 5 males, mean age of 64.5 years, minimum age 31 years, maximum age 90 years) were recruited between August 2018 - January 2019 to the main study from the Auditory Implant Service at St George's University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, following ethical approval from NHS National Research Ethics, reference 18/LO/12/41, local safety and ethics committee approval and from the University's Research Governance Office. See Appendix A.

5.6 Study participants

Understanding the prediction of performance was of most importance in this experimental work therefore subjects were recruited on the basis that their underlying physiology would be the main predictor of performance. Subjects were therefore recruited by convenience sampling and stratified by deafness onset and stimulation rate. For the purpose of this experimental work pre-lingual CI users had congenital HL or HL that occurred before the acquisition of language and post-lingual CI users had HL that occurred after the acquisition of language at any age. It was expected that the pre-lingual group would demonstrate larger neural deficits impacting performance due to longer periods of auditory deprivation in comparison to the post-lingual group of subjects. Subjects were not paid to participate and were required to provide fully informed consent based on the safety and ethics application in order to participate in the study. Subjects had a minimum of 6 months' use with their CI to ensure their impedance profile was stable. Fluctuations in impedance and eCAP measurements are often observed in the early stages of CI users to acclimatise to their device before using the signal provided by the CI for speech discrimination. Additionally, it can

take pre-lingually deafened adults a longer time to acclimatise to a CI. Therefore, to obtain successful eCAP recovery measurement and accurate measures of behavioural temporal resolution and speech performance data was not collected from CI users who had less than 6 months of use with their device. Each subject had a fully inserted CI electrode array, with 22 intra cochlear electrodes and two extra cochlear electrodes that deliver stimulation in monopolar (MP) mode (Abbas et al. 1999) which was the default stimulation mode for all subjects. CI users who had partial insertion of a cochlear implant array, where all the electrodes cannot be accommodated in the cochlea were excluded from the study. In this group of people studies have shown that speech performance is poorer due to pitch mismatch therefore including these cases in the study was likely to skew the performance data. All subjects used the Advanced Combination Encoder (ACE) strategy and English was the first language for all subjects. No subjects were lost to follow up as data was collected at one visit, which lasted approximately 45 minutes.

Medical records and clinical history was reviewed for all subjects recruited to the study to ensure they met the inclusion criteria and to confirm accuracy for variables such as deafness onset. Of the 18 subjects that were recruited, 7 were pre-lingually deaf and 11 were post-lingually deaf, ideally both groups would have an equal number of subjects that are age matched but this was not possible as the recruiting centre had a fewer number of pre-lingual adult subjects that could be recruited when compared to post-lingual adults.

5.7 Main experiment

Based on the observations and methodological issues that were experienced in the pilot study the following changes were made to the general procedures for the main experiment:

Most clinical testing with CI users is conducted in soundfield but during the pilot study there was the presence of a low level hum from the sound field speakers which appeared to mask the presentation of shorter gaps on the RGDT and blur the AB word phoneme presentation at lower presentation levels; therefore, circumaural headphones that fit well around the speech processor were used in the main experiment. Calibration was completed with the test speech processor by using a custom leaf from the processor to the line of the operating computer. This had the added advantage of ensuring the contra-lateral ear did not contribute to results, especially in cases where there was some residual hearing.

5.8 Analysis

Before analysis the gathered data was prepared and the dataset was checked for missing data and outliers. The data was then analysed using statistical software SPSS (version 26) and the results of the experiment and analyses are presented in the next chapter.

Chapter 6: Results

This chapter is divided into several sections and provides the results obtained from the main experiment as follows:

Section 6.1 provides information on the subjects recruited to the study and provides details of the descriptive and statistical analysis used to assess the results.

The aim of analyses in section 6.2 was to explore the effects of deafness onset and stimulation rate on each parameter of the eCAP recovery function measurement and explore individual differences related to the hypotheses outline in section 4 and summarised below:

• The eCAP recovery function will be quicker in subjects with post-lingual deafness who have a high stimulation rate compared to subjects with pre-lingual deafness with low stimulation rates.

The aim of the analyses in section 6.3 was to explore the effects of deafness onset and stimulation rate on the RGDT thresholds in order to explore the individual difference in temporal resolution related to the hypotheses outlined in section 4 and summarised below:

• RGDT thresholds will be shorter at all frequencies in subjects with post-lingual deafness who have high stimulation rates compared to subjects with pre-lingual deafness with low stimulation rates.

The aim of the analyses in section 6.4 was to explore the effects of deafness onset and stimulation rate on the AB word phoneme scores in order to explore the individual differences in speech perception related to the hypotheses outlined in section 4 and summarised below:

• AB word phoneme scores will be higher in subjects with post-lingual deafness who have high stimulation rates compared to subjects with pre-lingual deafness with low stimulation rates.

Subsequently, in section 6.5 the results of multiple linear regression analyses are presented which explore the relationship between the variables that predict performance of eCAP recovery function, RGDT thresholds and AB word phoneme scores.

The dataset for this thesis - DOI: https://doi.org/10.5258/SOTON/D1558

6.1 Subject details

General details and values for the key variables for each subject are shown in table 5, the sample consists of 13 female subjects and 5 male subjects (with a mean age of 64.5 years, minimum age 31 years, maximum age 90 years) who are categorised by deafness onset (prelingual or post-lingual hearing loss) and by the rate of their MAP, those with rates of 900 pps/ch were classified as high rate and those with rates of 500 and 250 pps/ch were classified as low rate. The pre-lingual group consisted of 7 subjects (6 females and 1 male) with a rate of 900 pps/ch (2 females), 500 pps/ch (4 female) and 250 pps/ch (1 male). The post-lingual group consisted of 11 subjects (7 females and 4 males) with a rate of 900 pps/ch (6 females, 3 males), 500 pps/ch (1 female and 1 male), see table 6. All subjects were recipients of a profile series cochlear implant, the Cl512 (7 females and 2 males) and the Cl532 (6 females and 3 males). The mean age at implantation was 61.2 years (minimum age at implantation was 24 years and maximum age at implantation was 89 years) and the mean duration of cochlear implant use was 2.4 years (minimum time 9 months and maximum time 7.3 years).

Subject	Gender	Date of Birth	Deafness onset	Rate	Duration of amplification with hearing aids prior to CI	Implant Type	Age at implantation	Time with CI
1	Female	18/06/1958	Pre-lingual	500	48 years	512	53.1 years	7.3 years
2	Female	17/08/1962	Post-lingual	900	1 year	512	52.1 years	4.1 years
3	Male	08/07/1943	Post-lingual	900	6 years	512	67.6 years	7.9 years
4	Female	14/08/1944	Post-lingual	900	41 years	532	72.4 years	1.10 years
5	Female	13/01/1956	Pre-lingual	500	54 years	532	61.8 years	1.2 years
6	Female	09/09/1941	Post-lingual	900	31 years	512	72.4 years	4.1 years
7	Female	11/11/1971	Pre-lingual	500	43 years	532	45.2 years	1.10 years
8	Female	09/10/1946	Post-lingual	900	39 years	512	68.3 years	3.10 years
9	Female	24/12/1962	Pre-lingual	500	53 years	532	55.4 years	9 months
10	Male	04/09/1987	Pre-lingual	250	24 years	532	27.1 years	4.5 years
11	Female	18/09/1969	Post-lingual	900	3 years	532	47.8 years	9 months
12	Female	17/08/1983	Pre-lingual	900	31 years	532	34.3 years	1.4 years
13	Male	10/09/1946	Post-lingual	900	1 year	532	70.6 years	1.1 years
14	Male	06/06/1939	Post-lingual	900	47 years	512	78.8 years	1 year
15	Female	09/06/1938	Post-lingual	500	66 years	512	78.1 years	2.8 years
16	Female	04/05/1939	Post-lingual	900	31 years	512	77.3 years	2.9 years
17	Female	05/12/1951	Pre-lingual	900	48 years	512	66.1 years	1.2 years
18	Male	02/08/1928	Post-lingual	500	34 years	532	89 years	1.8 years

 Table 5: General details and values of key variables for each subject recruited to the study.

	Number of subjects	High stimulation rate 900 pps/ch	Low stimulation rate 250/500 pps/ch	
Pre-lingual	7	2	5	
Post-lingual	11	9	2	

Table 6: The number of subjects in the pre-lingual and post-lingual group based on stimulation rate.

6.1.1 General and descriptive statistics

The main aim of this analysis was to outline the differences observed in the eCAP recovery function, RGDT thresholds and AB word phoneme scores between subjects based on the two main predictor variables deafness onset and stimulation rate. This was achieved by measuring box plots for all measures, the box plots show the median (black bar), interquartile range (box ranges between 1st and 3rd quartile, whiskers represent highest and lowest values after exclusion of outliers). The outliers (circles, defined as any point which falls more than 1.5 times the interquartile range above the third quartile or below the first quartile) have subject numbers alongside for identification. Inspection of these outliers did not reveal them to be extreme and they were kept in the analysis as they did not unduly influence the mean difference and whilst they elicited an increase in variability, they did not change the conclusion of the statistical tests, described below.

6.1.2 Statistical analysis

Before statistical analysis was completed, data were tested for normality and homogeneity of variance. This was done by performing Levene's test, Shapiro-Wilks test and by visual inspection. It was found that all variables except AB word phoneme scores at 40dBA were distributed approximately normally. An attempt was made to transform this data using log 10 transformation and square root transformation but the Shapiro-Wilks test was still significant (p 0.02). The AB word phoneme scores at 40dBA are heavily influenced by floor effects in this small sample, therefore it has not been possible to normalise the data, 5 out of 18 subjects scored 0% for AB word scores and a further 3 subjects had scores of 3% which positively skews the data. Levene's test for AB word phoneme scores at 40dBA violated the assumption of normal distribution, as only one variable violated the assumption of normal distribution it was concluded that parametric statistical analysis with ANOVA would be appropriate. Many studies

have shown that for ANOVAs and t-tests, departures from normality are not critical (Rubinstein et al., 1992; Lix et al., 1996; Schmider et al 2010).

Statistical analysis was performed using repeated measures two-way ANOVA where results were normally distributed and Mauchly's test of sphericity gave a non-significant result; the effect sizes, were calculated from the *F*-values for within-subject's contrasts. Where this assumption was violated for two-way interaction, the Greenhouse-Geisser correction was applied. For *post-hoc* tests following ANOVA, the Bonferroni correction was applied controlling for type I errors as the result of making multiple comparisons. For all statistical tests, an alpha-level of 0.05 was used. In section 6.4, multiple linear regression was performed after data was checked for the assumption of normality by production of histograms and P-P Plots which showed the residuals were normally distributed.

6.2 The eCAP recovery function measurements

In this section the results obtained for each component of the eCAP recovery function measurement are detailed; where A (μ V) is the maximal amplitude of the neural response at saturation level, T0 (μ s) is a measure of the absolute refractory period and tau (μ s) is the time constant of recovery during the relative refractory period Müller-Deile et al (2003). A full set of eCAP recovery function measurements were obtained in 14 of the 18 subjects (78%). Figure 31 illustrates the variance between each component measurement of the eCAP recovery function, which are presented in detail in subsequent sections below.

ECAP Recovey Function Measurements



Figure 31: Box plots of the data obtained for each eCAP recovery function measurement component at the different electrode locations. A (μ V) is the maximal amplitude of the neural response at saturation level, T0 (μ s) is a measure of the absolute refractory period and tau (μ s) is the time constant of recovery during the relative refractory period.

Figure 31 demonstrate that the Tau values vary considerably in our sample and across location, with faster recovery constants being observed at electrode 6 (basal) when compared to electrode 19,10, 6 which have similar median constants. The T0 values do not differ hugely between electrodes, but visually it would appear that the absolute refractory periods are slower for the basal electrodes. The A values do not differ significantly between electrodes but the responses at electrode 19 and 16 appear to vary more significantly between subjects.

Figure 32-35 show eCAP recovery function traces obtained from subject 2 in this study, which show the eCAP traces and the fitted exponential recovery function for each electrode when an recovery constant could be calculated.



Figure 32: The eCAP recovery function measurements obtained for subject 2 at electrode 19.



Figure 33: The eCAP recovery function measurements obtained for subject 2 at electrode 16. Note, recovery function could not be calculated at this electrode therefore an exponential curve is not fitted.



Figure 34: The eCAP recovery function measurements obtained for subject 2 at electrode 10.



Figure 35: The eCAP recovery function measurements obtained for subject 2 at electrode 6.

6.2.1The eCAP recovery function Tau measurements and deafness onset

One aim of this experiment was to identify if the eCAP recovery function measurements differed in subjects based on deafness onset. It was hypothesised that individuals with prelingual hearing loss would have longer Tau measurements as the ANFs may be in a prolonged state of absolute refractory. The median Tau values at each electrode based on deafness onset are shown in figure 36.



The eCAP Recovery Function Tau Measurements based on Deafness Onset

Figure 36: Median Tau Measurement at different electrode locations based on deafness onset

A two-way repeated measures analysis of variance was completed to determine the effect of deafness onset on Tau measurements at each electrode location (N =14). Mauchly's test of sphericity indicated that the assumption of sphericity was not met for the two-way interaction, $\chi^2(5) = 21.01$, P = <0.01, therefore the Greenhouse-Geisser correction was applied. There was a significant main effect of electrode location on the Tau value, F(1.43, 17.13) = 5.32, P = <0.05. The *posthoc* tests are described in section 6.2.4. There was not a significant interaction between deafness onset and electrode location within subjects, F(1.43, 17.13) = 0.74, P = 0.45. Furthermore, there was not a significant difference between the Tau values at each electrode location in the pre-lingual (N=6) and post-lingual group (N=8) F(1, 12) = 3.03, P = 0.11.

6.2.2 The eCAP recovery function Tau measurements and stimulation rate

Another aim of this experiment was to identify if the eCAP recovery function measurements differed in subjects based on the rate of stimulation. It was hypothesised that the eCAP recovery function may be able to provide an indication of an optimal stimulation rate in subjects which could be correlated to better speech perception. The median and mean Tau values at each electrode location by stimulation rate are shown in Figure 37.



The eCAP Recovery Function Tau Measurements based on Stimulation Rate

Figure 37: Median Tau measurements at different electrode locations based on rate

A two-way repeated measures analysis of variance was completed to determine the effect of rate on Tau values at different electrode locations (N=14). Mauchly's test of sphericity indicated that the assumption of sphericity was not met for the two-way interaction, $\chi^2(5) = 21.00$, P = <0.01, therefore the Greenhouse-Geisser correction was applied. There was a statistically significant main effect of electrode location for Tau values, F(1.43, 17.26) = 4.80, P = <0.05. The *posthoc* tests are described in section 6.2.4. There was not a significant interaction between stimulation rate and electrode location within subjects, F(1.44, 17.26) = 0.18, P = 0.76. There was no significant difference between Tau values in the high rate (N=7) and low stimulation rate (N=7) group at each electrode location, F(1, 12) = 0.26, P = 0.62.

6.2.3 *Posthoc* analysis for eCAP recovery function Tau measures and electrode location

In order to further analyse the main effect of electrode location observed with deafness onset and rate, post hoc comparisons using paired t-tests were completed and are shown in figure 38 and Table 7 summarises the mean difference in Tau values between electrode pairs.



rode pairs
rode pai

Electrode	Mean (Tau)	SD	Electrode	Mean (Tau)	SD	Mean Difference	T Value	Significance level (2-tail)
19	781.59	494.08	16	988.71	459.10	-207.11	-2.90	0.01
19	850.57	556.54	10	888.81	411.06	-38.24	-0.32	0.75
19	888.28	573.93	6	502.18	323.98	386.09	2.54	0.02
16	988.71	459.10	10	854.73	398.98	133.97	0.97	0.35
16	975.40	491.58	6	484.98	328.72	490.42	3.04	0.01
10	874.38	430.92	6	502.18	323.70	372.20	5.50	0.00

Table 7: *Posthoc* paired t-tests for eCAP recovery function Tau measures and electrode location. Differences reaching the Bonferroni-corrected significance level are given in bold.

There is a main effect of electrode location on the Tau values and paired sample *posthoc* Ttests show Tau values are significantly different between electrode 19 and 16, electrode 19 and 6, electrode 16 and 6 and electrode 10 and 6.

6.2.4 The eCAP recovery function T0 measurements and deafness onset

The median T0 values at different electrodes by deafness onset are shown in figure 39.



Figure 39: Median eCAP recovery function T0 measurements by deafness onset

A two-way repeated measures ANOVA was completed to determine the effect of deafness onset on T0 measurements at different electrode locations (N =14). Mauchly's test of sphericity indicated that the assumption of sphericity was met for the two-way interaction, $\chi^2(5) = 1.27$, P = 0.94. There was not a statistically significant main effect of electrode location for T0 values, F(3, 36) = 2.72, P = 0.59. There was not a statistically significant interaction within subjects between deafness onset and T0 values at each electrode location, F(3, 36) = 1.43, P = 0.25. The T0 values were not significantly different between the pre-lingual (N=6) and post-lingual (N=8) groups, F(1,12) = 0.04, P = 0.84.

6.2.5 The eCAP recovery function T0 measurements and stimulation rate

The median T0 values at each electrode location based on stimulation rate are shown in figure 40.



The eCAP recovery function T0 measurements at each Electrode Location based on Stimulation Rate



A two-way repeated measures ANOVA was completed to determine the effect of stimulation rate on T0 measurements at each electrode location (N=14). Mauchly's test of sphericity indicated that the assumption of sphericity was met for the two-way interaction, $\chi^2(5) = 0.92$, p = 0.97. There was not a statistically significant main effect of electrode location for T0 values, F(3, 36) = 2.28, P = 0.10. There was not a statistically significant interaction within subjects between stimulation rate and T0 values at each electrode location, F(3, 36) = 0.28, P = 0.84. The T0 values were not significantly different between the high rate (N=7) and low stimulation rate (N=7) groups, F(1,12) = 0.10, P = 0.92.

6.2.6 The eCAP Recovery Function A Measurements and deafness onset

The median A values at different electrodes by deafness onset are shown in figure 41.







A two-way repeated measures ANOVA was completed to determine the effect of deafness onset on A values at different electrode locations (N=14). Mauchly's test of sphericity indicated that the assumption of sphericity was not met for the two-way interaction, $\chi^2(5) = 25.80$, P = <0.01, therefore the Greenhouse-Geisser correction was applied. There was not a statistically significant main effect of electrode location for A values, F(1.37, 16.47) = 2.60, P = 0.12. There was not a significant interaction between deafness onset and A values within subjects at each electrode location, F(1.37, 16.47) = 0.16, P = 0.77. The A values did not vary significantly between the pre-lingual (N=6) and post-lingual (N=8) groups, F(1,12) = 1.18, P =0.30.

6.2.7 The eCAP recovery function A measurements and stimulation rate

The median A values at different electrodes by rate are shown in figure 42.



The eCAP Recovery Function (A) Measurements at each Electrode Location based on Stimulation Rate

Stimulation Rate

Figure 42. Box plot analysis of eCAP recovery function A values by stimulation rate

A two-way repeated measures ANOVA was completed to determine the effect of stimulation rate on A values at different electrode locations (N=14). Mauchly's test of sphericity indicated that the assumption of sphericity was not met for the two-way interaction, $\chi^2(5) = 25.22$, P = <0.01, therefore the Greenhouse-Geisser correction was applied. There was not a statistically significant main effect of electrode location for A values, F(1.38, 16.50) = 2.93, P = 0.96. There was not a statistically significant interaction between stimulation rate and A values within subjects at each electrode location, F(1.38, 16.50) = 0.71, P = 0.45. The A values did not vary significantly between the high rate (N=7) and low stimulation rate (N=7) group F(1,12) = 3.05, p = 0.11.

6.2.8 Summary of results for eCAP recovery function measurements

The main effect of electrode location observed for Tau values indicates that mean measurements vary significantly between electrode pairs when they are spaced more widely apart, which in turn reflects the different regions of SGNs being stimulated. The more apical (E19) and mid electrodes (E16 &E10) have longer mean Tau values in comparison to the

basal electrode (E6), which suggests there may be a sparser neural population in the region of this recording location. Deafness onset and stimulation rate do not contribute to any component of the eCAP recovery function measurement.

6.3 RGDT thresholds

The thresholds obtained from the RGDT at each frequency for the 18 subjects are shown in figure 43. Of the 18 subjects, 10 completed the standard RGDT which consists of interstimulus intervals of 0-40 msec. 8 subjects gap detection thresholds exceeded 40msec and went on to complete the Expanded RGDT (EXP-RGDT) which includes time intervals between 40 – 300 msec. Analysis was completed with all 18 subjects as the EXP-RGDT is a different version of the same test but the outcome measure is the same regardless of which test is utilised to reach the subjects final RGDT threshold.



Distribution of Random Gap Detection Test

Figure 43: Box plot analysis of RGDT scores at each frequency

6.3.1 RGDT thresholds and deafness onset

Time (ms)

The median RGDT scores at each frequency based on deafness onset are shown in figure 44.



Deafness Onset



A two-way repeated measures ANOVA was completed to determine the effect of deafness onset on RGDT at different frequencies (N=18). Mauchly's test of sphericity indicated that the assumption of sphericity was met for the two-way interaction, $\chi^2(5) = 7.66$, p = 0.18. There was a statistically significant main effect of frequency on RGDT thresholds, F(2.27, 39.30) =7.36, $P = \langle 0.05 \rangle$. There was not significant interaction within subjects between frequency and deafness onset on the RGDT, F (2.27, 39.30) = 1.86, P = 0.17. There was a significant difference in RGDT scores between the pre-lingual (N=7) and post-lingual (N=11) group, F (1,16) = 6.88, P= <0.05, and the post-lingual group had better (lower) GDT when compared to the pre-lingual group. The differences between RGDT at different frequencies is not dependent on deafness onset: and the differences between RGDT scores based on deafness onset are not dependent on frequency.

6.3.2 Posthoc analysis for RGDT frequencies and deafness onset

In order to analyse the main effect of frequency post hoc comparisons using paired t-tests were completed. See figure 45 and Table 8.



Figure 45: Mean (+ 2 SD) RGDT thresholds for paired t-tests for RGDT frequencies

Comparison (RDGT Frequency)	Mean	SD	Comparison (RDGT Frequency)	Mean	SD	Mean difference (m/sec)	T value	Significance level (2-tail)
500Hz	32.22	17.68	1000Hz	35.28	21.38	-3.06	-2.01	0.06
500Hz	32.22	17.68	2000Hz	37.22	21.02	-5.00	-2.26	0.04
500Hz	32.22	17.68	4000Hz	40.83	23.78	-8.61	-3.34	0.00
1000Hz	35.28	21.38	2000Hz	37.22	21.02	-1.94	-0.98	0.34
1000Hz	35.28	21.38	4000Hz	40.83	23.78	-5.56	-2.65	0.17
2000Hz	37.22	21.02	4000Hz	40.83	23.78	-3.61	-1.87	0.79

Table 8: *Posthoc* paired t-tests for RGDT frequencies, differences reaching the Bonferronicorrected significance level are given in bold.

6.3.3 RGDT Thresholds and stimulation rate

The median RGDT scores at each frequency based on stimulation rate are shown in figure 46.



Figure 46: Median RGDT scores by stimulation rate

A two-way repeated measures ANOVA was completed to determine the effect of stimulation rate on RGDT at different frequencies. Mauchly's test of sphericity indicated that the assumption of sphericity was not met for the two-way interaction, $\chi^2(5) = 14.16$, p = <0.05, therefore the Greenhouse-Geisser correction was applied. There was a statistically significant main effect of frequency on RGDT, F(1.87, 48) = 8.08, P = <0.05, which showed that RGDT scores increased (became longer) as frequency increased from 500Hz-4000Hz. As shown in figure 45 and table 8 the pairs of significance are 500-1000Hz, 500-2000Hz and 500-4000Hz. There was also a significant interaction within subjects between frequency and stimulation rate at the different electrode locations, F(1.87, 48) = 3.85, P = <0.05. There was a significant difference between the RGDT scores between the high stimulation rate (N=7) group, F(1,16) = 10.40, P = <0.05, with lower RGDT scores observed in the high rate group.

6.3.4 Posthoc analysis for RGDT frequencies and stimulation rate

In order to analyse the significant interaction between frequency and stimulation rate, *posthoc* comparisons using independent paired t-tests were completed. An independent paired t-test

showed that the RGDT scores were significantly longer across all frequency pairs in the low stimulation rate group compared to the high stimulation rate group (see figure 47 and table 9).



Figure 47: Mean (+ 2 SD) RGDT scores for independent t-tests for RGDT frequencies and stimulation rate

Comparison	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	T value	Significance
(RDGT Frequency)	High Rate		Low Rate		difference between groups (m/sec)		level (2-tail)
500Hz	23.63	15.01	45.71	12.72	-22.08	-3.34	0.05
1000Hz	24.09	17.00	52.86	14.96	-28.77	-3.77	0.02
2000Hz	29.55	20.55	49.29	16.44	-19.74	-2.25	0.04
4000Hz	28.64	21.46	60.00	11.55	-31.36	-4.02	0.00

Table 9: *Posthoc* independent paired t-test, for RGDT frequencies and stimulation rate, differences reaching the Bonferroni-corrected significance level are given in bold.

6.3.5 Summary of results for RGDT thresholds

There was a significant effect of deafness onset on the RGDT thresholds, with longer GDTs in the pre-lingual group compared to the post-lingual group.

There was a significant effect of stimulation rate on the RGDT thresholds across all frequency pairs, with longer GDTs in the low stimulation rate group compared to the high stimulation rate group.

6.4 AB word phoneme score

The AB word phoneme scores at each presentation level is shown in figure 48;



Distribution of AB Words Phonemes Correct

Figure 48: Box plot analysis of AB word phoneme scores across presentation levels

6.4.1 AB word phoneme score and deafness onset

The median AB word phoneme scores at each presentation level based on deafness onset are shown in Figure 49.



AB Word Phoneme Scores at each presentation level based on Deafness Onset



A two-way repeated measures ANOVA was completed to determine the effect of deafness onset on AB word phoneme scores at different presentation levels (N=18). Mauchly's test of sphericity indicated that the assumption of sphericity was not met for the two-way interaction, $\chi^2(5) = 17.11$, p = <0.01, therefore the Greenhouse-Geisser correction was applied. There was a statistically significant main effect of level on AB word phoneme scores, F(1.78, 28.51) = 69.05, P = <0.05. There was a statistically significant within subject interaction between deafness onset and AB word phoneme scores at the different presentation levels, F(1.78, 28.51) = 3.68, P = <0.05. The AB word phoneme scores were not significantly different between the pre-lingual (N=7) and post-lingual (N=11) group, F(1,16) = 1.01, P = <0.33.

6.4.2 Posthoc analysis for AB word phonemes presentation level and deafness onset

In order to analyse the main effect of presentation level *posthoc* comparisons using paired ttests were completed. The mean AB word phoneme scores were significantly different across presentation level pairs (see figure 50 and table 10) The mean difference is the greatest between the AB word phoneme scores at presentation levels of 70dBA and 40dBA and the mean difference is the smallest between the AB word phoneme scores at presentation levels of 70dBA and 60dBA.



Figure 50: Mean AB word phoneme scores based on presentation level for paired t-tests

Mean (+ 2 SD) AB word Phoneme Score Comparison	Mean	SD	Mean (+ 2 SD) AB word Phoneme Score Comparison	Mean	SD	Mean difference (%)	T value	Significance level (2-tail)
(Presentation levels)			(Presentation levels)					
AB70	57.44	20.39	AB60	47.17	21.12	10.28	6.89	<0.01
AB70	57.44	20.39	AB50	28.83	16.12	28.61	8.37	<0.01
AB70	57.44	20.39	AB40	14.56	14.15	42.89	10.05	<0.01
AB60	47.17	21.12	AB50	28.83	16.12	18.33	6.01	<0.01
AB60	47.17	21.12	AB40	14.56	14.15	32.61	8.36	<0.01
AB50	28.83	16.12	AB40	14.56	14.15	14.28	5.66	<0.01

Table 10: Post-hoc paired t-tests for AB word phonemes at different presentation levels,

 differences reaching the Bonferroni-corrected significance level are given in bold.

In order to analyse the significant interaction between deafness onset and AB word presentation level, *posthoc* comparisons using independent paired t-tests were completed. These showed that the AB word phoneme scores did not vary significantly across all presentation level pairs in the pre-lingual and post-lingual group. Visually, it can be seen that subjects with pre-lingual deafness have lower AB word phoneme scores in comparison to those with post-lingual deafness (see figure 51 and table 11).



Figure 51: Mean (+ 2 SD) AB word phoneme scores for independent t-tests based on deafness onset.

Comparison (Presentation Levels)	Pre- Lingual	SD	Post- Lingual	SD	Mean difference between groups (%)	T value	Significance level (2-tail)
70dBA	47.43	15.85	63.82	21.01	-16.39	-1.88	0.08
60dBA	39.00	13.79	52.37	23.83	-13.36	-1.51	0.15
50dBA	27.14	12.40	29.91	18.61	-2.77	-0.38	0.71
40dBA	15.29	12.37	14.09	15.74	1.19	0.18	0.86

Table 11: *Posthoc* independent paired t-test for AB word phoneme scores based on deafness onset. Differences reaching the Bonferroni-corrected significance level are given in bold.
6.4.3 AB word phoneme scores and stimulation rate

The median AB word phoneme scores at each presentation level based on stimulation rate are shown in Figure 52.



AB Word Phoneme Scores at each presentation level based on Stimulation Rate



Figure 52: Median AB word scores based on stimulation rate

A two-way repeated measures ANOVA was completed to determine the effect of stimulation rate on AB word phoneme scores at different presentation levels (N=18). Mauchly's test of sphericity indicated that the assumption of sphericity was not met for the two-way interaction, $\chi^2(5) = 19.44$, p = <0.01, therefore the Greenhouse-Geisser correction was applied. There was a statistically significant main effect of presentation level on AB word phoneme scores, *F* (1.69, 27.09) = 64.86, P = <0.05. There was a decrease in scores as presentation level decreased, table 10 and figure 50 show the presentation levels of significance. There was not a statistically significant within subject interaction between stimulation rate and AB word phoneme scores at the different presentation levels, *F* (1.69, 27.09) = 2.05, *P* = 0.15. There is a significant difference between the AB word phoneme scores in the high stimulation rate (N=11) and low stimulation rate (N=7) group, *F* (1.16) = 7.75, P = <0.05.

6.4.4 Posthoc analysis for AB word phoneme presentation level and stimulation rate

In order to analyse the between group effect of presentation level *posthoc* comparisons using paired t-tests were completed. An independent paired t-test showed that the AB words scores were significantly different across all levels in the high and low rate group with the exception of 40dBA (see figure 53 and table 12).



Figure 53: Mean (+ 2 SD) AB word phoneme scores for paired t-tests based on stimulation rate

Comparison (Presentation Levels)	High Rate	SD	Low Rate	SD	Mean difference between groups (%)	T value	Significance level (2-tail)
70dBA	66.55	18.55	43.14	14.63	23.40	2.98	0.01
60dBA	56.45	20.93	32.57	11.30	23.88	3.14	0.01
50dBA	35.00	15.63	19.14	12.24	15.86	2.40	0.03
40dBA	18.55	16.14	8.29	7.61	10.26	1.82	0.09

Table 12: *Posthoc* independent paired t-test for AB word phoneme scores based on stimulation rate, pairs which are significantly different are highlighted in red. Differences reaching the Bonferroni-corrected significance level are given in bold.

6.4.5 Summary of results for AB word phoneme scores

There was a significant effect of stimulation rate on AB word phoneme scores at presentation levels of 70,60 and 50dBA, with higher scores in the high stimulation rate group compared to the scores in the low stimulation rate group. There was no significant effect of stimulation rate on AB word phoneme scores at 40dBA and the scores are similar in both groups, likely due to floor effects

6.5 Multiple linear regression

The conceptual model for this study was that the underlying physiology as measured by eCAP recovery function is likely to affect psychophysical performance as measured by RGDT, and both in turn could affect performance as measured by AB word phoneme scores, no reverse effects were expected, hence multiple linear regression analyses were used to determine which variables predicted outcomes for each measurement.

Pearson's correlation coefficients were calculated to identify the degree of association between eCAP recovery function Tau measurements, RGDT thresholds and AB word phoneme scores. The univariate associations that were not significant were not added to the multiple regression model, to prevent overloading the analysis so that effects are not missed given the small sample size in this study. Rate and deafness onset were included in all analyses as they were the key hypothesis driven variables.

In the following section each of the results of the regression analyses are presented in the same format. For each dependent variable, the model summaries are shown with its explained variance (R^2). For realistic predictions of the variation the adjusted R^2 values are taken into account and highlighted in all tables. Also, the independent variables that were significantly associated with the dependents and their standardised coefficients (β) and unstandardised coefficients (B) with constant for the best predicting model are shown.

6.5.1 Electrode 19 eCAP recovery function Tau measurement

Pearson's Coefficients showed significant relationships between E19 Tau and the following variables:

There was a very strong positive correlation between E19 Tau values and E16 Tau values, r = 0.82, N=16, p < 0.01

There was a moderate positive correlation between E19 Tau values and E10Tau values, r = 0.51, N=17, p 0.04

Pearson's coefficients showed no significant relationships between E19 Tau and the following variables:

- There was no correlation between E19 Tau values and age, r = -2.55, N=18, p 0.31
- There was no correlation between E19 Tau values and implant type, r = -0.39, N=18, p 0.11
- There was no correlation between E19 Tau values and deafness onset, r = -0.29, N18, p 0.24
- There was no correlation between E19 Tau values and rate, r = -0.20, N18, p 0.21
- There was no correlation between E19 Tau values and average RGDT scores, r = 0.13, N18, p 0.62
- There was no correlation between E19 Tau values and average AB word scores, r = 0.36, N18, p 0.14

Based on these correlations a multiple linear regression was calculated to predict the Tau value at electrode 19 based on, deafness onset, stimulation rate, E16 Tau values, E10 Tau values and implant type. The overall regression model was significant F (5,10) = 9.98, p<0.05, with an adjusted R² of 0.75, indicating that collectively the predictor variables accounted for 75% of the variance seen in E19 Tau values, furthermore, E16 Tau values significantly contributed to this variance, highlighted in red in table 13.

Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the Estimate
1	0.91 (a)	0.83	0.75	247.22

a. Predictors: (Constant), Implant Type, Deafness onset, Stimulation rate, E16tau, E10tau

Dependent Variable: E19 tau

	unstandardised coefficients (B)	standardised coefficients (β)	Sig.
(Constant)	802.08		0.30
Implant Type	-246.46	-0.26	0.11
Deafness onset	-291.82	-0.30	0.15
Stimulation Rate	-52.67	-0.06	0.76
E16 Tau	0.66	0.61	0.00
E10 Tau	0.29	0.23	0.14

Table 13: Summary of multiple regression analysis B = Unstandardized regression coefficient; $SE_B =$ Standard error of the coefficient; $\beta =$ standardized coefficient for the dependent variable electrode 19 Tau

6.5.2 Electrode 16 eCAP recovery function Tau measurement

Pearson's coefficients showed significant relationships between E16 Tau and the following variables:

There was a very strong positive correlation between E16 Tau values and E19 Tau values, r = 0.82, N=16, p < 0.01

Pearson's coefficients showed no significant relationships between E19 Tau and the following variables:

- There was no correlation between E16 Tau values and age, r = -0.92, N=16, p 0.29
- There was no correlation between E16 Tau values and implant type, r = -0.23, N=16, p 0.20
- There was no correlation between E16 Tau values and deafness onset, r = -0.35, N=16, p 0.09

- There was no correlation between E16 Tau values and rate, r = -0.16, N=16, p 0.27
- There was no correlation between E16 Tau values and average RGDT scores, r = -0.47, N16, p 0.43
- There was no correlation between E16 Tau values and average AB word scores, r = 0.15, N16, p 0.29

A multiple linear regression was calculated to predict the E16 Tau values based deafness onset, stimulation rate and implant type. The predictive relationship between E19 Tau values and E16 Tau values have already been analysed in the regression model shown in table 17. The overall regression model was significant F (3,12) = 2.23, p< 0.03, with an adjusted R² of 0.18, indicating that that collectively the predictor variables accounted for 18% of the variance seen in E16 Tau values. Furthermore, the multiple regression models showed deafness onset was a significant predictor of Tau at E16, highlighted in red in Table 14.

Model	R	R	Adjusted	Std. Error
		Square	R Square	of the
				Estimate
1	.588 (a)	.346	.183	415.03744

a. Predictors: (Constant), Stimulation rate, Implant type, Deafness onset

Dependent Variable: E16 tau

	unstandardised coefficients (B)	standardised coefficients (β)	Sig.
(Constant)	2764.351		.002
Implant Type	-259.315	289	.262
Deafness onset	-555.068	619	.042
Stimulation Rate	-350.032	391	.176

Table 14: Summary of multiple regression analysis B = Unstandardized regression coefficient; $SE_B =$ Standard error of the coefficient; $\beta =$ standardized coefficient for the dependent variable electrode 16 Tau

6.5.3 Electrode 10 eCAP recovery function Tau measurement

Pearson's coefficients showed significant relationships between E10Tau and the following variables:

- There was a very strong positive correlation between E10 Tau values and E6 Tau values, r = 0.80, N=15, p < 0.01
- There was a moderate correlation between E10 Tau values and age, r = 0.49, N=17, p < 0.05

Pearson's coefficients showed no significant relationships between E10 Tau and the following variables:

- There was no correlation between E10 Tau values and implant type, r = -0.03, N=17, p 0.50
- There was no correlation between E10 Tau values and deafness onset, r = -0.22, N=17, p 0.19
- There was no correlation between E10 Tau values and rate, r = -0.18, N=17, p 0.24
- There was no correlation between E10 Tau values and average RGDT scores, r = 0.09, N17, p 0.37
- There was no correlation between E10 Tau values and average AB word scores, r = -0.23, N17, p 0.46

A multiple linear regression was calculated to predict the Tau values at electrode 10 based on implant type, deafness onset, E6 Tau values, age and stimulation rate. The overall regression model was significant F (5,9) = 4.39, p 0.02, with an adjusted R² of 0.55, indicating that that collectively the predictor variables accounted for 55% of the variance seen in E10Tau values, furthermore, E6 Tau values significantly contributed to this variance, highlighted in red in table 15.

Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the Estimate
1	.842 (a)	.709	0.55	289.911

a. Predictors: (Constant), Stimulation rate, Implant type, Deafness onset, E6 tau, Age

Dependent Variable: E10 tau

	unstandardised coefficients (B)	standardised coefficients (β)	Sig.
(Constant)	1218.60		0.12
E6 Tau	1.02	0.77	<0.01
Implant Type	-116.01	-0.14	0.54
Deafness onset	-226.15	0.27	0.38
Stimulation Rate	- 195.901	-0.24	0.37
Age	-0.58	-0.02	0.94

Table 15: Summary of multiple regression analysis B = Unstandardized regression coefficient; $SE_B =$ Standard error of the coefficient; $\beta =$ standardized coefficient for the dependent variable electrode 10 Tau

6.5.4 Electrode 6 eCAP recovery function Tau measurement

Pearson's coefficients showed significant relationships between E6Tau and the following variables:

- There was a strong positive correlation between E6 Tau values and E10 Tau values, r = 0.67, N=15, p 0.03
- There was a moderate correlation between E6 Tau values and age, r = 0.54, N=15, p 0.02

Pearson's coefficients showed no significant relationships between E10 Tau and the following variables:

- There was no correlation between E6 Tau values and implant type, r = 0.62, N=15, p 0.41
- There was no correlation between E6 Tau values and deafness onset, r = -0.63, N=15, p 0.41
- There was no correlation between E6 Tau values and rate, r = -0.12, N=15, p 0.33

- There was no correlation between E6 Tau values and average RGDT scores, r = -0.00, N15, p 0.50
- There was no correlation between E6 Tau values and average AB word scores, r = -0.19, N15, p 0.25

A multiple linear regression was calculated to predict the Tau values at electrode 6 based on age, implant type, deafness onset and stimulation rate. The predictive relationship between E6 Tau values and E10 Tau values have already been analysed in the regression model shown in table 19. The overall regression model was not significant, F (4,10) = 1.25, p 0.36, with an adjusted R² of 0.07. None of these predictor variables were significant. Regression coefficients and standard errors can be found in Table 16.

Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the Estimate
1	0.58 (a)	0.33	0.07	312.83

a. Predictors: (Constant), Stimulation rate, Implant type, Deafness onset, Age

Dependent Variable: E6 tau

	unstandardised coefficients (B)	standardised coefficients (β)	Sig.
(Constant)	1242.00		0.08
Implant Type	-26.90	-0.43	0.89
Deafness onset	190.28	0.30	0.48
Stimulation Rate	-21.39	-0.03	0.93
Age	-14.90	-0.72	0.07

Table 16: Summary of multiple regression analysis B = Unstandardized regression coefficient; $SE_B =$ Standard error of the coefficient; $\beta =$ standardized coefficient for the dependent variable electrode 6 Tau

6.5.5 RDGT thresholds

Pearson's correlation coefficients showed that the RGDT thresholds at each frequency were strongly correlated with each other, hence the average RGDT threshold was used for the multiple regression analysis in order to ensure the effects of other independent variables were

not diluted as these strong correlations were probably likely to make strong effects. The correlations are summarised below:

- There was a strong positive correlation between RGDT scores at 500Hz and RGDT scores at 1000Hz, r = 0.96, N=18, p <0.01
- There was a strong positive correlation between RGDT scores at 500Hz and RGDT scores at 2000Hz, r = 0.90, N=18, p <0.01
- There was a strong positive correlation between RGDT scores at 500Hz and RGDT scores at 4000Hz, r = 0.90, N=18, p <0.01
- There was a strong positive correlation between RGDT scores at 1000Hz and RGDT scores at 2000Hz, r = 0.92, N=18, p < 0.01
- There was a strong positive correlation between RGDT scores at 1000Hz and RGDT scores at 4000Hz, r = 0.93, N=18, p <0.01
- There was a strong positive correlation between RGDT scores at 2000Hz and RGDT scores at 4000Hz, r = 0.94, N=18, p <0.01

Additionally, Pearson's correlations found:

- There was a moderate negative correlation between deafness onset and RGDT scores, r = 0.54, N = 18, p < 0.05
- There was a strong positive correlation between rate and RGDT scores, r = 0.63, N=18, p <0.05
- There was a strong positive correlation between RGDT scores and AB word scores, r = 0.74, N=18, p < 0.01
- There was no correlation between RGDT scores and age, r = -0.30, N=18, p 0.12
- There was no correlation between RGDT scores and implant type, r = 0.13, N=18, p
 0.31
- There was no correlation between RGDT scores and E19 Tau values, r = 0.13, N=18, p 0.62
- There was no correlation between RGDT scores and E16 Tau values, r = 0.45, N=16, p 0.86
- There was no correlation between RGDT scores and E10 Tau values, r = 0.88, N=17, p 0.74
- There was no correlation between RGDT scores and E10 Tau values, r = 0.11, N=15, p 0.70

A multiple linear regression was calculated to predict the average RGDT score based on deafness onset and stimulation rate. The overall regression model was significant, F (2,15) = 6.34, p 0.01, with an adjusted R² of 0.39. However, deafness onset and stimulation rate were not significant predictors of RGDT scores. This would indicate that both predictor variables are correlated with each other to such a degree that neither can offer any amount of significant variance in explaining the RGDT scores. Pearson's correlation showed there was a significant moderate, negative correlation between deafness onset and stimulation rate (r = -0.53, N = 18, p 0.02). The Regression coefficients and standard errors can be found in Table 17.

Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the Estimate
1	0.68 (a)	.458	0.39	15.97

a.	Predictors:	(Constant),	Stimulation	rate, D	Deafness
on	set				

	unstandardised coefficients (B)	standardised coefficients (β)	Sig.
(Constant)	29.54		0.24
Deafness onset	-12.15	-0.30	0.20
Stimulation Rate	19.02	0.47	0.05

Dependent Variable: Average RGDT threshold

Table 17: Summary of multiple regression analysis B = Unstandardized regression coefficient; SE_B = Standard error of the coefficient; β = standardized coefficient for average RGDT threshold scores

6.5.6 AB word phoneme scores 40dBA

Pearson's coefficients showed a significant moderate positive correlation between average RGDT scores and AB word scores at 40dBA, r = 0.53, N=18, p < 0.05

Pearson's coefficients showed no significant relationships between AB word scores at 40dBA and the following variables:

- There was no correlation between AB word scores at 40dBA and age, r = -0.77, N=18, p 0.76
- There was no correlation between AB word scores at 40dBA and implant type, r = -0.19, N=18, p 0.44

- There was no correlation between AB word scores at 40dBA and deafness onset r = -0.42, N=18, p 0.87
- There was no correlation between AB word scores at 40dBA and rate r = -0.36, N=18, p 0.14
- There was no correlation between AB word scores at 40dBA and E19 Tau values, r = 0.27, N=18, p 0.13
- There was no correlation between AB word scores at 40dBA and E16 Tau values, r = 0.25, N=16, p 0.17
- There was no correlation between AB word scores at 40dBA and E10 Tau values, r = 0.25, N=17, p 0.46
- There was no correlation between AB word scores at 40dBA and E6 Tau values, r = -0.19, N=15, p 0.25

A multiple linear regression was calculated to predict the AB word phoneme scores at 40dBA based on deafness onset, stimulation rate and the average RGDT score. A significant regression equation was found F (3,14) = 4.01, p 0.03, with an adjusted with an adjusted R² of 0.35 indicating collectively the predictor variables explain 35% of the variance seen in AB word phoneme scores at 40dB. Average RGDT scores were a significant predictor of variance (p = 0.02). Regression coefficients and standard errors can be found in Table 18.

Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the Estimate
1	0.68 (a)	0 .46	0.35	11.43

a. Predictors: (Constant), Average RGDT, Deafness onset, stimulation rate

Dependent Variable: AB word phoneme score at 40dBA

	unstandardised coefficients (B)	standardised coefficients (β)	Sig.
(Constant)	64.635		0.00
Average RGDT	-0.47	-0.68	0.02
Deafness onset	-15.04	-0.53	0.05
Stimulation Rate	-6.20	-0.22	0.42

Table 18: Summary of multiple regression analysis B = Unstandardized regression coefficient; SE_B = Standard error of the coefficient; β = standardized coefficient for AB word phoneme scores at 40dBA.

6.5.7 AB word phoneme scores 50dBA

Pearson's coefficients showed significant relationships between AB word scores at 50dBA and the following variables:

- There was a moderate negative correlation between AB word scores at 50dBA and average RGDT scores, r = - 0.50, N=18, p 0.03
- There was a moderate negative correlation between AB word scores at 50dBA and stimulation rate, r = - 0.51, N=18, p 0.27

Pearson's coefficients showed no significant relationships between AB word scores at 50dBA and the following variables:

- There was no correlation between AB word scores at 50dBA and age, r = -0.01, N=18, p 0.98
- There was no correlation between AB word scores at 50dBA and implant type, r = -0.96, N=18, p 0.71
- There was no correlation between AB word scores at 50dBA and deafness onset, r = 0.86, N=18, p 0.73

- There was no correlation between AB word scores at 50dBA and E19 Tau values, r = 0.21, N=18, p 0.21
- There was no correlation between AB word scores at 50dBA and E16 Tau values, r = 0.21, N=16, p 0.47
- There was no correlation between AB word scores at 50dBA and E10 Tau values, r = -0.43, N=17, p 0.44
- There was no correlation between AB word scores at 50dBA and E6 Tau values, r = 0.20, N=15, p 0.23

A multiple linear regression was calculated to predict the AB word phoneme scores at 50dBA based on deafness onset, stimulation rate and the average RGDT score. The overall regression model was not significant, F (3,14) = 3.07, p 0.06, with an adjusted R² of 0.27. None of these predictor variables were significant. Regression coefficients and standard errors can be found in Table 19

Model	R	R	Adjusted	Std. Error
		Square	IN Square	or the
				Estimate
1	0.63 (a)	0.40	0.27	13.80

a. Predictors: (Constant), Average RGDT, Deafness onset, stimulation rate

Dependent Variable: AB word phoneme score at 50dBA

	unstandardised coefficients (B)	standardised coefficients (β)	Sig.
(Constant)	80.001		0.00
Average RGDT	-0.36	-0.45	0.13
Deafness onset	-12.24	-0.38	0.16
Stimulation Rate	-13.30	-0.41	0.16

Table 19: Summary of multiple regression analysis B = Unstandardized regression coefficient; $SE_B =$ Standard error of the coefficient; $\beta =$ standardized coefficient for AB word phoneme scores at 50dBA

6.5.8 AB word phoneme scores 60dBA

Pearson's coefficients showed significant relationships between AB word scores at 60dBA and the following variables:

- There was a strong negative correlation between AB word scores at 60dBA and average RGDT scores, r = - 0.72, N=18, p <0.01
- There was a strong negative correlation between AB word scores at 60dBA and stimulation rate, r = - 0.65, N=18, p <0.05

Pearson's coefficients showed no significant relationships between AB word scores at 60dBA and the following variables:

- There was no correlation between AB word scores at 60dBA and age, r = 0.17, N=18, p 0.50
- There was no correlation between AB word scores at 60dBA and implant type, r = -0.33, N=18, p 0.18
- There was no correlation between AB word scores at 60dBA and deafness onset, r = 0.37, N=18, p 0.13
- There was no correlation between AB word scores at 60dBA and E19 Tau values, r = 0.31, N=18, p 0.10
- There was no correlation between AB word scores at 60dBA and E16 Tau values, r = 0.88, N=16, p 0.37
- There was no correlation between AB word scores at 60dBA and E10 Tau values, r = 0.65, N=17, p 0.40
- There was no correlation between AB word scores at 60dBA and E6 Tau values, r = 0.68, N=15, p 0.41

A multiple linear regression was calculated to predict the AB word phoneme scores at 60dBA based on deafness onset, stimulation rate and the average RGDT score. The overall regression model was significant F (3,14) = 8.35, p< 0.01, with an adjusted R² of 0.57, indicating that collectively the predictor variables accounted for 57% of the variance seen in AB word phoneme scores at 60 dBA, furthermore, the average RGDT scores were a significant predictor, highlighted in red in Table 20.

Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the Estimate
1	0.80 (a)	0.64	0.57	13.94

a. Predictors: (Constant), Average RGDT, Deafness onset, stimulation rate

Dependent Variable: AB word phoneme score at 60dBA

	unstandardised coefficients (B)	standardised coefficients (β)	Sig.
(Constant)	101.725		.000
Average RGDT	-0.80	-0.77	0.00
Deafness onset	-8.76	208	0.32
Stimulation Rate	-8.27	196	0.38

Table 20: Summary of multiple regression analysis B = Unstandardized regression coefficient; SE_B = Standard error of the coefficient; β = standardized coefficient for AB word phoneme scores at 60dBA

6.5.9 AB word phoneme scores 70dBA

Pearson's coefficients showed significant relationships between AB word scores at 70dBA and the following variables:

- There was a strong negative correlation between AB word scores at 70dBA and average RGDT scores, r = - 0.73, N=18, p < 0.01
- There was a strong negative correlation between AB word scores at 70dBA and stimulation rate, r = - 0.60, N=18, p < 0.02

Pearson's coefficients showed no significant relationships between AB word scores at 70dBA and the following variables:

- There was no correlation between AB word scores at 70dBA and deafness onset, r = 0.48, N=18, p 0.05
- There was no correlation between AB word scores at 70dBA and age, r = 0.31, N=18, p
 0.22
- There was no correlation between AB word scores at 70dBA and implant type, r = -0.39, N=18, p 0.11

- There was no correlation between AB word scores at 70dBA and E19 Tau values, r = 0.28, N=18, p 0.13
- There was no correlation between AB word scores at 70dBA and E16 Tau values, r = 0.06, N=16, p 0.49
- There was no correlation between AB word scores at 70dBA and E10 Tau values, r = 0.65, N=17, p 0.40
- There was no correlation between AB word scores at 70dBA and E6 Tau values, r = 0.38, N=15, p 0.45

A multiple linear regression was calculated to predict the AB word phoneme scores at 70dBA based on deafness onset, stimulation rate and the average RGDT score. A significant regression equation was found F (3,14) = 7.84, p< 0.01, with an adjusted R² of 0.55, indicating collectively the predictor variables accounted for are predicted by average RGDT and the model explains 55% of all variance in the AB word phoneme scores at 70 dBA. Furthermore, the multiple regression models showed the average RGDT was a statistically significant predictor of the AB word phoneme scores at 70dBA. highlighted in red in Table 21.

Model	R	R Square	Adjusted R Square	Std. Error of the Estimate
1	0.79 (a)	0.63	0.55	13.73

a. Predictors: (Constant), Average RGDT, Deafness onset, stimulation rate

Dependent Variable: AB word phoneme score at 70dBA

	unstandardised coefficients (B)	standardised coefficients (β)	Sig.
(Constant)	98.406		.000
Average RGDT	-0.72	-0.72	0.00
Deafness onset	-3.30	-0.08	0.70
Stimulation Rate	-6.74	-0.17	0.45

Table 21: Summary of multiple regression analysis B = Unstandardized regression coefficient; SE_B = Standard error of the coefficient; β = standardized coefficient for AB word phoneme scores at 70dBA

6.6 RGDT thresholds and AB word phoneme scores

The relationship between RGDT and AB word phoneme scores based on deafness onset and stimulation rate are shown in figure 54-58.

Subject are represented using the following legend on each graph: Pink Circle = Subjects in the pre-lingual and high stimulation rate group Pink Triangle = Subjects in the pre-lingual and low stimulation rate group Green Circle = Subjects in the post-lingual high stimulation rate group Green Triangle = Subjects in the post-lingual low stimulation rate group

Figure 54 shows the distribution of scores show that the majority of the subjects in the postlingual group with high stimulation rates had shorter average RGDT thresholds and these correlated to higher percentage AB word phoneme scores. In contrast, subjects in the prelingual group with low stimulation rates had longer average RGDT scores which correlated to lower percentage AB word phonemes correct scores. The two subjects in the post-lingual low rate group had higher RGDT scores compared to the majority of the post-lingual high rate group and one of these subjects had AB word phoneme scores similar to those of the prelingual low rate group. Two of the subjects in the post-lingual high rate group had similar RGDT scores as those in the pre-lingual low rate group, but interestingly one of these subjects was able to achieve a relatively high AB word phoneme score despite the general trend of decreased AB word phoneme scores with higher RGDT thresholds.

Figure 54-58 show the distribution of results across the different presentation levels which shows a similar trend across all levels with the exception of 40dBA where subjects in the post-lingual high rate group did not appear to have a significant performance advantage to the pre-lingual group.



Figure 54: Average RGDT thresholds and average AB Word phoneme scores for each subject by deafness onset and stimulation rate



Figure 55: AB Word Phoneme Scores at 70dBA for each subject by deafness onset and stimulation rate



Figure 56: AB Word Phoneme Scores at 60dBA for each subject by deafness onset and stimulation rate. Represents the score achieved by 1 subject in post-lingual high stimulation rate group and 1 subject in the pre-lingual high stimulation rate group.



Figure 57: AB Word Phoneme Scores at 50dBA for each subject by deafness onset and stimulation rate



Figure 58: AB Word Phoneme Scores at 40dBA for each subject by deafness onset and stimulation rate. Represents the score achieved by 1 subject in the post-lingual high stimulation rate group and 1 subject in the pre-lingual low stimulation rate group.

Figure 59 shows the distribution of RGDT thresholds and AB word phoneme scores in the prelingual group. The two subjects in the pre-lingual group with high stimulation rates had the shortest RGDT thresholds (35msecs) and had higher AB word phoneme scores in comparison to the rest of the pre-lingual group. All of the subjects with low stimulation rates had longer RGDT thresholds and lower AB word phonemes correct scores, with the exception of one subject who performed similarly to the subjects with high stimulation rates.



Figure 59: Average AB word phoneme scores in the pre-lingual group by average RDGT thresholds

Figure 60 shows the distribution of the RGDT thresholds and AB word phonemes scores in the post lingual group. Two subjects in the post-lingual group had low stimulation rates, one of these subjects had RGDT thresholds and AB word phoneme scores in the mid-range, whilst the other showed longer RGDT thresholds and lower AB word phonemes correct score.



Figure 60: Average AB word phoneme scores in the post-lingual group by average RDGT thresholds

Chapter 7: Discussion

7.1 Summary of thesis and overall findings

The primary purpose of the present thesis was to investigate if objective and behavioural measurements of temporal processing were predictive of speech performance and to see if these measures were correlated to each other. To the authors knowledge, this is the first study which has investigated this and the findings of this research provide a novel contribution to the existing literature, which is currently limited in this area. The main aims of this research were to answer the following questions:

- 1. Can objective intracochlear measurements of the eCAP recovery function be completed successfully in a clinical setting?
- 2. Does this objective measurement inform us about the underlying physiology and temporal response properties of ANFs at a peripheral level based on deafness onset and stimulation rate?
- 3. Do eCAP recovery function measurements predict psychophysical performance as measured by RGDT?
- 4. Do deafness onset and stimulation rate effect RGDT thresholds?
- 5. Do these objective and behavioural measurements predict speech performance, as measured by AB word phoneme scores?

Below is a summary of the findings of this study that answer the above questions:

- The eCAP recovery function can be measured reliably and successfully in CI users without the need of any additional testing equipment in a routine clinical setting. The measurement was relatively quick to complete and it took approximately 10 minutes to collect eCAP recovery function recordings at the four test electrodes.
- 2. There was not a significant interaction between eCAP recovery function measurements and duration of deafness (with the exception of Tau values at E16, which were predicted by deafness onset) or stimulation rate. A significant difference was found in the eCAP Tau value, which is a proxy for the RRP, at each electrode location. Longer Tau time constants

were found in the apical electrode when compared to the basal electrode across all subjects.

- 3. The eCAP recovery function and RGDT scores were not correlated, hence our study could not establish if a neural-behavioural relationship existed.
- 4. The eCAP recovery function was not correlated to speech performance, but RGDT was in the same individuals. There was a significant effect of deafness onset and stimulation rate on RGDT scores; with shorter gap detection thresholds in subjects with post-lingual deafness and high stimulation rates and we found overwhelming evidence that this was predictive of speech perception across a range of scenarios. Additionally, there was a significant effect of frequency, with shorter RGDT thresholds recorded at 500Hz when compared to 4000Hz across all subjects.

In this chapter the above findings are discussed, taking into consideration what impact particular methodological choices had and how this compares with previous studies. The results are discussed in the following subsections:

- 7.2 the results of the eCAP recovery function measurement,
- 7.3 the results of the RGDT thresholds,
- 7.4 the results of the RGDT threshold and AB word phoneme scores,
- 7.5 the limitations of the current study are outlined,
- 7.6 a proposal for a future study is outlined.

7.2 The eCAP recovery function

The author acknowledges that the current study was under powered as the sample was made up of pre and post lingually deafened adults, with different durations of deafness and age which increases between subject variability, and this may explain why highly variable eCAP recovery function measurements were obtained in this group of subjects. Due to the low power, it is possible that the effect of deafness onset and stimulation rate for the eCAP recovery function may have been altered or diminished. A *posthoc* sample size calculation for multiple regression showed that for the medium effect (R^2 =0.35) observed in the present study for eCAP recovery Tau measurements, a much larger sample of 36 subjects would be needed to achieve a power of 0.8. Although no relationship was found between eCAP recovery function and speech perception, there was a significant difference in Tau measurements based on electrode location, which may be indicative of the function of the underlying neural structures and is discussed in further detail below, however, due to low power in the current study this finding needs to be replicated in future studies with a larger sample size and better control for between subject variability.

7.2.1 Feasibility of measuring the eCAP recovery function

The present study demonstrated the eCAP recovery function could be measured with relative ease and with a high success rate. The eCAP recovery function was recorded in 92% of electrodes tested in comparison to 52% of electrodes tested in the study by Botros and Psarros (2010). The eCAP recovery function is a more complex measurement in comparison to the routinely used eCAP threshold measurement, which has a reported success rate in excess of 90% (Botros et al., 2007; van Dijk et al., 2007); the results of the present study show that the eCAP recovery function can be measured successfully in a clinical setting without the need for any additional equipment. Many of the earlier eCAP recovery function studies have been conducted using older implant models Cl24M or Cl24R (Battmer et al., 2004; Charasse et al., 2003; Morsnowski et al., 2006), as we used newer models (Cl512 and Cl532) they provided the methodological advantage of measurements at shorter MPIs, 13ms versus 250ms for the Cl24Mand Cl24R (Gordon and Papsin, 2013) which may also account for some of the variability seen between the results of these studies.

7.2.2 The eCAP recovery function and deafness onset

As discussed in chapter 2, section 2.5, SGC survival is likely to play a critical role in determining performance with a CI, and is negatively correlated with the duration of deafness prior to cochlear implantation (Gantz et al. 1988; Blamey et al., 1996; Nadol et al., 1989). There is currently a limited amount of evidence on the correlation between speech perception and residual SGC counts in CI users. As SGC count cannot be measured directly in CI users, in this study, we utilised the eCAP recovery function as a measure of the underlying neural physiology in CI users with both pre and post lingual deafness. It was hypothesised that subjects with pre-lingual deafness would have poorer neural function, resulting in compromised temporal processing, slower eCAP recovery functions and limited speech perception abilities when compared to post-lingually deafened CI users. The results of the eCAP recovery function measurements in the present study did not support this hypothesis.

This study evaluated the refractory recovery time constants in adult CI users by measuring the eCAP recovery function; which reflects the integrity of the peripheral auditory system (Brown et al 1990; Gantz et al 1994; Kiefer et al 2001 and Nelson and Donaldson 2001) and estimates how fast stimulated ANs are able to recover from a single biphasic pulse. Numerous animal studies (Terayama et al, 1977; Spoendlin, 1984, Leake and Hradek, 1988; Shepherd and Javel, 1997; Hardie and Shepherd, 1999, Shepherd et al 2004) have shown that there is a rapid and extensive loss of peripheral processes in the organ of Corti which innervates the ANs following hearing loss; and this pattern is also observed in the human cochlea (Felix et al., 1990; Nadol, 1990; Felder et al., 1997). It was therefore hypothesised that the pre-lingual group in this study, with longer durations of profound deafness, would be impacted more significantly by these pathological changes; which are likely to reduce the efficiency with which ANs respond to electrical stimulation (Koles and Rasminsky, 1972; Zhou et al, 1995). The results of the present study indicate that the recovery time constant is not affected by deafness onset, as mentioned this could be due to the low power of the study, but when compared to other studies which have investigated the refractory time constants in human CI users; (Miller et al., 2000; Charasse et al., 2003; Battmer et al., 2004; Shpak et al., 2004; Morsnowski et al., 2006; Cohen, 2009; Botros and Psarros, 2010; Fulmer et al., 2011; Kim et al., 2011; Lee et al., 2012, He et al., 2017 and Hey et al., 2017) some key methodological differences might also account for the discrepancy in results between studies.

Simulated results based on a computational model of the cat auditory nerve, show that prolonged RRPs are associated with better neural survival in CI users (Botros and Psarros 2010). This finding was not replicated in our study and we found evidence for the converse, with longer Tau values in subjects with pre-lingual deafness. The computational model used by Bostros and Psarros (2010) assumes that the firing rate of the ANs is independent of the neural population, our results show there is no statistically significant correlation between T0 (a proxy for ARP) and tau (a proxy for RRP). This would suggest that the firing rate of ANs could vary as a function of the size of the neural population; this is supported by the finding of normal RRPs in children with CND who presumably have reduced nerve density (He et al., 2017). Additionally, there are anatomical differences between the ANs examined in animal studies and the human cochlea (Nadol, 1988; Felix, 2002), which may account for this difference in results.

Furthermore, the simulated model used in Botros and Psarros (2010) was heavily based on the assumption that eCAP amplitude is the sole determinant of loudness perception, that eCAPs of equal amplitude correspond to equal loudness (Fletcher and Munson 1933). While this assumption is reasonable for an idealised model in which all ANs are characterised by the same parameters using a single auditory nerve replica; in human CI users equal firing rates are not possible across different subjects due to variations in the degree of damage to the neural population. The eCAP amplitude is dependent on the number of ANs recruited as well the firing rate of each of these ANs. McKay and McDermott (1998) investigated how mechanisms of loudness affected the firing probability based on the duration of hearing loss and postulated that the firing rate plays the dominant role when neural survival is poor, with a high firing rate corresponding to longer durations of deafness. In the present study although not statistically significant, there was a trend for higher eCAP amplitudes in the post-lingual group compared to the pre-lingual group, which might suggest, there is a greater density of excitable neural fibres in the post-lingual group.

In cats, Li and Young (1993) showed that ANs with high firing rates had fast recovery from relative refractoriness, and the ARP was independent of firing rate. In this study there was a statistically significant difference in the eCAP Tau values at each electrode location, the RRP decreased as the stimulating site moved in an apical to basal direction, which supports the possibility that ANs near the apical electrode have a lower firing rate than those near the basal electrode in our subject group, assuming that the loss of the peripheral processes is greater towards the more basal regions of the cochlea over time. Due to the large variability in the results of the present study, this finding needs to be replicated in future studies to strengthen the argument that the eCAP Tau provides a direct measure of the function of the underlying neural population.

Lai and Dillier (2010) measured eCAP recovery function and found large variations in the recovery time constant at lower eCAP response amplitudes (<100 μ V). As eCAP recovery function is dependent on the synchrony of the responding ANs, a possible explanation for this observation is that larger amplitudes are likely to be associated with ANs that respond in a highly synchronised and deterministic manner, whereas smaller response amplitudes may be associated with more stochastic firing and therefore produce larger variations in the eCAP recovery function. In comparison, 66 amplitude measurements were collected in this study, of which 25 had responding amplitudes lower than 100 μ V, the majority of which were obtained at electrodes 10 and 6. This would suggest that in the current sample the eCAP recovery function is showing highly synchronised and deterministic activity at electrode 19 and 16, which may also be reflective of the neural survival in this region as more ANs can be recruited. In contrast electrode 10 and 6 appear to be showing more stochastic firing patterns, however this experiment lacks power so further studies are required to demonstrate this effect. It is also

important to note that the eCAP recovery function is unable to inform us regarding where the deterministic vs stochastic activity originates within the ANs as it is an aggregate response, so it is most probably reflective of the density of the underlying neural population.

7.2.3 The eCAP recovery function and implant type

Botros and Psarros (2010) compared the eCAP recovery function obtained for different electrode array designs, Cochlear Nucleus Freedom Implants contour vs straight electrode array. Based on the findings of previous studies (Cohen et al., 2003; Hughes and Abbas, 2006) it was assumed that fewer neurons would be activated in subjects with a contour electrode array as they exhibit a reduction in the spread of excitation on stimulation. However, Cohen et al (2005) reported no difference in the spread of neural excitation measured between CI users with these two electrode arrays. More importantly, the spread of neural excitation was not measured in Botros and Psarros (2010), they reported a faster rate of recovery with the contour array compared to the straight array, but the assumed difference in neural population between implant model remains unverified. In the present study all subjects were recipients of a contour modiolar implant, the Nucleus CI532 or Nucleus CI512 device, so the results do not provide insight on the effect of intracochlear electrode position on eCAP refractory recovery function recordings. However, the multiple regression analysis showed a significant effect of implant type for the Tau measurement on electrode 19. The Nucleus CI532 has a is thinner, less stiff electrode array and is 60% of the volume of Nucleus CI512, it is designed to be inserted atraumatically, bringing electrode contacts closer to the modiolus, hence closer to the SGCs (Aschendorff et al., 2017; Shaul et al., 2018; McJunkin et al., 2018). Electrode contacts closer to the target neuronal population reduces the spread of excitation, resulting in more focused stimulation (Jeong et al., 2015) and potentially better speech perception (Hey et al., 2019). As implant type was not a predictor variable for any of the other eCAP recovery function measurements, and because in the present study there is a confound with the majority of the pre-lingual subjects being Nucleus CI532 recipients and the majority of the post-lingual subjects being Nucleus CI512 recipients the author is not confident regarding the robustness of this finding in the present study.

7.2.4 The eCAP recovery function and stimulation rate

The was no significant effect of stimulation rate on the eCAP recovery function. Few studies have characterised the temporal response properties of ANs for human CI users by measuring the eCAP recovery function at different stimulation rates, with variable results (Brown et al.,

1990; 1994; Wilson et al., 1997; Rubinstein et al., 1999; Kiefer et al, 2001; Shpak et al 2004; Fulmer et al., 2011; Hughes et al., 2012; Lee et al., 2012). Shpak et al (2004) measured the eCAP recovery function based on subjectively preferred rates and reported significantly longer recovery time constants in subjects' who preferred slower stimulation rates (900Hz or 1200Hz) than those in subjects' who preferred faster stimulation rates (1800Hz). As the authors did not examine preference at lower rates (250Hz or 500Hz) and did not perform any formal speech perception assessments, we are unable to make a direct comparison with the findings of the current study, furthermore, this positive correlation was not replicated in a follow-up study by the same author (Shpak, 2005).

7.2.5 The eCAP recovery function and speech perception

One shortcoming of the present study is that the stimulation rate was not systematically varied, therefore it is not possible to postulate if differences in performance as a function of stimulation rate result from underlying temporal response properties of the auditory nerve. Furthermore, there is a confound in the present study as the majority of the subjects in the low rate group had pre-lingual deafness; therefore, their ability to attain the same level of speech perception as the post-lingually deaf subjects is likely to be compromised (Teoh et al., 2004; Klop et al, 2007). In hindsight had the same subjects been tested with different stimulation rates, it may have been possible to provide findings on the clinical applications of the eCAP recovery function in optimising stimulation rates and speech performance. For these reasons future studies are needed with a larger sample size without the confound of deafness onset to identify if eCAP recovery function can help predict the stimulation rate that will provide optimal speech performance.

The lack of correlation between the eCAP recovery function and speech scores could be because measurements were obtained for a single masker-probe pulse pair rather than pulse trains, which are used for everyday listening. Single pulse eCAP recovery function measurements represent the aggregate response across a collection of ANs that vary in diameter, discharge thresholds, firing probability and recovery time (Brown et al., 1990) and is therefore not a measure of central temporal processing. By using different stimulation paradigms, eCAP measurements can inform us regarding different aspects of temporal processing, this study focused on recovery from refractoriness. Continuous stimulation with pulse trains is likely to result in adaptation due to depletion of neurotransmitters at the synaptic gap between the ANs and ANFs (Fruhstorfer, 1971; Smith 1977; Smith and Brachman 1982; Boettcher et al., 1990; Javel, 1996; Loquet et al., 2004; Morsnowski et al., 2006; Zhang et al., 2007). Adaptation is a ANs tendency to lower its excitability in response to sustained action

potentials and is thought to play an important role in speech encoding at the level of the auditory nerve as it removes redundant information (Geurts and Wouters, 1999; Fairhall et al., 2001; Avissar et al., 2007). Fast neural adaptation and recovery from prior stimulation have been proposed to enhance acoustic onsets in the speech waveform (Delgutte, 1997). Abnormal neural adaptation patterns, excessive adaptation and/or slow recovery from adaptation could potentially cause poor representation of temporal envelopes at the auditory nerve (Jeng et al., 2009), and might contribute to poor speech perception in some CI users (Wilson et al., 1994; Nelson and Donaldson, 2002). Recovery from refractoriness and adaptation are therefore likely to involve different phenomena; and we propose a further study which investigates eCAP recovery function from neural adaptation later on in this chapter which may provide insight on temporal integration and speech performance.

It is quite possible that the relationship between SGC count and speech perception is not linear and processed speech delivered by CIs may contain redundant information that can mask functional changes that occur at the peripheral level. As speech perception is measured using the entire electrode array, these variations could impact performance and may account for the lack of correlation between the eCAP recovery function and speech perception (Miller 2008). Furthermore, speech perception is influenced by factors such as neural plasticity and cognition which are independent of the auditory periphery so it is plausible that the eCAP recovery function lacks sensitivity to correlate with behavioural measures of temporal resolution and speech perception. Further studies with a larger sample and sufficient power would be required before any conclusions can be drawn.

7.2.6 The eCAP recovery function and RGDT thresholds

The eCAP recovery function was not correlated to the RGDT thresholds. To date, there is only one study which has examined the relationship between recovery from neural adaptation, RGDTs and speech perception in CI users (Zhang et al., 2013). Although Zhang et al (2013), investigated a different aspect of temporal processing (adaptation) to the present study (refractoriness), there are several key methodological similarities and differences of importance. Zhang et al (2013) measured the neural adaptation of the auditory nerve induced by a 50-ms pulse train with a pulse rate of 1,000 pps at a single electrode in 14 post-lingually deaf CI users. Similar to the present study they utilised the NRT software, therefore, only included subjects with a Cochlear corporation device. Their results showed no association between the amount of neural adaptation of the auditory nerve and RGDT thresholds or speech perception, similar to the findings of the present study. In the present study the eCAP recovery function was measured at 4 electrode locations corresponding to the frequency

allocation of the RGDT test, in order to capture the variability in neural health along the length of the electrode array, which presumably is relevant for both temporal resolution and processing of complex speech signals (Scheperle and Abbas, 2015); and other studies have shown that neural adaptation varies across stimulation sites within individual patients (Hughes et al., 2012; He et al., 2016a). As speech perception requires the listener to attend to changes in stimulation patterns across multiple electrode sites and levels, measurements at more than one electrode location are likely to reflect the perceptual differences amongst CI users more accurately. However, in our study the RGDT thresholds were similar across the array, with longer RGDT thresholds in the basal region, which could suggest that there are more complex interactions involved in speech perception and other measures may assist with disentangling the peripheral and central contributions.

Zhang et al (2013) also measured the late latency auditory evoked potential (LAEP) in a group of 10 NH subjects who served as a control, however, the effect of age on temporal processing was not accounted for effectively, as these subjects were not age matched controls. The NH group were aged between 20-30 year and the CI group were aged 24-83 years, studies have demonstrated that temporal processing abilities deteriorate as age increases (Kumar and AVS, 2011). It should be noted that while Zhang et al (2013) obtained both eCAP and cortical physiological potentials within the same subjects, the degree of adaptation was not compared between the two physiological measures, therefore it is not possible to clarify the relative contributions of peripheral versus central adaptation to perceptual measures of temporal processing.

7.3 RGDT thresholds

Statistical analysis revealed that RGDT thresholds had a significant correlation with both deafness onset and stimulation rate and there was a significant effect of frequency across all subjects. Furthermore, multiple regression analysis revealed that stimulation rate significantly predicted RGDT thresholds. These findings are compared with previous studies below.

7.3.1 RGDT thresholds and deafness onset

The results of this study show that deafness onset significantly effects RGDT threshold and found longer RGDT thresholds in the pre-lingual group compared to the post-lingual group which is reflective of reduced central temporal resolution in subjects with prolonged periods of auditory deprivation likely due to the physiological and morphological differences in neural structures in the auditory pathway between the two groups. In subjects with pre-lingual deafness RGDT thresholds may be more significantly impaired due to greater and more

widespread neural pathology which results in altered temporal discharge patterns (Shepherd and Javel 1997) and this is consistent with experimental animal studies which have shown that auditory deprivation results in incomplete maturation and, or degeneration within the auditory system (Harrison et al, 1991; Moore, 1990; Seldon et al, 1996; Webster and Webster, 1977).

In electric stimulation, loudness is regulated by controlling the amount of charge delivered by each current pulse or current amplitude and is equated across electrodes in the recipient's clinical map by setting threshold (T) and comfortable levels (C). Individual variations regarding how loudness grows with current has been widely reported and attributed to differences in the spatial distribution of the surviving neurons and current spread (McKay, 2004). With electrical stimulation, all neurons in the electrical field fire synchronously (Kiang and Moxon, 1972; van den Honert and Stypulkowski, 1984; Javel et al., 1987), when the stimulus intensity is increased, more auditory neurons are stimulated which results in an increased perception of loudness (Javel and Viemeister, 2000). Studies which have measured electrical gap detection as a function of stimulus intensity have demonstrated that temporal acuity substantially improved with increasing stimulus level (Preece and Tyler, 1989; Shannon, 1989; Pfingst et al., 2007; Galvin and Fu, 2009). In the present study, a fixed presentation level of 60dBA was used as it was likely to reflect the maximum performance and would allow individual variation in speech perception to be shown. At higher presentation levels there is a greater spread of excitation (Bierer and Middlebrooks, 2002; Snyder et al., 2004) which leads to a larger number of ANs being stimulated which consequently leads to an increase in loudness. Stimulation at low presentation levels is likely to activate a smaller number of ANs due to more focused stimulation which may reflect the localised health of the neural population at the site of stimulation; we would therefore expect the largest variance in RGDT thresholds at low presentation levels. The findings of Garadat and Pfingst (2011) support the theory that the same pathological processes in the cochlea that facilitate loudness also affect GDTs similarly and would imply that there is variation in temporal processing along the tonotopic electrode array. They reported a reduction in the GDTs as electrodes were tested at higher levels of their dynamic range which would support the idea that the central auditory system may improve temporal acuity by merging responses from multiple neurons. As we did not assess GDTs as a function of intensity we are unable to postulate the relationship between the stimulus intensity and potential variations in GDTs, one shortcoming of this study is that despite expecting a floor effect, we are unable to demonstrate if the striking predictive power of RGDT threshold for speech performance is maintained at lower presentations levels.

7.3.2 RGDT thresholds and frequency

Shannon (1989) reported there was no marked difference in electrically measured GDTs at apical and basal electrodes in post-lingual CI users, which is consistent with previous findings, (Green, 1973; Shailer and Moore, 1983; Moore and Glasberg, 1988) suggesting that there is no inherent difference in gap detection in the central auditory system when using information from apical or basal regions of the cochlea. We examined the variability in RGDT thresholds at different sites along the electrode array and observed significantly lower acoustic RGDT thresholds at the lower frequency electrode (500Hz) compared to the mid frequency electrode (2000Hz) and high frequency electrode (4000Hz). The same difference was observed at the mid frequency electrode (1000Hz) and the high frequency electrode (4000Hz). These difference in RGDTs thresholds whilst significant and elude to better neural survival in the apical region in the authors opinion they are unlikely to demonstrate that the RGDT thresholds can be utilised as a peripheral measure. As the RGDT thresholds were measured via a speech processor they do not provide a direct measure of neural health and function of the mechanisms that underlie gap detection ability.

7.3.3 RGDT thresholds and stimulation rate

The results of the present study indicate that there is a significant effect of stimulation rate on RGDT thresholds at all frequencies. The subjects with high stimulation rates show shorter RGDT thresholds and better temporal resolution when compared to subjects with low stimulation rates; however, it is important to mention the confound of deafness onset in this study when the effects of stimulation rate on RGDT scores are considered. The high stimulation rate group consisted of 11 subjects, 9 of whom were post-lingually deaf and 2 were pre-lingually deaf (subject 12 and 17). When the RGDT scores for subject 12 and 17 are examined more closely, their composite RGDT scores are longer compared to the rest of the group with the exception of subject 6 and 13 who despite being post-lingually deaf have much longer composite RGDT thresholds, similar to those observed in the low stimulation rate group, see table 22 and figure 61. In comparison to the low stimulation rate group subject 12 and 17 still had shorter RGDT thresholds compared to the rest of the subjects in that group, however, the rate of their map was not adjusted in this study, hence RGDT scores were not re-tested with a lower rate MAP. Closer examination of the RGDT scores in the low stimulation rate group, which consisted of 7 subjects, 4 of these subjects were pre-lingually deaf and 2 were post-lingually deaf (subject 15 and 18), show that subject 15 had similar RGDT scores to the rest of the group but subject 18 had the shortest RGDT scores in comparison to the rest of the group, see table 23 and figure 62 below.

Busby and Clark (1999) reported that pulse rate had no influence on the electric GDTs of prelingually deafened adults up to 1000 pps, however, GDTs were only obtained from a single electrode (14) and therefore differences in GDTs across the electrode array were not examined. It is possible that the GDTs could be elevated in areas of poor neural survival, however, studies examining neural responses to electrical stimulation in animals have shown that rates above 800 pps lead to less effective phase locking and entrainment of neurons due to refractory properties being more dominant (Parkins, 1989; Dynes and Delgutte, 1992). As RGDTs were measured acoustically and at one stimulation rate for each subject in the present study, no inferences can be made, further research is required to corroborate the stimulation rate effect, a larger sample size where subjects' GDTs are measured for a range of stimulation rates is likely to provide more information on the optimal stimulation rate for the effective transfer of temporal information in auditory system.

	Subject 2	Subject 3	Subject 4	Subject 6	Subject 8	Subject 11	Subject 12	Subject 13	Subject 14	Subject 16	Subject 17
500Hz	15	5	10	40	15	10	30	50	15	40	30
1000Hz	20	5	5	50	15	10	30	50	10	40	30
2000Hz	15	15	15	70	15	10	40	60	15	30	40
4000Hz	15	5	15	70	10	15	40	60	15	30	40
Composite	16.25	7.5	11.25	57.5	13.75	11.25	35	55	13.75	35	35

Table 22: RGDT thresholds in high stimulation rate group. Subjects 12 and 17 are prelingually deaf

	Subject 1	Subject 5	Subject 7	Subject 9	Subject 10	Subject 15	Subject 18
500Hz	60	30	60	50	40	50	30
1000Hz	70	40	70	50	60	50	30
2000Hz	70	30	60	50	60	50	25
4000Hz	70	50	60	70	70	60	40
Composite	67.5	37.5	62.5	55	57.5	52.5	31.25

 Table 23: RGDT thresholds in low stimulation rate group. Subjects 15 and 18 are post

 lingually deaf.



Figure 61: Composite RGDT thresholds for subjects in the high stimulation rate group. Data for Subject 12 (red circle) and Subject 17 (green circle)




7.3.4 The RGDT thresholds and age

In this study, age and RGDT scores were not correlated however; it is well established in the literature that there is a decline in the ability to process temporal properties of sound with advancing age. It has been reported that temporal processing ability declines after the fourth decade of life and deterioration accelerates after 70 years of age (Snell, 1997; Pichora-Fuller et al., 2006; Humes et al., 2010; Kumar and Sangamanatha, 2011), even after peripheral hearing loss has been factored in (Grose et al., 2001; Roberts and Lister, 2004; Queiroz et al., 2010). In this study, the mean age was 64.5 years, with a range of 31-90 years. In the present study cognition was not formally assessed, it is therefore not possible to know what the influence of cognitive abilities and working memory on temporal resolution and speech perception were in the current subject group. Future studies could examine GDTs in different age groups, for example, CI users divided into three groups, a young group (18-40), a middle age group (40-60) and an elderly group (over 60) matched with non-implanted controls, which would aim to assess the impact of aging on the relationship between temporal resolution, cognition and the perception of speech. An additional limitation to the current study is that only one trial of the RGDT was administered which is likely to impact test repeatability.

7.4 RGDT thresholds and AB word phoneme scores

Despite the variability in age and deafness onset in the sample of the present study, RGDT thresholds significantly predicted speech performance at 70, 60 and 40dBA. The results of the present study show an extremely strong negative correlation between RGDT thresholds and AB word phoneme scores, with a notable effect of stimulation rate and infer that the extent to which CI users are able to resolve gap detections strongly predicts speech performance. As speech intelligibility relies on temporal features in speech, these findings confirm that poor temporal resolution reduces speech perception, which is dependent on the utilisation of several neural networks which involve processing at a central level (Tremblay et al., 2004; Wong et al., 2009). As anticipated peak speech performance was seen for all subjects with AB word phoneme scores at mid-high levels. All subjects scored relatively poorly when the presentation level dropped to 40dBA likely due to floor effects and levels being close to the subjects' MAP threshold levels.

6 subjects had normal RGDT thresholds <20 ms across all test frequencies and had correspondingly higher AB word phoneme scores compared to the rest of the subjects (see figures 63-66). 5 subjects had RGDT thresholds between 20-40ms and 7 subjects had RGDT thresholds > 40ms. Previous studies which have investigated the relationship between acoustic GDTs and speech perception have found that when the deficit in gap detection reached 40 msec, there was a noticeable adverse effect on CI users' speech performance (Tyler et al., 1989; Muchnik et al., 1994; Wei et al., 2007; Blakenship et al., 2016). Eggermont (1995) reported that a GDT of 40 msec is critical for accurate speech performance because this value is close to the common duration found for voice onset times and forms the temporal boundary for categorical perception of some fricative/plosive contrasts. The results of the present study corroborate these findings and show subjects with RGDT scores >40 msec demonstrate poorer speech perception (see figures 63-66). The presentation level effect on speech recognition for subjects based on RGDT scores shows variance in performance, suggesting that some individuals are impacted by the reduction in presentation level more significantly than others. This may in part be attributed to the limitations in the information provided by the speech processing strategy but could also be caused as a result of spectral smearing, channel interaction, and limitations of fine structure information.

182



Figure 63: The AB word phoneme scores at 70dBA shown for each subject based on individual RGDT thresholds



Figure 64: The AB word phoneme scores at 60dBA shown for each subject based on individual RGDT thresholds



Figure 65: The AB word phoneme scores at 50dBA shown for each subject based on individual RGDT thresholds



Figure 66: The AB word phoneme scores at 40dBA shown for each subject based on individual RGDT thresholds

Blakenship et al (2016) examined the relationship between behavioural GDTs (using the RDGT as in this study) and a range of commonly used speech perception measures in the USA (Speech Recognition Test [SRT], Central Institute for the Deaf W-22 Word Recognition Test [W-22], Consonant-Nucleus-Consonant Test [CNC], Arizona Biomedical Sentence Recognition Test [AzBio], Bamford-Kowal-Bench Speech-in-Noise Test [BKB-SIN]). Their sample consisted of 12 post-lingually deaf adult CI users (24-83 years) and 10 NH (22-30 years) subjects. Three of the main methodological differences in their study in comparison to the present study is that the RGDT was presented via a speaker and the present study used a circumaural headphones over the speech processor for reasons described in section 5.7. The MCL was not measured in our subjects to minimise the loudness across subjects, however, the presentation level for CI users was 60 dB HL and Blakenship et al (2016) ranged from 60-75dB HL. Furthermore, as the present study did not have a NH group we did not need to accommodate for the potential differences in audiometric thresholds between a NH and CI group. A sound field CI assisted audiogram was not completed prior to completion of testing in the present study as it was assumed that the subjects' map was optimised as they all had a minimum period of 9 months of use with their device.

Similar to the findings of this research Blakenship et al (2016) found there was a significant negative relationship between the RGDT thresholds and speech perception performance on the CNC-Phoneme (which is a monosyllabic speech test similar to AB words) and AzBio test (which is a sentence test). They additionally reported a positive correlation between RGDT thresholds and the signal to noise ratio for performance on the BKB-SIN speech perception test. Subjects with better temporal resolution (shorter RGDT thresholds) were able to discriminate 50% of the target words in the BKB-SIN sentences correctly at a lower signal-to-noise ratio. The present study did not examine the effect of RGDT thresholds on speech performance in noise and further studies investigating this with a range of speech materials in quiet and noise may help better identify temporal deficits that can assist with post-operative rehabilitation.

As hypothesised Blakenship et al (2016) found that there was a statistically significant difference in RGDT thresholds between the NH and CI group and poorer speech performance was found on all speech tests in the CI group compared to the NH group. They reported CI users had an average composite gap detection threshold of 24.96 ms with a range of 7.5 to 67.5 ms which is consistent with the findings of the present study, which found an average composite acoustic RGDT threshold of 36.39ms with a range of 7.5-67.5ms. There was a

difference between the average composite acoustic GDT in the pre-lingual (50.31ms, range 35-67.5ms) and post-lingual group (25.25, range 7.5 – 57.5ms), which is similar to the results reported by other researchers (Wei et al., 2007; Zhang et al., 2015) who measured acoustic GDTs in CI users. The significantly longer GDTs in CI users compared to NH controls in the study by Blakenship et al (2016) could be attributed to the limitations in CI technology where a reduced number of electrode contacts (a maximum of 22 in Cochlear Ltd devices) are available to stimulate the surviving auditory neurons in comparison to the abundant and normally functioning cochlear hair cells in NH listeners.

Similar to the present study, Blakenship et al (2016) obtained measurement from CI users who received Cochlear Ltd devices. They used the subject's own speech processor for testing, the models used were Freedom and Nucleus 5, so some of the variance in their results within the CI group may be due to differences in microphone technology between the processor models. The freedom processor only has a rear omnidirectional microphone whereas the Nucleus 5 has both rear and front microphones in omnidirectional mode. This may have affected results of the RGDT where stimuli were presented via a speaker at 0 degrees' azimuth and for speech testing in noise as the Freedom processor. In our sample all subjects were recipients of peri-modiolar electrode array, whereas the participants in the Blakenship et al (2016) study had a range of internal devices including straight electrode arrays. This is likely to be of more importance when considering electrically measured GDTs where the distance from the stimulated electrode contact and target neurons may affect GDTs (Mino et al., 2004) more significantly.

Similar to the present study, Blakenship et al (2016), did not find that deafness onset was a predictor of performance, this may be due the more varied aetiology (Rubella, Meniere's disease, genetic hearing loss, Alport's syndrome, Noise and MMR) in their subject group which may lead to different deficits in the auditory pathway. Most of the subject's in the present study had unknown aetiology of hearing loss and the finding of longer RGDT thresholds and poorer speech performance in pre-lingually deaf subjects is supported by previous work which has shown individuals with long term deafness take a longer time to acclimatise to the signal provided by a cochlear implant, with the duration of auditory deprivation being reported to be correlated to speech perception performance in multiple studies (Blamey et al., 1996; Rubinstein et al., 1999; Holden et al., 2013). Some studies assessing pre-lingual Cl users over time found that auditory performance continued to improve beyond 6 months or even 1 year

after implantation (Santarelli et al., 2008; Shpak et al., 2009; Zeitler et al., 2012), In the present study, the pre-lingual group consisted of subjects with a range (9 months – 7 years) of experience with their Cls. However, in this small sample of 7 subjects, 5 had less than 16 months of use with their device and only 2 had > 3years of use with their device. Therefore, duration of implant use is a possible confound in this study as the pre-lingual group may not have achieved peak performance with their device at the time of testing in comparison to the post-lingual group who reach optimal performance faster.

7.5 Limitations of current study

There are a few limitations in the present study, firstly, subjects were recruited by convenience sampling and were stratified by deafness onset. Other factors such as age, sex and aetiology of hearing impairment were not closely monitored when recruiting subjects. The author acknowledges that any of these factors could have resulted in greater variability in data, thereby reducing the statistical power of the findings. As reported in section 7.2 a posthoc power calculation showed the study lacked power to show an effect of deafness onset and stimulation rate for eCAP recovery function measurements. Sampling was conducted in this manner, to ensure an adequate number of subjects could be recruited from a small sample population. A high degree of variability in individual performance was expected so an attempt was made to control for as many factors that could predict performance, such as deafness onset, device type and stimulation rate and a balanced experiment was designed. It is difficult to compare results across studies very closely as there are large differences in test methodology and CI user processing characteristics as discussed in chapter 7. This was the first study to investigate if objective and behavioural measures of temporal processing in CI users could predict speech performance and had the methodological advantage of recording the eCAP recovery function measurements using the same NRT software across subjects with a peri-modiolar implant device. Despite being underpowered the results of this study still provide the largest sample of eCAP recovery function recordings in human subjects and confirm that the current methodology is appropriate to obtain measurements. However, further studies are needed to answer whether the eCAP recovery function is able to inform us regarding temporal processing at a peripheral level.

A further methodological weakness in this study was that speech perception testing was completed in quiet, the main reason for this was given the lack of evidence currently available between objective and behavioural measures of temporal processing and speech perception, it seemed reasonable to investigate and establish if any relationship existed for performance in quiet. Additionally, the aim of the study was to find the best speech perception scores in order to elucidate which factors might contribute to or predict performance, and poorer performance would be expected across CI subjects for speech performance in noise. In the next section a further study to examine the relationship between RGDT and speech testing in noise is proposed.

During the course of the present study, there was an update to the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) (2019) technology appraisal guidance (TA566), cochlear implants for children and adults with severe to profound hearing loss; which resulted in AB word tests replacing the BKB sentence test for assessing benefit with hearing aids and are now used to assess candidacy for cochlear implantation in the UK. Given the strong predictive power of RGDT for AB word phoneme scores, the findings of the present study may inform clinical decision making, as there is currently limited evidence that would allow prediction of AB word phoneme scores post implantation. Further studies are needed to calculate such predictions.

7.6 Future studies

The current study demonstrates that stimulation rate is a determinant of RGDT thresholds, which in turn are an extremely strong predictor of speech performance in quiet. A possible further study could examine these effects for speech performance in noise, it is well documented that speech categorisation in noise is a more complex temporal task (Gordon-Salant and Fitzgibbons, 1993 Swaminathoan and Heinz, 2012; Picton, 2013), Additionally, temporal auditory processing is crucial for speech perception ability and understanding speech in noise (Rawool, 2007), therefore further investigation may provide more comprehensive information on whether RGDT (within-channel) and speech in noise use the same temporal mechanisms. Based on the very strong relationship between the RGDT and AB word phoneme scores in quiet in the current study, it is hypothesised that the same temporal resolution abilities are required for both tasks, it would therefore hold to reason that this relationship will be maintained for AB word phoneme scores with decreasing signal-to-noise ratio.

Previous studies which have investigated speech performance in noise in post-lingually deaf CI users have reported similar results. For example, Blakenship et al (2016) reported significantly poorer performance on all speech tests compared to their NH group. Their results for the BKB-SIN was 9.12 dB SNR-50 (SD = 5.52), which is slightly better but comparable to

the results of Donaldson et al (2009) who reported values of BKB-SIN SNR-50 value of 11.9 dB SNR and Gifford et al (2008) reported values of BKB-SIN (11.4 dB SNR-50 for unilateral CI users, 9.8 dB SNR-50 for bilateral CI users) in a large group of subjects (n=156). Blakenship et al (2016) may have reported slightly better results that both Donaldson et al (2009) and Gifford et al (2008) as 5 out of their 12 subjects were bilateral cochlear implant users and are likely to have had an advantage compared to unilaterally implanted subjects.

As discussed the subject's stimulation rate was not changed and testing was not repeated, therefore a follow-up study, ideally with the same subject group would examine the effect of rate on speech performance in quiet, as well as in noise. In the first step, the subject's map rates would be varied systematically (between 250Hz, 500Hz, 900Hz and 1200Hz) and the subject will be given a period of 4 weeks to acclimatise to each map change. Following this period of adjustment, the existing methodology can be used to measure eCAP recovery function, RGDT thresholds and AB word phoneme scores in quiet. Additionally, AB word phoneme scores in noise (adult babble +SNR20, +SNR15, +SNR10, +SNR5 dBHL) can be measured at each rate.

Future studies could utilise the same NRT software used in the current study to complete eCAP measurements for other temporal response properties of the ANFs, such as adaptation and facilitation. This may allow comparison of different temporal measures in CI users that may be predictive of speech performance. Recovery from neural adaptation at the level of the auditory nerve can be evaluated by measuring eCAP amplitude in response to the probe pulse at different time points after the masker-pulse-train ceases. The forward masking paradigm used in this study requires a further modification in order to complete this measurement, specifically the single pulse masker (used in this study) is replaced by a pulse train and the MPI is set to equal the interpulse interval (IPI) of the pulse train (see figure 70), which is the same methodology used by Zhang et al (2013). To assess the degree of auditory-nerve adaptation it is possible to change the duration of the pulse train (thereby the number of pulses), which makes it possible to obtain eCAP measurements evoked by individual pulses in the train.



Figure 67: **(I)**The recording conditions used to obtain single pulse recordings (RRF) and pulse train recordings (Adaptation) and **(II)** How the eCAP to an individual pulse train would be derived

The NRT uses a forward masking method that consists of recordings under 4 stimulus frames to remove stimulus artefact, see figure 67. The probe alone (A), masker plus- probe (B), masker alone (C), and zero-amplitude pulse (D). From the single pulse recording, the eCAP response derived by using subtraction (A-B+C-D) was used as the response to the first pulse in the train when evaluating adaptation. Also the single pulse recording provides an artefact template that was derived by subtracting the recording frame for the masker alone condition from the recording frame for the masker-plus-probe condition (B-C). In the pulse train recording, the last pulse in the train was treated as the probe and the preceding pulses were treated as the masker pulse train. After the data were collected, the recording from the masker pulse train-alone condition was subtracted from the masker pulse train-plus probe condition (B'-C') to derive an ECAP to the last pulse in the train along with the stimulus artifact (B'-C'). Then the artifact template from single pulse recording was subtracted from to obtain the eCAP to the last pulse in the train along with the stimulus artifact (B'-C').

Chapter 8: Conclusion

This work contributes to a small, but growing body of evidence on temporal processing abilities in CI users. Specifically, how individual differences in temporal processing and variations in neural health among CI users contributes to speech recognition. The results of this study demonstrate that the extent to which CI users are able to resolve gaps strongly predicts speech performance. The eCAP recovery function was not predictive of speech performance but the RGDT thresholds were in the same individuals across presentation levels. Individuals with post-lingual deafness and higher stimulation rates demonstrated shorter RGDT thresholds and better speech recognition scores, even when stimulation rates no higher than 900 pps/ch were used, which suggests in our small sample, the post-lingual group may have been able to reach partial stochastic independence which may explain some of the individual differences in performance. Furthermore, given the strong predictive power of RGDT thresholds its use more routinely in clinical practice should be considered. This study also demonstrated that the eCAP recovery function can be measured reliably and successfully in CI users without the need of any additional testing equipment in a routine clinical setting and was quick to administer.

References

Abbas, P. J., & Brown, C. J. (1988). Electrically evoked brainstem potentials in cochlear implant patients with multi-electrode stimulation. *Hear Res, 36*(2-3), 153-162.

Abbas, P. J., & Brown, C. J. (1991a). Electrically evoked auditory brainstem response: growth of response with current level. *Hear Res, 51*(1), 123-137.

Abbas, P. J., & Brown, C. J. (1991b). Electrically evoked auditory brainstem response: refractory properties and strength-duration functions. *Hear Res*, *51*(1), 139-147.

Abbas, P. J., & Brown, C. J. (2015). Assessment of responses to cochlear implant stimulation at different levels of the auditory pathway. *Hear Res, 322*, 67-76.

Abbas, P. J., Brown, C. J., Hughes, M. L., Gantz, B. J., Wolaver, A. A., Gervais, J. P., et al. (2000). Electrically evoked compound action potentials recorded from subjects who use the nucleus CI24M device. *Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol Suppl, 185*, 6-9.

Abbas, P. J., Brown, C. J., Shallop, J. K., Firszt, J. B., Hughes, M. L., Hong, S. H., et al. (1999). Summary of results using the nucleus CI24M implant to record the electrically evoked compound action potential. *Ear Hear, 20*(1), 45-59.

Abbas, P. J., & Gorga, M. P. (1981). AP responses in forward-masking paradigms and their relationship to responses of auditory-nerve fibers. *J Acoust Soc Am, 69*(2), 492-499.

Abbas, P. J., Hughes, M. L., Brown, C. J., Miller, C. A., & South, H. (2004). Channel interaction in cochlear implant users evaluated using the electrically evoked compound action potential. *Audiol Neurootol, 9*(4), 203-213.

Abbas, P. J., Tejani, V. D., Scheperle, R. A., & Brown, C. J. (2017). Using Neural Response Telemetry to Monitor Physiological Responses to Acoustic Stimulation in Hybrid Cochlear Implant Users. *Ear Hear, 38*(4), 409-425.

Adel, Y., Hilkhuysen, G., Noreña, A., Cazals, Y., Roman, S., & Macherey, O. (2017). Forward Masking in Cochlear Implant Users: Electrophysiological and Psychophysical Data Using Pulse Train Maskers. *J Assoc Res Otolaryngol, 18*(3), 495-512.

Alhaidary, A., & Tanniru, K. (2020). Across- and Within-Channel Gap Detection Thresholds Yielded by Two Different Test Applications. *J Am Acad Audiol, 31*(2), 111-117.

Altschuler, R. A., Dolan, D. F., Halsey, K., Kanicki, A., Deng, N., Martin, C., et al. (2015). Agerelated changes in auditory nerve-inner hair cell connections, hair cell numbers, auditory brain stem response and gap detection in UM-HET4 mice. *Neuroscience*, *292*, 22-33.

Alvarez, I., de la Torre, A., Sainz, M., Roldán, C., Schoesser, H., & Spitzer, P. (2010). Using evoked compound action potentials to assess activation of electrodes and predict C-levels in the Tempo+ cochlear implant speech processor. *Ear Hear, 31*(1), 134-145.

Amaral, M. I., Martins, P. M., & Colella-Santos, M. F. (2013). Temporal resolution: assessment procedures and parameters for school-aged children. *Braz J Otorhinolaryngol, 79*(3), 317-324.

Anderson, E. S., Oxenham, A. J., Nelson, P. B., & Nelson, D. A. (2012). Assessing the role of spectral and intensity cues in spectral ripple detection and discrimination in cochlear-implant users. *J Acoust Soc Am*, *13*2(6), 3925-3934.

Anderson, L. A., & Linden, J. F. (2016). Mind the Gap: Two Dissociable Mechanisms of Temporal Processing in the Auditory System. *J Neurosci, 36*(6), 1977-1995.

Anderson, S., Skoe, E., Chandrasekaran, B., & Kraus, N. (2010). Neural timing is linked to speech perception in noise. *J Neurosci, 30*(14), 4922-4926.

Anderson, S. R., Easter, K., & Goupell, M. J. (2019). Effects of rate and age in processing interaural time and level differences in normal-hearing and bilateral cochlear-implant listeners. *J Acoust Soc Am, 146*(5), 3232.

Apoux, F.; Tribut, N.; Debruille, X.; Lorenzi, C. (2004). Identification of envelope-expanded sentences in normal-hearing and hearing-impaired listeners. Hear. Res, 189, 13–24.

Arora, K., Dawson, P., Dowell, R., & Vandali, A. (2009). Electrical stimulation rate effects on speech perception in cochlear implants. *Int J Audiol, 48*(8), 561-567.

Arora, K., Vandali, A., Dowell, R., & Dawson, P. (2011). Effects of stimulation rate on modulation detection and speech recognition by cochlear implant users. *Int J Audiol, 50*(2), 123-132.

Aschendorff A, Briggs R, Brademann G, Helbig S, Hornung J, Lenarz T, Marx M, Ramos A, Stöver T, Escudé B, James CJ (2017) Clinical investigation of the nucleus slim modiolar electrode. Audiol Neurootol 22(3):169–179

Avissar, M., Furman, A. C., Saunders, J. C., & Parsons, T. D. (2007). Adaptation reduces spike-count reliability, but not spike-timing precision, of auditory nerve responses. *J Neurosci, 27*(24), 6461-6472.

Avissar, M., Wittig, J. H., Saunders, J. C., & Parsons, T. D. (2013). Refractoriness enhances temporal coding by s. *J Neurosci, 33*(18), 7681-7690.

Azadpour, M., & McKay, C. M. (2012). A psychophysical method for measuring spatial resolution in cochlear implants. *J Assoc Res Otolaryngol, 13*(1), 145-157.

Bahmer, A., & Baumann, U. (2012). Application of triphasic pulses with adjustable phase amplitude ratio (PAR) for cochlear ECAP recording: II. recovery functions. *J Neurosci Methods*, *205*(1), 212-220.

Bahmer, A., Peter, O., & Baumann, U. (2010). Recording and analysis of electrically evoked compound action potentials (ECAPs) with MED-EL cochlear implants and different artifact reduction strategies in Matlab. *J Neurosci Methods, 191*(1), 66-74.

Battmer, R. D., Dillier, N., Lai, W. K., Begall, K., Leypon, E. E., González, J. C., et al. (2010). Speech perception performance as a function of stimulus pulse rate and processing strategy preference for the Cochlear Nucleus CI24RE device: relation to perceptual threshold and loudness comfort profiles. *Int J Audiol, 49*(9), 657-666.

Battmer, R. D., Dillier, N., Lai, W. K., Weber, B. P., Brown, C., Gantz, B. J., et al. (2004). Evaluation of the neural response telemetry (NRT) capabilities of the nucleus research platform 8: initial results from the NRT trial. *Int J Audiol, 43 Suppl 1*, S10-15.

Başkent, D., & Shannon, R. V. (2004). Frequency-place compression and expansion in cochlear implant listeners. *J Acoust Soc Am*, *116*(5), 3130-3140.

Bellis, T. J., & Ross, J. (2011). Performance of normal adults and children on central auditory diagnostic tests and their corresponding visual analogs. *J Am Acad Audiol, 22*(8), 491-500.

Bekesy GV. Zur Theories des horens. Physik. Zeits. (1927); 30:115. Quoted in: Munson WA. The growth of auditory sensation. J Acoust Soc Am. 1947;19(4):584.

Ben-Artzi, E., Fostick, L., & Babkoff, H. (2005). Deficits in temporal-order judgments in dyslexia: evidence from diotic stimuli differing spectrally and from dichotic stimuli differing only by perceived location. *Neuropsychologia*, *43*(5), 714-723.

Berenstein, C. K., Mens, L. H., Mulder, J. J., & Vanpoucke, F. J. (2008). Current steering and current focusing in cochlear implants: comparison of monopolar, tripolar, and virtual channel electrode configurations. *Ear Hear, 29*(2), 250-260.

Bhargava, P., Gaudrain, E. & Başkent, D. (2016). The Intelligibility of Interrupted Speech: Cochlear Implant Users and Normal Hearing Listeners. *JARO* 17, 475–491

Bierer, J. A. (2007). Threshold and channel interaction in cochlear implant users: evaluation of the tripolar electrode configuration. *J Acoust Soc Am, 121*(3), 1642-1653.

Blamey, P. (1997). Are spiral ganglion cell numbers important for speech perception with a cochlear implant? *Am J Otol, 18*(6 Suppl), S11-12.

Blamey, P., Arndt, P., Bergeron, F., Bredberg, G., Brimacombe, J., Facer, G., et al. (1996). Factors affecting auditory performance of postlinguistically deaf adults using cochlear implants. *Audiol Neurootol, 1*(5), 293-306.

Blamey, P., Artieres, F., Başkent, D., Bergeron, F., Beynon, A., Burke, E., et al. (2013). Factors affecting auditory performance of postlinguistically deaf adults using cochlear implants: an update with 2251 patients. *Audiol Neurootol, 18*(1), 36-47.

Blamey, P. J., Dooley, G. J., Parisi, E. S., & Clark, G. M. (1996). Pitch comparisons of acoustically and electrically evoked auditory sensations. *Hear Res, 99*(1-2), 139-150.

Blamey, P. J., Pyman, B. C., Gordon, M., Clark, G. M., Brown, A. M., Dowell, R. C., et al. (1992). Factors predicting postoperative sentence scores in postlinguistically deaf adult cochlear implant patients. *Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol, 101*(4), 342-348.

Blankenship, C., Zhang, F., & Keith, R. (2016). Behavioral Measures of Temporal Processing and Speech Perception in Cochlear Implant Users. *J Am Acad Audiol, 27*(9), 701-713.

Boettcher, F. A., Salvi, R. J., & Saunders, S. S. (1990). Recovery from short-term adaptation in single neurons in the cochlear nucleus. *Hear Res, 48*(1-2), 125-144.

Bohte, S. M., La Poutre, H., & Kok, J. N. (2002). Unsupervised clustering with spiking neurons by sparse temporal coding and multilayer RBF networks. *IEEE Trans Neural Netw, 13*(2), 426-435.

Bohte, S. M., & Mozer, M. C. (2007). Reducing the variability of neural responses: a computational theory of spike-timing-dependent plasticity. *Neural Comput*, *19*(2), 371-403.

Bohte, S. M., Spekreijse, H., & Roelfsema, P. R. (2000). The effects of pair-wise and higher order correlations on the firing rate of a post-synaptic neuron. *Neural Comput, 12*(1), 153-179.

Boothroyd, A. (1968). Statistical theory of the speech discrimination score. *J Acoust Soc Am*, *43*(2), 362-367.

Botros, A., & Psarros, C. (2010a). Neural response telemetry reconsidered: I. The relevance of ECAP threshold profiles and scaled profiles to cochlear implant fitting. *Ear Hear, 31*(3), 367-379.

Botros, A., & Psarros, C. (2010b). Neural response telemetry reconsidered: II. The influence of neural population on the ECAP recovery function and refractoriness. *Ear Hear, 31*(3), 380-391.

Boulet, J., White, M., & Bruce, I. C. (2016). Temporal Considerations for Stimulating Spiral Ganglion Neurons with Cochlear Implants. *J Assoc Res Otolaryngol, 17*(1), 1-17.

Bournique, J. L., Hughes, M. L., Baudhuin, J. L., & Goehring, J. L. (2013). Effect of ECAPbased choice of stimulation rate on speech-perception performance. *Ear Hear, 34*(4), 437-446.

Brill, S., Müller, J., Hagen, R., Möltner, A., Brockmeier, S. J., Stark, T., et al. (2009). Site of cochlear stimulation and its effect on electrically evoked compound action potentials using the MED-EL standard electrode array. *Biomed Eng Online*, *8*, 40.

Brill, S. M., Gstöttner, W., Helms, J., von Ilberg, C., Baumgartner, W., Müller, J., et al. (1997). Optimization of channel number and stimulation rate for the fast continuous interleaved sampling strategy in the COMBI 40+. *Am J Otol, 18*(6 Suppl), S104-106.

Brown, C. J., & Abbas, P. J. (1987). A comparison of AP and ABR tuning curves in the guinea pig. *Hear Res*, *25*(2-3), 193-204.

Brown, C. J., & Abbas, P. J. (1990). Electrically evoked whole-nerve action potentials: parametric data from the cat. *J Acoust Soc Am, 88*(5), 2205-2210.

Brown, C. J., Abbas, P. J., Bertschy, M., Tyler, R. S., Lowder, M., Takahashi, G., et al. (1995). Longitudinal assessment of physiological and psychophysical measures in cochlear implant users. *Ear Hear, 16*(5), 439-449.

Brown, C. J., Abbas, P. J., Borland, J., & Bertschy, M. R. (1996). Electrically evoked whole nerve action potentials in Ineraid cochlear implant users: responses to different stimulating electrode configurations and comparison to psychophysical responses. *J Speech Hear Res, 39*(3), 453-467.

Brown, C. J., Abbas, P. J., Etlert, C. P., O'Brient, S., & Oleson, J. J. (2010). Effects of long-term use of a cochlear implant on the electrically evoked compound action potential. *J Am Acad Audiol, 21*(1), 5-15.

Brown, C. J., Abbas, P. J., Fryauf-Bertschy, H., Kelsay, D., & Gantz, B. J. (1994). Intraoperative and postoperative electrically evoked auditory brain stem responses in nucleus cochlear implant users: implications for the fitting process. *Ear Hear, 15*(2), 168-176.

Brown, C. J., Abbas, P. J., & Gantz, B. (1990). Electrically evoked whole-nerve action potentials: data from human cochlear implant users. *J Acoust Soc Am, 88*(3), 1385-1391.

Brown, C. J., Abbas, P. J., & Gantz, B. J. (1998). Preliminary experience with neural response telemetry in the nucleus Cl24M cochlear implant. *Am J Otol, 19*(3), 320-327.

Brown, C. J., Etler, C., He, S., O'Brien, S., Erenberg, S., Kim, J. R., et al. (2008). The electrically evoked auditory change complex: preliminary results from nucleus cochlear implant users. *Ear Hear, 29*(5), 704-717.

Brown, C. J., Hughes, M. L., Lopez, S. M., & Abbas, P. J. (1999). Relationship between EABR thresholds and levels used to program the CLARION speech processor. *Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol Suppl, 177*, 50-57.

Brown, C. J., Hughes, M. L., Luk, B., Abbas, P. J., Wolaver, A., & Gervais, J. (2000). The relationship between EAP and EABR thresholds and levels used to program the nucleus 24 speech processor: data from adults. *Ear Hear, 21*(2), 151-163.

Brown, C. J., Jeon, E. K., Chiou, L. K., Kirby, B., Karsten, S. A., Turner, C. W., et al. (2015). Cortical Auditory Evoked Potentials Recorded From Nucleus Hybrid Cochlear Implant Users. *Ear Hear, 36*(6), 723-732.

Brown, C. J., Jeon, E. K., Driscoll, V., Mussoi, B., Deshpande, S. B., Gfeller, K., et al. (2017). Effects of Long-Term Musical Training on Cortical Auditory Evoked Potentials. *Ear Hear, 38*(2), e74-e84.

Buechner, A., Beynon, A., Szyfter, W., Niemczyk, K., Hoppe, U., Hey, M., et al. (2011). Clinical evaluation of cochlear implant sound coding taking into account conjectural masking functions, MP3000[™]. *Cochlear Implants Int, 12*(4), 194-204.

Burguetti, F. A. R., & Carvallo, R. M. M. (2008). Efferent auditory system: its effect on auditory processing. *Braz J Otorhinolaryngol, 74*(5), 737-745.

Busby, P. A., & Arora, K. (2016). Effects of Threshold Adjustment on Speech Perception in Nucleus Cochlear Implant Recipients. *Ear Hear, 37*(3), 303-311.

Busby, P. A., & Clark, G. M. (1996). Electrode discrimination by early-deafened cochlear implant patients. *Audiology*, *35*(1), 8-22.

Busby, P. A., & Clark, G. M. (1999). Gap detection by early-deafened cochlear-implant subjects. *J Acoust Soc Am, 105*(3), 1841-1852.

Busby, P. A., & Clark, G. M. (2000a). Electrode discrimination by early-deafened subjects using the cochlear limited multiple-electrode cochlear implant. *Ear Hear, 21*(4), 291-304.

Busby, P. A., & Clark, G. M. (2000b). Pitch estimation by early-deafened subjects using a multiple-electrode cochlear implant. *J Acoust Soc Am, 107*(1), 547-558.

Busby, P. A., Roberts, S. A., Tong, Y. C., & Clark, G. M. (1991). Results of speech perception and speech production training for three prelingually deaf patients using a multiple-electrode cochlear implant. *Br J Audiol, 25*(5), 291-302.

Busby, P. A., Tong, Y. C., & Clark, G. M. (1992). Psychophysical studies using a multipleelectrode cochlear implant in patients who were deafened early in life. *Audiology*, *31*(2), 95-111.

Busby, P. A., Tong, Y. C., & Clark, G. M. (1993). Electrode position, repetition rate, and speech perception by early- and late-deafened cochlear implant patients. *J Acoust Soc Am, 93*(2), 1058-1067.

Cafarelli Dees, D., Dillier, N., Lai, W. K., von Wallenberg, E., van Dijk, B., Akdas, F., et al. (2005). Normative findings of electrically evoked compound action potential measurements using the neural response telemetry of the Nucleus CI24M cochlear implant system. *Audiol Neurootol, 10*(2), 105-116.

Cartee, L. A. (2000). Evaluation of a model of the cochlear neural membrane. II: comparison of model and physiological measures of membrane properties measured in response to intrameatal electrical stimulation. *Hear Res, 146*(1-2), 153-166.

Cartee, L. A., van den Honert, C., Finley, C. C., & Miller, R. L. (2000). Evaluation of a model of the cochlear neural membrane. I. Physiological measurement of membrane characteristics in response to intrameatal electrical stimulation. *Hear Res, 146*(1-2), 143-152.

Carvalho, A. C., Bevilacqua, M. C., Sameshima, K., & Costa Filho, O. A. (2011). Auditory neuropathy/Auditory dyssynchrony in children with Cochlear Implants. *Braz J Otorhinolaryngol*, *77*(4), 481-487.

Cazals, Y., Pelizzone, M., Kasper, A., & Montandon, P. (1991). Indication of a relation between speech perception and temporal resolution for cochlear implantees. *Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol, 100*(11), 893-895.

Cazals, Y., Pelizzone, M., Saudan, O., & Boex, C. (1994). Low-pass filtering in amplitude modulation detection associated with vowel and consonant identification in subjects with cochlear implants. *J Acoust Soc Am, 96*(4), 2048-2054.

Charasse, B., Thai-Van, H., Berger-Vachon, C., & Collet, L. (2003). Assessing auditory nerve recovery function with a modified subtraction method: results and mathematical modeling. *Clin Neurophysiol, 114*(7), 1307-1315.

Chatterjee, M. (1999). Temporal mechanisms underlying recovery from forward masking in multielectrode-implant listeners. *J Acoust Soc Am, 105*(3), 1853-1863.

Chatterjee, M. (2003). Modulation masking in cochlear implant listeners: envelope versus tonotopic components. *J Acoust Soc Am, 113*(4 Pt 1), 2042-2053.

Chatterjee, M., Fu, Q. J., & Shannon, R. V. (1998). Within-channel gap detection using dissimilar markers in cochlear implant listeners. *J Acoust Soc Am, 103*(5 Pt 1), 2515-2519.

Chatterjee, M., & Shannon, R. V. (1998). Forward masked excitation patterns in multielectrode electrical stimulation. *J Acoust Soc Am, 103*(5 Pt 1), 2565-2572.

Chermak, G. D., & Lee, J. (2005). Comparison of children's performance on four tests of temporal resolution. *J Am Acad Audiol, 16*(8), 554-563.

Clark, G. (2003). Cochlear implants in children: safety as well as speech and language. *Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol, 67 Suppl 1*, S7-20.

Clark, G. M. (2013). The multichannel cochlear implant for severe-to-profound hearing loss. *Nat Med, 19*(10), 1236-1239.

Clark, G. M., Clark, J. C., & Furness, J. B. (2013). The evolving science of cochlear implants. *JAMA*, *310*(12), 1225-1226.

Clay, K. M., & Brown, C. J. (2007). Adaptation of the electrically evoked compound action potential (ECAP) recorded from nucleus Cl24 cochlear implant users. *Ear Hear, 28*(6), 850-861.

Coch, D., Skendzel, W., & Neville, H. J. (2005). Auditory and visual refractory period effects in children and adults: an ERP study. *Clin Neurophysiol, 116*(9), 2184-2203.

Cohen, L. T. (2009a). Practical model description of peripheral neural excitation in cochlear implant recipients: 1. Growth of loudness and ECAP amplitude with current. *Hear Res*, *247*(2), 87-99.

Cohen, L. T. (2009b). Practical model description of peripheral neural excitation in cochlear implant recipients: 2. Spread of the effective stimulation field (ESF), from ECAP and FEA. *Hear Res, 247*(2), 100-111.

Cohen, L. T. (2009c). Practical model description of peripheral neural excitation in cochlear implant recipients: 3. ECAP during bursts and loudness as function of burst duration. *Hear Res, 247*(2), 112-121.

Cohen, L. T. (2009d). Practical model description of peripheral neural excitation in cochlear implant recipients: 5. refractory recovery and facilitation. *Hear Res, 248*(1-2), 1-14.

Cohen, L. T., Richardson, L. M., Saunders, E., & Cowan, R. S. (2003). Spatial spread of neural excitation in cochlear implant recipients: comparison of improved ECAP method and psychophysical forward masking. *Hear Res, 179*(1-2), 72-87.

Cohen, L. T., Saunders, E., & Clark, G. M. (2001). Psychophysics of a prototype peri-modiolar cochlear implant electrode array. *Hear Res, 155*(1-2), 63-81.

Cohen, N. L., Waltzman, S. B., & Shapiro, W. H. (1985). Clinical trials with a 22-channel cochlear prosthesis. *Laryngoscope*, *95*(12), 1448-1454.

Cosentino, S., Carlyon, R. P., Deeks, J. M., Parkinson, W., & Bierer, J. A. (2016). Rate discrimination, gap detection and ranking of temporal pitch in cochlear implant users. *J Assoc Res Otolaryngol, 17*(4), 371-382.

Cosentino, S., Gaudrain, E., Deeks, J. M., & Carlyon, R. P. (2016). Multistage Nonlinear Optimization to Recover Neural Activation Patterns From Evoked Compound Action Potentials of Cochlear Implant Users. *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng*, *63*(4), 833-840.

Cosetti, M. K., & Waltzman, S. B. (2012). Outcomes in cochlear implantation: variables affecting performance in adults and children. *Otolaryngol Clin North Am, 45*(1), 155-171.

Coutinho da Silva, J., Schmidt Goffi-Gomez, M. V., Tsuji, R. K., Bento, R., & Brito Neto, R. (2020). Is There Any Correlation between Spread of Excitation Width and the Refractory Properties of the Auditory Nerve in Cochlear Implant Users? *Audiol Neurootol*, 1-10.

Dawson, P. W., Blamey, P. J., Rowland, L. C., Dettman, S. J., Clark, G. M., Busby, P. A., et al. (1992). Cochlear implants in children, adolescents, and prelinguistically deafened adults: speech perception. *J Speech Hear Res, 35*(2), 401-417.

de Graaff, F., Lissenberg-Witte, B. I., Kaandorp, M. W., Merkus, P., Goverts, S. T., Kramer, S. E., et al. (2020). Relationship Between Speech Recognition in Quiet and Noise and Fitting Parameters, Impedances and ECAP Thresholds in Adult Cochlear Implant Users. *Ear Hear*, *41*(4), 935-947.

Delgutte, B., & Kiang, N. Y. (1984). Speech coding in the auditory nerve: IV. Sounds with consonant-like dynamic characteristics. *J Acoust Soc Am*, 75(3), 897-907.

DeVries, L., Scheperle, R., & Bierer, J. A. (2016). Assessing the Electrode-Neuron Interface with the Electrically Evoked Compound Action Potential, Electrode Position, and Behavioral Thresholds. *J Assoc Res Otolaryngol, 17*(3), 237-252.

DeWeese, M. R., Wehr, M., & Zador, A. M. (2003). Binary spiking in auditory cortex. J Neurosci, 23(21), 7940-7949.

Dias, K. Z., Jutras, B., Acrani, I. O., & Pereira, L. D. (2012). Random Gap Detection Test (RGDT) performance of individuals with central auditory processing disorders from 5 to 25 years of age. *Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol, 76*(2), 174-178.

Dillier, N., Lai, W. K., Almqvist, B., Frohne, C., Müller-Deile, J., Stecker, M., et al. (2002). Measurement of the electrically evoked compound action potential via a neural response telemetry system. *Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol, 111*(5 Pt 1), 407-414.

Ding, N., & Simon, J. Z. (2009). Neural representations of complex temporal modulations in the human auditory cortex. *J Neurophysiol*, *102*(5), 2731-2743.

DOI: https://doi.org/10.5258/SOTON/D1558 dataset for thesis

Donaldson, G. S., Chisolm, T. H., Blasco, G. P., Shinnick, L. J., Ketter, K. J., & Krause, J. C. (2009). BKB-SIN and ANL predict perceived communication ability in cochlear implant users. *Ear Hear, 30*(4), 401-410.

Donaldson, G. S., Kreft, H. A., & Litvak, L. (2005). Place-pitch discrimination of single- versus dual-electrode stimuli by cochlear implant users (L). *J Acoust Soc Am*, *118*(2), 623-626.

Dorman, M. F., Cook, S., Spahr, A., Zhang, T., Loiselle, L., Schramm, D., et al. (2015). Factors constraining the benefit to speech understanding of combining information from low-frequency hearing and a cochlear implant. *Hear Res, 322*, 107-111.

Dorman, M. F., Gifford, R., Lewis, K., McKarns, S., Ratigan, J., Spahr, A., et al. (2009). Word recognition following implantation of conventional and 10-mm hybrid electrodes. *Audiol Neurootol, 14*(3), 181-189.

Dorman, M. F., Gifford, R. H., Spahr, A. J., & McKarns, S. A. (2008). The benefits of combining acoustic and electric stimulation for the recognition of speech, voice and melodies. *Audiol Neurootol, 13*(2), 105-112.

Dorman, M. F., Lindholm, J. M., & Hannley, M. T. (1985). Influence of the first formant on the recognition of voiced stop consonants by hearing-impaired listeners. *J Speech Hear Res,* 28(3), 377-380.

Dowell, R. C., Dawson, P. W., Dettman, S. J., Shepherd, R. K., Whitford, L. A., Seligman, P. M., et al. (1991). Multichannel cochlear implantation in children: a summary of current work at the University of Melbourne. *Am J Otol, 12 Suppl,* 137-143.

Drew, P. J., & Abbott, L. F. (2006a). Extending the effects of spike-timing-dependent plasticity to behavioral timescales. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 103*(23), 8876-8881.

Drew, P. J., & Abbott, L. F. (2006b). Models and properties of power-law adaptation in neural systems. *J Neurophysiol*, *96*(2), 826-833.

Dynes, S. B., & Delgutte, B. (1992). Phase-locking of auditory-nerve discharges to sinusoidal electric stimulation of the cochlea. *Hear Res, 58*(1), 79-90.

Eggermont, J. J. (1985). Peripheral auditory adaptation and fatigue: a model oriented review. *Hear Res, 18*(1), 57-71.

Eggermont, J. J. (1997). Firing rate and firing synchrony distinguish dynamic from steady state sound. *Neuroreport, 8*(12), 2709-2713.

Eggermont, J. J. (2000). Neural responses in primary auditory cortex mimic psychophysical, across-frequency-channel, gap-detection thresholds. *J Neurophysiol, 84*(3), 1453-1463.

Eisen, M. D., & Franck, K. H. (2004). Electrically evoked compound action potential amplitude growth functions and HiResolution programming levels in pediatric CII implant subjects. *Ear Hear, 25*(6), 528-538.

Eisen, M. D., & Franck, K. H. (2005). Electrode interaction in pediatric cochlear implant subjects. *J Assoc Res Otolaryngol, 6*(2), 160-170.

El Boghdady, N., Kegel, A., Lai, W. K., & Dillier, N. (2016). A neural-based vocoder implementation for evaluating cochlear implant coding strategies. *Hear Res, 333*, 136-149.

Elverland, H. H., & Mair, I. W. (1980). Hereditary deafness in the cat. An electron microscopic study of the spiral ganglion. *Acta Otolaryngol, 90*(5-6), 360-369.

England, J. D., Gamboni, F., Levinson, S. R., & Finger, T. E. (1990). Changed distribution of sodium channels along demyelinated axons. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 87*(17), 6777-6780.

Evans, E. F. Cochlear nerve and cochlear nucleus. In: Handbook of Sensory Physiology, edited by W. D. Keidel and W. D. Neff. Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 1975, vol. V, part 2, p. I-108.

Fairhall, A. L., Lewen, G. D., Bialek, W., & de Ruyter Van Steveninck, R. R. (2001). Efficiency and ambiguity in an adaptive neural code. *Nature, 412*(6849), 787-792.

Favre, E., & Pelizzone, M. (1993). Channel interactions in patients using the Ineraid multichannel cochlear implant. *Hear Res, 66*(2), 150-156. doi:10.1016/0378-5955(93)90136-0

Fayad, J. N., Don, M., & Linthicum, F. H. (2006). Distribution of low-frequency nerve fibers in the auditory nerve: Temporal bone findings and clinical implications. *Otol Neurotol, 27*(8), 1074-1077.

Fayad, J. N., & Linthicum, F. H. (2006). Multichannel cochlear implants: relation of histopathology to performance. *Laryngoscope*, *116*(8), 1310-1320.

Firszt, J. B., Chambers and, R. D., & Kraus, N. (2002). Neurophysiology of cochlear implant users II: comparison among speech perception, dynamic range, and physiological measures. *Ear Hear, 23*(6), 516-531.

Formby, C., & Muir, K. (1989). Effects of randomizing signal level and duration on temporal gap detection. *Audiology*, *28*(5), 250-257.

Franck, K. H., & Norton, S. J. (2001). Estimation of psychophysical levels using the electrically evoked compound action potential measured with the neural response telemetry capabilities of Cochlear Corporation's CI24M device. *Ear Hear, 22*(4), 289-299.

Friedland, D. R., Venick, H. S., & Niparko, J. K. (2003). Choice of ear for cochlear implantation: the effect of history and residual hearing on predicted postoperative performance. *Otol Neurotol, 24*(4), 582-589.

Friesen, L. M., Shannon, R. V., & Cruz, R. J. (2005). Effects of stimulation rate on speech recognition with cochlear implants. *Audiol Neurootol, 10*(3), 169-184.

Friesen, L. M., & Tremblay, K. L. (2006). Acoustic change complexes recorded in adult cochlear implant listeners. *Ear Hear, 27*(6), 678-685.

Friesen, L. M., Tremblay, K. L., Rohila, N., Wright, R. A., Shannon, R. V., Başkent, D., et al. (2009). Evoked Cortical activity and speech recognition as a function of the number of simulated cochlear implant channels. *Clin Neurophysiol, 120*(4), 776-782.

Frijns, J. H., Briaire, J. J., & Grote, J. J. (2001). The importance of human cochlear anatomy for the results of modiolus-hugging multichannel cochlear implants. *Otol Neurotol, 22*(3), 340-349.

Fu, Q. J. (2002). Temporal processing and speech recognition in cochlear implant users. *Neuroreport, 13*(13), 1635-1639.

Fu, Q. J. (2005). Loudness growth in cochlear implants: effect of stimulation rate and electrode configuration. *Hear Res, 202*(1-2), 55-62.

Fu, Q. J., Galvin, J. J., & Wang, X. (2001). Recognition of time-distorted sentences by normalhearing and cochlear-implant listeners. *J Acoust Soc Am, 109*(1), 379-384.

Fu, Q. J., & Shannon, R. V. (1999). Effects of electrode configuration and frequency allocation on vowel recognition with the Nucleus-22 cochlear implant. *Ear Hear, 20*(4), 332-344.

Fu, Q. J., & Shannon, R. V. (2000). Effect of stimulation rate on phoneme recognition by nucleus-22 cochlear implant listeners. *J Acoust Soc Am, 107*(1), 589-597.

Fu, Q. J., Shannon, R. V., & Galvin, J. J. (2002). Perceptual learning following changes in the frequency-to-electrode assignment with the Nucleus-22 cochlear implant. *J Acoust Soc Am*, *112*(4), 1664-1674.

Fulmer, S. L., Runge, C. L., Jensen, J. W., & Friedland, D. R. (2011). Rate of neural recovery in implanted children with auditory neuropathy spectrum disorder. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg, 144*(2), 274-279.

Gantz, B. J., Brown, C. J., & Abbas, P. J. (1994). Intraoperative measures of electrically evoked auditory nerve compound action potential. *Am J Otol, 15*(2), 137-144.

Gantz, B. J., Woodworth, G. G., Knutson, J. F., Abbas, P. J., & Tyler, R. S. (1993). Multivariate predictors of audiological success with multichannel cochlear implants. *Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol, 102*(12), 909-916.

Garadat, S. N., & Pfingst, B. E. (2011). Relationship between gap detection thresholds and loudness in cochlear-implant users. *Hear Res, 275*(1-2), 130-138.

Gatehouse, S. (1990). The contribution of central auditory factors to auditory disability. *Acta Otolaryngol Suppl, 476*, 182-188.

Geier, L. L., & Norton, S. J. (1992). The effects of limiting the number of Nucleus 22 cochlear implant electrodes programmed on speech perception. *Ear Hear, 13*(5), 340-348.

George E.L.J, Festen J.M and Hougast T, (2006), Factors affecting masking release for speech in modulated noise for normal hearing and hearing impaired listeners. J Acoust Soc of Am.120:2295-2311

Geurts, L., & Wouters, J. (1999). Enhancing the speech envelope of continuous interleaved sampling processors for cochlear implants. *J Acoust Soc Am, 105*(4), 2476-2484.

Gifford, R. H., Noble, J. H., Camarata, S. M., Sunderhaus, L. W., Dwyer, R. T., Dawant, B. M., et al. (2018). The Relationship Between Spectral Modulation Detection and Speech Recognition: Adult Versus Pediatric Cochlear Implant Recipients. *Trends Hear, 22*, 2331216518771176.

Gifford, R. H., Shallop, J. K., & Peterson, A. M. (2008). Speech recognition materials and ceiling effects: considerations for cochlear implant programs. *Audiol Neurootol, 13*(3), 193-205.

Giraudi-Perry, D. M., Salvi, R. J., & Henderson, D. (1982). Gap detection in hearing-impaired chinchillas. *J Acoust Soc Am*, 72(5), 1387-1393.

Glasberg, B. R., Moore, B. C., & Bacon, S. P. (1987). Gap detection and masking in hearingimpaired and normal-hearing subjects. *J Acoust Soc Am*, *81*(5), 1546-1556.

Goldwyn, J. H., Bierer, S. M., & Bierer, J. A. (2010). Modeling the electrode-neuron interface of cochlear implants: effects of neural survival, electrode placement, and the partial tripolar configuration. *Hear Res*, *268*(1-2), 93-104.

Gordon, K. A., Chaikof, M. H., Salloum, C., Goulding, G., & Papsin, B. (2012). Toward a method for programming balanced bilateral cochlear implant stimulation levels in children. *Cochlear Implants Int, 13*(4), 220-227.

Gordon, K. A., Papsin, B. C., & Harrison, R. V. (2004). Toward a battery of behavioral and objective measures to achieve optimal cochlear implant stimulation levels in children. *Ear Hear*, *25*(5), 447-463.

Gordon, T., & Gordon, K. (2010). Nerve regeneration in the peripheral nervous system versus the central nervous system and the relevance to speech and hearing after nerve injuries. *J Commun Disord, 43*(4), 274-285.

Gransier, R., Carlyon, R. P., & Wouters, J. (2020). Electrophysiological assessment of temporal envelope processing in cochlear implant users. *Sci Rep, 10*(1), 15406.

Gray, P. R. (1967). Conditional probability analyses of the spike activity of single neurons. *Biophys J, 7*(6), 759-777.

Green, T., Faulkner, A., & Rosen, S. (2014). Overlapping frequency coverage and simulated spatial cue effects on bimodal (electrical and acoustical) sentence recognition in noise. *J Acoust Soc Am*, *135*(2), 851-861.

Greene, D. (1971). Temporal auditory acuity. Psych Rev, 78:540–551.

Grose, J. H., Buss, E., & Hall, J. W. (2008). Gap detection in modulated noise: across-frequency facilitation and interference. *J Acoust Soc Am*, *123*(2), 998-1007.

Grose, J.H.; Mamo, S.K.; Hall III, J.W. (2009). Age effects in temporal envelope processing: Speech unmasking andauditory steady state responses. Ear Hear, 30, 568.

Gärtner, L., Lenarz, T., Joseph, G., & Büchner, A. (2010). Clinical use of a system for the automated recording and analysis of electrically evoked compound action potentials (ECAPs) in cochlear implant patients. *Acta Otolaryngol, 130*(6), 724-732.

Haenggeli, A., Zhang, J. S., Vischer, M. W., Pelizzone, M., & Rouiller, E. M. (1998). Electrically evoked compound action potential (ECAP) of the cochlear nerve in response to pulsatile electrical stimulation of the cochlea in the rat: effects of stimulation at high rates. *Audiology*, *37*(6), 353-371.

Haines, D. E., & Mihailoff, G. A. (2018). Fundamental neuroscience for basic and clinical applications Fifth Edition. Elsiver.

Hall, D. A., Hart, H. C., & Johnsrude, I. S. (2003). Relationships between human auditory Cortical structure and function. *Audiol Neurootol, 8*(1), 1-18.

Hall, J. W., & Grose, J. H. (1989). Spectrotemporal analysis and cochlear hearing impairment: effects of frequency selectivity, temporal resolution, signal frequency, and rate of modulation. *J Acoust Soc Am, 85*(6), 2550-2562.

Hartmann, R., Topp, G., & Klinke, R. (1984). Discharge patterns of cat primary auditory fibers with electrical stimulation of the cochlea. *Hear Res, 13*(1), 47-62.

Harwell, M. R., Rubinstein, E. N., Hayes, W. S., & Olds, C. C. (1992). Summarizing Monte-Carlo results in methodological research: The one-factor and two-factor fixed effects ANOVA cases. Journal of Educational Statistics, 17, 315–339.

Hay-McCutcheon, M. J., Brown, C. J., & Abbas, P. J. (2005). An analysis of the impact of auditory-nerve adaptation on behavioral measures of temporal integration in cochlear implant recipients. *J Acoust Soc Am*, *118*(4), 2444-2457.

Hay-McCutcheon, M. J., Brown, C. J., Clay, K. S., & Seyle, K. (2002). Comparison of electrically evoked whole-nerve action potential and electrically evoked auditory brainstem response thresholds in nucleus CI24R cochlear implant recipients. *J Am Acad Audiol, 13*(8), 416-427.

He, N. J., Horwitz, A. R., Dubno, J. R., & Mills, J. H. (1999). Psychometric functions for gap detection in noise measured from young and aged subjects. *J Acoust Soc Am, 106*(2), 966-978.

He, S., Abbas, P. J., Doyle, D. V., McFayden, T. C., & Mulherin, S. (2016). Temporal Response Properties of the Auditory Nerve in Implanted Children with Auditory Neuropathy Spectrum Disorder and Implanted Children with Sensorineural Hearing Loss. *Ear Hear, 37*(4), 397-411.

He, S., Brown, C. J., & Abbas, P. J. (2010). Effects of stimulation level and electrode pairing on the binaural interaction component of the electrically evoked auditory brain stem response. *Ear Hear, 31*(4), 457-470.

He, S., Brown, C. J., & Abbas, P. J. (2012). Preliminary results of the relationship between the binaural interaction component of the electrically evoked auditory brainstem response and interaural pitch comparisons in bilateral cochlear implant recipients. *Ear Hear, 33*(1), 57-68.

He, S., Chao, X., Wang, R., Luo, J., Xu, L., Teagle, H. F. B., et al. (2020). Recommendations for Measuring the Electrically Evoked Compound Action Potential in Children With Cochlear Nerve Deficiency. *Ear Hear, 41*(3), 465-475.

He, S., McFayden, T. C., Shahsavarani, B. S., Teagle, H. F. B., Ewend, M., Henderson, L., et al. (2018). The Electrically Evoked Auditory Change Complex Evoked by Temporal Gaps Using Cochlear Implants or Auditory Brainstem Implants in Children With Cochlear Nerve Deficiency. *Ear Hear, 39*(3), 482-494.

He, S., Shahsavarani, B. S., McFayden, T. C., Wang, H., Gill, K. E., Xu, L., et al. (2018). Responsiveness of the Electrically Stimulated Cochlear Nerve in Children With Cochlear Nerve Deficiency. *Ear Hear, 39*(2), 238-250.

He, S., Teagle, H. F. B., & Buchman, C. A. (2017). The Electrically Evoked Compound Action Potential: From Laboratory to Clinic. *Front Neurosci, 11*, 339.

He, S., Xu, L., Skidmore, J., Chao, X., Riggs, W. J., Wang, R., et al. (2020). Effect of Increasing Pulse Phase Duration on Neural Responsiveness of the Electrically Stimulated Cochlear Nerve. *Ear Hear*.

Heeke, P., Vermiglio, A. J., Bulla, E., Velappan, K., & Fang, X. (2018). The Relationship between Random Gap Detection and Hearing in Noise Test Performances. *J Am Acad Audiol, 29*(10), 948-954.

Heffer, L. F., Sly, D. J., Fallon, J. B., White, M. W., Shepherd, R. K., & O'Leary, S. J. (2010). Examining the auditory nerve fiber response to high rate cochlear implant stimulation: chronic sensorineural hearing loss and facilitation. *J Neurophysiol, 104*(6), 3124-3135.

Heil, P. (2001). Representation of sound onsets in the auditory system. *Audiol Neurootol, 6*(4), 167-172.

Henry, B. A., & Turner, C. W. (2003). The resolution of complex spectral patterns by cochlear implant and normal-hearing listeners. *J Acoust Soc Am, 113*(5), 2861-2873.

Henry, B. A., Turner, C. W., & Behrens, A. (2005). Spectral peak resolution and speech recognition in quiet: normal hearing, hearing impaired, and cochlear implant listeners. *J Acoust Soc Am, 118*(2), 1111-1121.

Hess, B. A., Blumsack, J. T., Ross, M. E., & Brock, R. E. (2012). Performance at different stimulus intensities with the within- and across-channel adaptive tests of temporal resolution. *Int J Audiol*, *51*(12), 900-905.

Hey, M., Müller-Deile, J., Hessel, H., & Killian, M. (2017). Facilitation and refractoriness of the electrically evoked compound action potential. *Hear Res, 355*, 14-22.

Hey M, Wesarg T, Mewes A, Helbig S, Hornung J, Lenarz T, Briggs R, Marx M, Ramos A, Stöver T, Escudé B, James CJ, Aschendorff A (2019) Objective, audiological and quality of life measures with the CI532 slim modiolar electrode. Cochlear Implants Int 20(2):80–90.

Hinojosa, R., & Marion, M. (1983). Histopathology of profound sensorineural deafness. *Ann N Y Acad Sci, 405*, 459-484.

Hirsh I.J, (1948). The influence of interaural phase on interaural summation and inhibition. J Acoust Soc Am, 20(4): 536-544.

Hirsh, I.J. (1959). Auditory perception of temporal order. J Acoust Soc Am, 31(6):759-767.

Hochmair, I., Arnold, W., Nopp, P., Jolly, C., Müller, J., & Roland, P. (2003). Deep electrode insertion in cochlear implants: apical morphology, electrodes and speech perception results. *Acta Otolaryngol, 123*(5), 612-617.

Hodgkin, A. L., & Huxley, A. F. (1952). A quantitative description of membrane current and its application to conduction and excitation in nerve. *J Physiol*, *117*(4), 500-544.

Holden, L. K., Reeder, R. M., Firszt, J. B., & Finley, C. C. (2011). Optimizing the perception of soft speech and speech in noise with the Advanced Bionics cochlear implant system. *Int J Audiol, 50*(4), 255-269.

Holden, L. K., Skinner, M. W., Holden, T. A., & Demorest, M. E. (2002). Effects of stimulation rate with the Nucleus 24 ACE speech coding strategy. *Ear Hear, 23*(5), 463-476.

Hong, R. S., & Rubinstein, J. T. (2003). High-rate conditioning pulse trains in cochlear implants: dynamic range measures with sinusoidal stimuli. *J Acoust Soc Am, 114*(6 Pt 1), 3327-3342.

Hong, R. S., Rubinstein, J. T., Wehner, D., & Horn, D. (2003). Dynamic range enhancement for cochlear implants. *Otol Neurotol, 24*(4), 590-595.

Hopkins, K.; Moore, B.C.J. The contribution of temporal fine structure to the intelligibility of speech in steadyand modulated noise. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 2009, 125, 442–446

Horikawa, J., Hosokawa, Y., Nasu, M., & Taniguchi, I. (1997). Optical study of spatiotemporal inhibition evoked by two-tone sequences in the guinea pig auditory cortex. *J Comp Physiol A*, *181*(6), 677-684.

Hoth, S., & Dziemba, O. C. (2017). The Role of Auditory Evoked Potentials in the Context of Cochlear Implant Provision. *Otol Neurotol, 38*(10), e522-e530.

Howell, P., & Rosen, S. (1983). Production and perception of rise time in the voiceless affricate/fricative distinction. *J Acoust Soc Am*, 73(3), 976-984.

Huarte, A., Ramos, A., Morera, C., Garcia-Ibáñez, L., Battmer, R., Dillier, N., et al. (2014). Evaluation of Neural Response Telemetry (NRT[™]) with focus on long-term rate adaptation over a wide range of stimulation rates. *Cochlear Implants Int, 15*(3), 136-144.

Hughes, M. L., & Abbas, P. J. (2006). The relation between electrophysiologic channel interaction and electrode pitch ranking in cochlear implant recipients. *J Acoust Soc Am*, *119*(3), 1527-1537.

Hughes, M. L., Abbas, P. J., Brown, C. J., & Gantz, B. J. (2000). Using electrically evoked compound action potential thresholds to facilitate creating MAPs for children with the Nucleus Cl24M. *Adv Otorhinolaryngol, 57*, 260-265.

Hughes, M. L., Baudhuin, J. L., & Goehring, J. L. (2014). The relation between auditory-nerve temporal responses and perceptual rate integration in cochlear implants. *Hear Res, 316*, 44-56.

Hughes, M. L., Brown, C. J., & Abbas, P. J. (2004). Sensitivity and specificity of averaged electrode voltage measures in cochlear implant recipients. *Ear Hear, 25*(5), 431-446.

Hughes, M. L., Brown, C. J., Abbas, P. J., Wolaver, A. A., & Gervais, J. P. (2000). Comparison of EAP thresholds with MAP levels in the nucleus 24 cochlear implant: data from children. *Ear Hear, 21*(2), 164-174.

Hughes, M. L., Castioni, E. E., Goehring, J. L., & Baudhuin, J. L. (2012). Temporal response properties of the auditory nerve: data from human cochlear-implant recipients. *Hear Res, 285*(1-2), 46-57.

Hughes, M. L., Choi, S., & Glickman, E. (2018). What can stimulus polarity and interphase gap tell us about auditory nerve function in cochlear-implant recipients? *Hear Res, 359*, 50-63.

Hughes, M. L., & Goulson, A. M. (2011). Electrically evoked compound action potential measures for virtual channels versus physical electrodes. *Ear Hear, 32*(3), 323-330.

Hughes, M. L., & Laurello, S. A. (2017). Effect of stimulus level on the temporal response properties of the auditory nerve in cochlear implants. *Hear Res, 351*, 116-129.

Hughes, M. L., & Stille, L. J. (2008). Psychophysical versus physiological spatial forward masking and the relation to speech perception in cochlear implants. *Ear Hear, 29*(3), 435-452.

Hughes, M. L., & Stille, L. J. (2010). Effect of stimulus and recording parameters on spatial spread of excitation and masking patterns obtained with the electrically evoked compound action potential in cochlear implants. *Ear Hear*, *31*(5), 679-692.

Hughes, M. L., Stille, L. J., Baudhuin, J. L., & Goehring, J. L. (2013). ECAP spread of excitation with virtual channels and physical electrodes. *Hear Res, 306*, 93-103.

Hughes, M. L., Vander Werff, K. R., Brown, C. J., Abbas, P. J., Kelsay, D. M., Teagle, H. F., et al. (2001). A longitudinal study of electrode impedance, the electrically evoked compound action potential, and behavioral measures in nucleus 24 cochlear implant users. *Ear Hear, 22*(6), 471-486.

Iliadou, V. V., Bamiou, D. E., Chermak, G. D., & Nimatoudis, I. (2014). Comparison of two tests of auditory temporal resolution in children with central auditory processing disorder, adults with psychosis, and adult professional musicians. *Int J Audiol, 53*(8), 507-513.

Imennov, N. S., Won, J. H., Drennan, W. R., Jameyson, E., & Rubinstein, J. T. (2013). Detection of acoustic temporal fine structure by cochlear implant listeners: behavioral results and computational modeling. *Hear Res, 298*, 60-72.

Incesulu, A., & Nadol, J. B. (1998). Correlation of acoustic threshold measures and spiral ganglion cell survival in severe to profound sensorineural hearing loss: implications for cochlear implantation. *Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol, 107*(11 Pt 1), 906-911.

James, C. J., Skinner, M. W., Martin, L. F., Holden, L. K., Galvin, K. L., Holden, T. A., et al. (2003). An investigation of input level range for the nucleus 24 cochlear implant system: speech perception performance, program preference, and loudness comfort ratings. *Ear Hear, 24*(2), 157-174.

Javel, E. (1981). Suppression of auditory nerve responses I: temporal analysis, intensity effects and suppression contours. *J Acoust Soc Am, 69*(6), 1735-1745.

Javel, E. (1996). Long-term adaptation in cat auditory-nerve fiber responses. *J Acoust Soc Am, 99*(2), 1040-1052.

Javel, E., & Shepherd, R. K. (2000). Electrical stimulation of the auditory nerve. III. Response initiation sites and temporal fine structure. *Hear Res, 140*(1-2), 45-76.

Javel, E., & Viemeister, N. F. (2000). Stochastic properties of cat auditory nerve responses to electric and acoustic stimuli and application to intensity discrimination. *J Acoust Soc Am*, *107*(2), 908-921.

Jeng, F. C., Abbas, P. J., Brown, C. J., Miller, C. A., Nourski, K. V., & Robinson, B. K. (2007). Electrically evoked auditory steady-state responses in Guinea pigs. *Audiol Neurootol, 12*(2), 101-112.

Jeng, F. C., Abbas, P. J., Brown, C. J., Miller, C. A., Nourski, K. V., & Robinson, B. K. (2008). Electrically evoked auditory steady-state responses in a guinea pig model: latency estimates and effects of stimulus parameters. *Audiol Neurootol, 13*(3), 161-171.

Jeng, F. C., Abbas, P. J., Hu, N., Miller, C. A., Nourski, K. V., & Robinson, B. K. (2009). Effects of temporal properties on compound action potentials in response to amplitude-modulated electric pulse trains in guinea pigs. *Hear Res, 247*(1), 47-59.

Jeon, E. K., Brown, C. J., Etler, C. P., O'Brien, S., Chiou, L. K., & Abbas, P. J. (2010). Comparison of electrically evoked compound action potential thresholds and loudness estimates for the stimuli used to program the Advanced Bionics cochlear implant. *J Am Acad Audiol, 21*(1), 16-27.

Jeong, J., Kim, M., Heo, J. H., Bang, M. Y., Bae, M. R., Kim, J., et al. (2015). Intraindividual comparison of psychophysical parameters between perimodiolar and lateral-type electrode arrays in patients with bilateral cochlear implants. *Otol Neurotol, 36*(2), 228-234.

Jerger, J., Thibodeau, L., Martin, J., Mehta, J., Tillman, G., Greenwald, R., et al. (2002). Behavioral and electrophysiologic evidence of auditory processing disorder: a twin study. *J Am Acad Audiol, 13*(8), 438-460.

John, A. B., Hall, J. W., & Kreisman, B. M. (2012). Effects of advancing age and hearing loss on gaps-in-noise test performance. *Am J Audiol, 21*(2), 242-250.

Johnsson, L. G., Hawkins, J. E., Kingsley, T. C., Black, F. O., & Matz, G. J. (1981). Aminoglycoside-induced cochlear pathology in man. *Acta Otolaryngol Suppl, 383*, 1-19.

Jolly, C. N., Spelman, F. A., & Clopton, B. M. (1996). Quadrupolar stimulation for Cochlear prostheses: modeling and experimental data. *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng*, *43*(8), 857-865. doi:10.1109/10.508549

Jones, G. L., Won, J. H., Drennan, W. R., & Rubinstein, J. T. (2013). Relationship between channel interaction and spectral-ripple discrimination in cochlear implant users. *J Acoust Soc Am*, *133*(1), 425-433.

Kaandorp, M. W., Smits, C., Merkus, P., Festen, J. M., & Goverts, S. T. (2017). Lexical-Access Ability and Cognitive Predictors of Speech Recognition in Noise in Adult Cochlear Implant Users. *Trends Hear, 21*, 2331216517743887. doi:10.1177/2331216517743887

Kalkman, R. K., Briaire, J. J., Dekker, D. M., & Frijns, J. H. (2014). Place pitch versus electrode location in a realistic computational model of the implanted human cochlea. *Hear Res, 315*, 10-24.

Kang, S. Y., Colesa, D. J., Swiderski, D. L., Su, G. L., Raphael, Y., & Pfingst, B. E. (2010). Effects of hearing preservation on psychophysical responses to cochlear implant stimulation. *J Assoc Res Otolaryngol, 11*(2), 245-265.

Karsten, S. A., Turner, C. W., Brown, C. J., Jeon, E. K., Abbas, P. J., & Gantz, B. J. (2013). Optimizing the combination of acoustic and electric hearing in the implanted ear. *Ear Hear*, *34*(2), 142-150.

Kashio, A., Tejani, V. D., Scheperle, R. A., Brown, C. J., & Abbas, P. J. (2016). Exploring the Source of Neural Responses of Different Latencies Obtained from Different Recording Electrodes in Cochlear Implant Users. *Audiol Neurootol, 21*(3), 141-149.

Kawano, A., Seldon, H. L., Clark, G. M., Ramsden, R. T., & Raine, C. H. (1998). Intracochlear factors contributing to psychophysical percepts following cochlear implantation. *Acta Otolaryngol, 118*(3), 313-326.

Khan, A. M., Handzel, O., Burgess, B. J., Damian, D., Eddington, D. K., & Nadol, J. B. (2005). Is word recognition correlated with the number of surviving spiral ganglion cells and electrode insertion depth in human subjects with cochlear implants? *Laryngoscope*, *115*(4), 672-677.

Kiang, N. Y., & Moxon, E. C. (1972). Physiological considerations in artificial stimulation of the inner ear. *Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol, 81*(5), 714-730.

Kiefer, J., Hohl, S., Stürzebecher, E., Pfennigdorff, T., & Gstöettner, W. (2001). Comparison of speech recognition with different speech coding strategies (SPEAK, CIS, and ACE) and their relationship to telemetric measures of compound action potentials in the nucleus CI 24M cochlear implant system. *Audiology*, *40*(1), 32-42.

Kiefer, J., von Ilberg, C., Rupprecht, V., Hubner-Egner, J., & Knecht, R. (2000). Optimized speech understanding with the continuous interleaved sampling speech coding strategy in patients with cochlear implants: effect of variations in stimulation rate and number of channels. *Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol, 109*(11), 1009-1020.

Kilgard, M. P., & Merzenich, M. M. (1999). Distributed representation of spectral and temporal information in rat primary auditory cortex. *Hear Res, 134*(1-2), 16-28.

Killian, M. J., Klis, S. F., & Smoorenburg, G. F. (1994). Adaptation in the compound action potential response of the guinea pig VIIIth nerve to electric stimulation. *Hear Res, 81*(1-2), 66-82.

Kim, J. R., Abbas, P. J., Brown, C. J., Etler, C. P., O'Brien, S., & Kim, L. S. (2010). The relationship between electrically evoked compound action potential and speech perception: a study in cochlear implant users with short electrode array. *Otol Neurotol, 31*(7), 1041-1048.

Kim, J. R., Brown, C. J., Abbas, P. J., Etler, C. P., & O'Brien, S. (2009). The effect of changes in stimulus level on electrically evoked Cortical auditory potentials. *Ear Hear, 30*(3), 320-329.

Kim, J. R., Kim, L. S., Jeong, S. W., Kim, J. S., & Chung, S. H. (2011). Recovery function of electrically evoked compound action potential in implanted children with auditory neuropathy: preliminary results. *Acta Otolaryngol, 131*(8), 796-801.

Kim, J. R., Tejani, V. D., Abbas, P. J., & Brown, C. J. (2017). Intracochlear Recordings of Acoustically and Electrically Evoked Potentials in Nucleus Hybrid L24 Cochlear Implant Users and Their Relationship to Speech Perception. *Front Neurosci, 11*, 216.

Kim, J. S., Tejani, V. D., Abbas, P. J., & Brown, C. J. (2018). Postoperative Electrocochleography from Hybrid Cochlear Implant users: An Alternative Analysis Procedure. *Hear Res, 370*, 304-315.

Kirby, A. E., & Middlebrooks, J. C. (2010). Auditory temporal acuity probed with cochlear implant stimulation and Cortical recording. *J Neurophysiol, 103*(1), 531-542.

Kirby, B., Brown, C., Abbas, P., Etler, C., & O'Brien, S. (2012). Relationships between electrically evoked potentials and loudness growth in bilateral cochlear implant users. *Ear Hear*, *33*(3), 389-398.

Koles, Z. J., & Rasminsky, M. (1972). A computer simulation of conduction in demyelinated nerve fibres. *J Physiol*, 227(2), 351-364.

Koutsogiannaki, M.; Francois, H.; Choo, K.; Oh, E. (2017). Real-Time Modulation Enhancement of Temporal Envelopes for Increasing Speech Intelligibility. Interspeech, 1973–1977.

Kral, A., & Eggermont, J. J. (2007). What's to lose and what's to learn: development under auditory deprivation, cochlear implants and limits of Cortical plasticity. *Brain Res Rev, 56*(1), 259-269.

Kumar, A. U., & A V, S. (2011). Temporal processing abilities across different age groups. *J Am Acad Audiol*, 22(1), 5-12.

Kutscher, K., Goffi-Gomez, M. V., Befi-Lopes, D. M., Tsuji, R. K., & Bento, R. F. (2010). Cochlear implant: correlation of nerve function recovery, auditory deprivation and etiology. *Pro Fono*, *22*(4), 473-478.

Lai, W., & Dillier, N. (2009). Neural adaptation and the ECAP response threshold: a pilot study. *Cochlear Implants Int, 10 Suppl 1*, 63-67.

Lai, W. K., & Dillier, N. (2000). A simple two-component model of the electrically evoked compound action potential in the human cochlea. *Audiol Neurootol, 5*(6), 333-345.

Lalor, E. C., Power, A. J., Reilly, R. B., & Foxe, J. J. (2009). Resolving precise temporal processing properties of the auditory system using continuous stimuli. *J Neurophysiol*, *102*(1), 349-359.

Laneau J, Moonen M, Wouters J (2006) Factors affecting the use of noise-band vocoders as acoustic models for pitch perception in cochlear implants. *J Acoust Soc Am*,119: 491-506

Langhans, T.; Strube, H. (1982). Speech enhancement by nonlinear multiband envelope filtering. In Proceedings of the ICASSP'82. IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing, Paris, France,3–5 May; Volume 7, pp. 156–159.

Lazard, D. S., Collette, J. L., & Perrot, X. (2012). Speech processing: from peripheral to hemispheric asymmetry of the auditory system. *Laryngoscope*, *122*(1), 167-173.

Leake, P. A., & Hradek, G. T. (1988). Cochlear pathology of long term neomycin induced deafness in cats. *Hear Res, 33*(1), 11-33.

Lee, E. R., Friedland, D. R., & Runge, C. L. (2012). Recovery from forward masking in elderly cochlear implant users. *Otol Neurotol, 33*(3), 355-363.

Lee, S., Mendel, L. L., & Bidelman, G. M. (2019). Predicting Speech Recognition Using the Speech Intelligibility Index and Other Variables for Cochlear Implant Users. *J Speech Lang Hear Res, 62*(5), 1517-1531.

Liberman, M. C. (1984). Single-neuron labeling and chronic cochlear pathology. I. Threshold shift and characteristic-frequency shift. *Hear Res, 16*(1), 33-41.

Liberman MC (1978) Auditory-nerve response from cats raised in a low-noise chamber. J Acoust Soc Am **63**:442–455, doi:10.1121/1.381736

Liberman, M. C., & Dodds, L. W. (1984a). Single-neuron labeling and chronic cochlear pathology. II. Stereocilia damage and alterations of spontaneous discharge rates. *Hear Res, 16*(1), 43-53.

Liberman, M. C., & Dodds, L. W. (1984b). Single-neuron labeling and chronic cochlear pathology. III. Stereocilia damage and alterations of threshold tuning curves. *Hear Res, 16*(1), 55-74.

Liberman, M. C., & Kiang, N. Y. (1984). Single-neuron labeling and chronic cochlear pathology. IV. Stereocilia damage and alterations in rate- and phase-level functions. *Hear Res, 16*(1), 75-90.

Linthicum, F. H., & Fayad, J. N. (2009). Spiral ganglion cell loss is unrelated to segmental cochlear sensory system degeneration in humans. *Otol Neurotol, 30*(3), 418-422.

Lister, J. J., Maxfield, N. D., & Pitt, G. J. (2007). Cortical evoked response to gaps in noise: within-channel and across-channel conditions. *Ear Hear, 28*(6), 862-878.

Lister, J. J., Roberts, R. A., Krause, J. C., Debiase, D., & Carlson, H. (2011). An adaptive clinical test of temporal resolution: within-channel and across-channel gap detection. *Int J Audiol, 50*(6), 375-384.

Lister, J. J., Roberts, R. A., & Lister, F. L. (2011). An adaptive clinical test of temporal resolution: age effects. *Int J Audiol, 50*(6), 367-374.

Lister, J. J., Roberts, R. A., Shackelford, J., & Rogers, C. L. (2006). An adaptive clinical test of temporal resolution. *Am J Audiol, 15*(2), 133-140.

Litvak, L. M., Smith, Z. M., Delgutte, B., & Eddington, D. K. (2003). Desynchronization of electrically evoked auditory-nerve activity by high-frequency pulse trains of long duration. *J Acoust Soc Am*, *114*(4 Pt 1), 2066-2078.

Litvak, L. M., Spahr, A. J., Saoji, A. A., & Fridman, G. Y. (2007). Relationship between perception of spectral ripple and speech recognition in cochlear implant and vocoder listeners. *J Acoust Soc Am*, *122*(2), 982-991.

Lix, L. M., Keselman, J. C., & Keselman, H. J. (1996). Conse-quences of assumption violations revisited: A quantitative re-view of alternatives to the one-way analysis of varianceFtest.Review of Educational Research, 66,579–619.

Loizou, P. C., Dorman, M., Poroy, O., & Spahr, T. (2000). Speech recognition by normalhearing and cochlear implant listeners as a function of intensity resolution. *J Acoust Soc Am*, *108*(5 Pt 1), 2377-2387.

Loizou, P. C., Dorman, M. F., Tu, Z., & Fitzke, J. (2000). Recognition of sentences in noise by normal-hearing listeners using simulations of speak-type cochlear implant signal processors. *Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol Suppl, 185*, 67-68.

Loizou, P. C., & Poroy, O. (2001). Minimum spectral contrast needed for vowel identification by normal hearing and cochlear implant listeners. *J Acoust Soc Am, 110*(3 Pt 1), 1619-1627.

Loizou, P. C., Poroy, O., & Dorman, M. (2000). The effect of parametric variations of cochlear implant processors on speech understanding. *J Acoust Soc Am, 108*(2), 790-802.

Looi, V., McDermott, H., McKay, C., & Hickson, L. (2008). The effect of cochlear implantation on music perception by adults with usable pre-operative acoustic hearing. *Int J Audiol, 47*(5), 257-268.

Mahmoud, A. F., & Ruckenstein, M. J. (2014). Speech perception performance as a function of age at implantation among postlingually deaf adult cochlear implant recipients. *Otol Neurotol, 35*(10), e286-291.

Makary, C. A., Shin, J., Kujawa, S. G., Liberman, M. C., & Merchant, S. N. (2011). Age-related primary cochlear neuronal degeneration in human temporal bones. *J Assoc Res Otolaryngol, 12*(6), 711-717.

Matsuoka, A. J., Abbas, P. J., Rubinstein, J. T., & Miller, C. A. (2000a). The neuronal response to electrical constant-amplitude pulse train stimulation: additive Gaussian noise. *Hear Res, 149*(1-2), 129-137.

Matsuoka, A. J., Abbas, P. J., Rubinstein, J. T., & Miller, C. A. (2000b). The neuronal response to electrical constant-amplitude pulse train stimulation: evoked compound action potential recordings. *Hear Res, 149*(1-2), 115-128.

Matsuoka, A. J., Rubinstein, J. T., Abbas, P. J., & Miller, C. A. (2001). The effects of interpulse interval on stochastic properties of electrical stimulation: models and measurements. *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng*, *48*(4), 416-424.

McDermott, H. J. (2004). Music perception with cochlear implants: a review. *Trends Amplif*, *8*(2), 49-82.

McKay, C. M. (2012). Forward masking as a method of measuring place specificity of neural excitation in cochlear implants: a review of methods and interpretation. *J Acoust Soc Am*, *131*(3), 2209-2224.

McKay, C. M., Chandan, K., Akhoun, I., Siciliano, C., & Kluk, K. (2013). Can ECAP measures be used for totally objective programming of cochlear implants? *J Assoc Res Otolaryngol, 14*(6), 879-890.

McKay, C. M., & Henshall, K. R. (2003). The perceptual effects of interphase gap duration in cochlear implant stimulation. *Hear Res, 181*(1-2), 94-99.

McKay, C. M., Lim, H. H., & Lenarz, T. (2013). Temporal processing in the auditory system: insights from cochlear and auditory midbrain implantees. *J Assoc Res Otolaryngol, 14*(1), 103-124.

McKay, C. M., & Smale, N. (2017). The relation between ECAP measurements and the effect of rate on behavioral thresholds in cochlear implant users. *Hear Res, 346*, 62-70.

McJunkin JL, Durakovic N, Herzog J, Buchman CA (2018) Early outcomes with a slim, modiolar cochlear implant electrode array. Otol Neurotol 39(1): e28–e33

Meddis, R. (1986). Simulation of mechanical to neural transduction in the auditory receptor. *J Acoust Soc Am, 79*(3), 702-711.

Meyer, A. C., Frank, T., Khimich, D., Hoch, G., Riedel, D., Chapochnikov, N. M., et al. (2009). Tuning of synapse number, structure and function in the cochlea. *Nat Neurosci, 12*(4), 444-453.

Middlebrooks, J. C. (2004). Effects of cochlear-implant pulse rate and inter-channel timing on channel interactions and thresholds. *J Acoust Soc Am, 116*(1), 452-468.

Middlebrooks, J. C., Bierer, J. A., & Snyder, R. L. (2005). Cochlear implants: the view from the brain. *Curr Opin Neurobiol*, *15*(4), 488-493.

Miller, C. A., Abbas, P. J., & Brown, C. J. (1993). Electrically evoked auditory brainstem response to stimulation of different sites in the cochlea. *Hear Res, 66*(2), 130-142.

Miller, C. A., Abbas, P. J., & Brown, C. J. (2000). An improved method of reducing stimulus artifact in the electrically evoked whole-nerve potential. *Ear Hear, 21*(4), 280-290.

Miller, C. A., Abbas, P. J., Hay-McCutcheon, M. J., Robinson, B. K., Nourski, K. V., & Jeng, F. C. (2004). Intracochlear and extracochlear ECAPs suggest antidromic action potentials. *Hear Res, 198*(1-2), 75-86.

Miller, C. A., Abbas, P. J., Nourski, K. V., Hu, N., & Robinson, B. K. (2003). Electrode configuration influences action potential initiation site and ensemble stochastic response properties. *Hear Res, 175*(1-2), 200-214.

Miller, C. A., Abbas, P. J., & Robinson, B. K. (1994). The use of long-duration current pulses to assess nerve survival. *Hear Res, 78*(1), 11-26.

Miller, C. A., Abbas, P. J., & Robinson, B. K. (2001). Response properties of the refractory auditory nerve fiber. *J Assoc Res Otolaryngol, 2*(3), 216-232.

Miller, C. A., Abbas, P. J., Robinson, B. K., Nourski, K. V., Zhang, F., & Jeng, F. C. (2006). Electrical excitation of the acoustically sensitive auditory nerve: single-fiber responses to electric pulse trains. *J Assoc Res Otolaryngol, 7*(3), 195-210.

Miller, C. A., Abbas, P. J., Robinson, B. K., Nourski, K. V., Zhang, F., & Jeng, F. C. (2009). Auditory nerve fiber responses to combined acoustic and electric stimulation. *J Assoc Res Otolaryngol, 10*(3), 425-445.

Miller, C. A., Abbas, P. J., Robinson, B. K., Rubinstein, J. T., & Matsuoka, A. J. (1999). Electrically evoked single-fiber action potentials from cat: responses to monopolar, monophasic stimulation. *Hear Res, 130*(1-2), 197-218.

Miller, C. A., Abbas, P. J., Rubinstein, J. T., Robinson, B. K., Matsuoka, A. J., & Woodworth, G. (1998). Electrically evoked compound action potentials of guinea pig and cat: responses to monopolar, monophasic stimulation. *Hear Res, 119*(1-2), 142-154.

Miller, C. A., Brown, C. J., Abbas, P. J., & Chi, S. L. (2008). The clinical application of potentials evoked from the peripheral auditory system. *Hear Res, 242*(1-2), 184-197.

Miller, C. A., Hu, N., Zhang, F., Robinson, B. K., & Abbas, P. J. (2008). Changes across time in the temporal responses of auditory nerve fibers stimulated by electric pulse trains. *J Assoc Res Otolaryngol, 9*(1), 122-137.

Miller, C. A., Robinson, B. K., Rubinstein, J. T., Abbas, P. J., & Runge-Samuelson, C. L. (2001). Auditory nerve responses to monophasic and biphasic electric stimuli. *Hear Res*, *151*(1-2), 79-94.

Miller, C. A., Woo, J., Abbas, P. J., Hu, N., & Robinson, B. K. (2011). Neural masking by subthreshold electric stimuli: animal and computer model results. *J Assoc Res Otolaryngol, 12*(2), 219-232.

Miller, S., Zhang, Y., & Nelson, P. (2016). Neural Correlates of Phonetic Learning in Postlingually Deafened Cochlear Implant Listeners. *Ear Hear, 37*(5), 514-528.

Miller GA. The perception of short bursts of noise. J Acoust Soc Am. 1948;20(2):160-170.

Mino, H., & Rubinstein, J. T. (2006). Effects of neural refractoriness on spatio-temporal variability in spike initiations with Electrical stimulation. *IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng*, *14*(3), 273-280.

Mino, H., Rubinstein, J. T., Miller, C. A., & Abbas, P. J. (2004). Effects of electrode-to-fiber distance on temporal neural response with electrical stimulation. *IEEE Trans Biomed Eng*, *51*(1), 13-20.

Miranda TT, Pichora-Fuller MK. Temporally jittered speech produces performance intensity, phonetically balanced rollover in young normal hearing listeners. J Am Acad Audiol. 2002;13:50-58.

Moberly, A. C., Lowenstein, J. H., Tarr, E., Caldwell-Tarr, A., Welling, D. B., Shahin, A. J., et al. (2014). Do adults with cochlear implants rely on different acoustic cues for phoneme perception than adults with normal hearing? *J Speech Lang Hear Res*, *57*(2), 566-582.

Moore, B. C., & Glasberg, B. R. (1983). Forward masking patterns for harmonic complex tones. *J Acoust Soc Am*, *73*(5), 1682-1685.

Moore, B. C., & Glasberg, B. R. (1988). Gap detection with sinusoids and noise in normal, impaired, and electrically stimulated ears. *J Acoust Soc Am*, *83*(3), 1093-1101.

Moore, B. C., Glasberg, B. R., Plack, C. J., & Biswas, A. K. (1988). The shape of the ear's temporal window. *J Acoust Soc Am*, *83*(3), 1102-1116.

Moore BCJ. (1993) Temporal analysis in normal and impaired hearing. Ann N YAcad Sci 682:119-136

Moore, B. C. (2003). Coding of sounds in the auditory system and its relevance to signal processing and coding in cochlear implants. *Otol Neurotol, 24*(2), 243-254.

Moore, B. C., Tyler, L. K., & Marslen-Wilson, W. (2008). Introduction. The perception of speech: from sound to meaning. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 363*(1493), 917-921.

Moore, D. R., & Shannon, R. V. (2009). Beyond cochlear implants: awakening the deafened brain. *Nat Neurosci, 12*(6), 686-691.

Morita, T., Naito, Y., Hirai, T., Yamaguchi, S., & Ito, J. (2003). The relationship between the intraoperative ECAP threshold and postoperative behavioral levels: the difference between postlingually deafened adults and prelingually deafened pediatric cochlear implant users. *Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol, 260*(2), 67-72.

Morsnowski, A., Charasse, B., Collet, L., Killian, M., & Müller-Deile, J. (2006). Measuring the refractoriness of the electrically stimulated auditory nerve. *Audiol Neurootol, 11*(6), 389-402.

Morsnowski, A., Charasse, B., Collet, L., Killian, M., & Müller-Deile, J. (2008). [Refractory behaviour of the electrically stimulated auditory nerve]. *HNO, 56*(2), 131-138.

Moushegian G, Jeffress LA. Role of interaural time and intensity differences in the lateralization of low-frequency tones. J Acoust Soc Am. 1959;31(11):1441-1445.

Muchnik, C., Taitelbaum, R., Tene, S., & Hildesheimer, M. (1994). Auditory temporal resolution and open speech recognition in cochlear implant recipients. *Scand Audiol, 23*(2), 105-109.

Muluk, N. B., Yalçinkaya, F., & Keith, R. W. (2011). Random gap detection test and random gap detection test-expanded: Results in children with previous language delay in early childhood. *Auris Nasus Larynx, 38*(1), 6-13.

Musiek, F. E., Shinn, J. B., Jirsa, R., Bamiou, D. E., Baran, J. A., & Zaida, E. (2005). GIN (Gaps-In-Noise) test performance in subjects with confirmed central auditory nervous system involvement. *Ear Hear, 26*(6), 608-618.

Musiek, F.E. (1994) Frequency (pitch) and duration pattern tests. J Am Acad Audiol;5(4):265-268.

Mussoi, B. S., & Brown, C. J. (2020). The Effect of Aging on the Electrically Evoked Compound Action Potential. *Otol Neurotol, 41*(7), e804-e811.

Mussoi, B. S. S., & Brown, C. J. (2019). Age-Related Changes in Temporal Resolution Revisited: Electrophysiological and Behavioral Findings from Cochlear Implant Users. *Ear Hear, 40*(6), 1328-1344.

Nadol, J. B., Young, Y. S., & Glynn, R. J. (1989). Survival of spiral ganglion cells in profound sensorineural hearing loss: implications for cochlear implantation. *Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol, 98*(6), 411-416.

Nadol, J. B. (1997). Patterns of neural degeneration in the human cochlea and auditory nerve: implications for cochlear implantation. *Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg, 117*(3 Pt 1), 220-228.

Nadol, J. B., Shiao, J. Y., Burgess, B. J., Ketten, D. R., Eddington, D. K., Gantz, B. J., et al. (2001). Histopathology of cochlear implants in humans. *Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol, 110*(9), 883-891.

Nelken, I. (2008). Processing of complex sounds in the auditory system. *Curr Opin Neurobiol, 18*(4), 413-417.

Nelson, D. A., & Donaldson, G. S. (2001). Psychophysical recovery from single-pulse forward masking in electric hearing. *J Acoust Soc Am, 109*(6), 2921-2933.

Nelson, D. A., & Donaldson, G. S. (2002). Psychophysical recovery from pulse-train forward masking in electric hearing. *J Acoust Soc Am, 112*(6), 2932-2947.

Nelson, D. A., Donaldson, G. S., & Kreft, H. (2008). Forward-masked spatial tuning curves in cochlear implant users. *J Acoust Soc Am, 123*(3), 1522-1543.

Nelson, D. A., & Lassman, F. M. (1973). Combined effects of recovery period and stimulus intensity on the human auditory evoked vertex response. *J Speech Hear Res, 16*(2), 297-308.
Nelson, D. A., & Pavlov, R. (1989). Auditory time constants for off-frequency forward masking in normal-hearing and hearing-impaired listeners. *J Speech Hear Res, 32*(2), 298-306.

Nelson, D. A., Schmitz, J. L., Donaldson, G. S., Viemeister, N. F., & Javel, E. (1996). Intensity discrimination as a function of stimulus level with electric stimulation. *J Acoust Soc Am, 100*(4 Pt 1), 2393-2414.

National Institute of Health and Clinical Excellence [NICE] (2019). Cochlear implants for children and adults with severe to profound deafness, London.

Ng, L., Kelley, M.W., Forrest, D. (2013). Making sense with thyroid hormone-the role of T3 in auditory development. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, 9(5), 296-307.

Nie, K., Barco, A., & Zeng, F. G. (2006). Spectral and temporal cues in cochlear implant speech perception. *Ear Hear, 27*(2), 208-217.

Nilsson, M., Soli, S. D., & Sullivan, J. A. (1994). Development of the Hearing in Noise Test for the measurement of speech reception thresholds in quiet and in noise. *J Acoust Soc Am*, *95*(2), 1085-1099.

Noble, J. H., Labadie, R. F., Gifford, R. H., & Dawant, B. M. (2013). Image-guidance enables new methods for customizing cochlear implant stimulation strategies. *IEEE Trans Neural Syst Rehabil Eng*, *21*(5), 820-829.

Noh, H., Abbas, P. J., Abbas, C. A., Nourski, K. V., Robinson, B. K., & Jeng, F. C. (2007). Binaural interactions of electrically and acoustically evoked responses recorded from the inferior colliculus of guinea pigs. *Int J Audiol, 46*(6), 309-320.

Nourski, K. V., Abbas, P. J., Miller, C. A., Robinson, B. K., & Jeng, F. C. (2005). Effects of acoustic noise on the auditory nerve compound action potentials evoked by electric pulse trains. *Hear Res*, *202*(1-2), 141-153.

Nourski, K. V., Abbas, P. J., Miller, C. A., Robinson, B. K., & Jeng, F. C. (2007). Acousticelectric interactions in the guinea pig auditory nerve: simultaneous and forward masking of the electrically evoked compound action potential. *Hear Res, 232*(1-2), 87-103.

Nourski, K. V., Etler, C. P., Brugge, J. F., Oya, H., Kawasaki, H., Reale, R. A., et al. (2013). Direct recordings from the auditory cortex in a cochlear implant user. *J Assoc Res Otolaryngol, 14*(3), 435-450.

O'Donoghue, G. M., Nikolopoulos, T. P., & Archbold, S. M. (2000). Determinants of speech perception in children after cochlear implantation. *Lancet, 356*(9228), 466-468.

Oxenham, A. J. (2001). Forward masking: adaptation or integration? *J Acoust Soc Am, 109*(2), 732-741.

Oxenham, A. J., & Plack, C. J. (2000). Effects of masker frequency and duration in forward masking: further evidence for the influence of peripheral nonlinearity. *Hear Res, 150*(1-2), 258-266.

Pauler, M., Schuknecht, H. F., & White, J. A. (1988). Atrophy of the stria vascularis as a cause of sensorineural hearing loss. *Laryngoscope*, *98*(7), 754-759. doi:10.1288/00005537-198807000-00014

Pelosi, S., Rivas, A., Haynes, D. S., Bennett, M. L., Labadie, R. F., Hedley-Williams, A., et al. (2012). Stimulation rate reduction and auditory development in poorly performing cochlear implant users with auditory neuropathy. *Otol Neurotol, 33*(9), 1502-1506.

Peterson, G. E., & Lehiste, I. (1962). Revised CNC lists for auditory tests. J Speech Hear Disord, 27, 62-70.

Pfingst, B. E., Bowling, S. A., Colesa, D. J., Garadat, S. N., Raphael, Y., Shibata, S. B., et al. (2011). Cochlear infrastructure for electrical hearing. *Hear Res*, *281*(1-2), 65-73.

Pfingst, B. E., Colesa, D. J., Hembrador, S., Kang, S. Y., Middlebrooks, J. C., Raphael, Y., et al. (2011). Detection of pulse trains in the electrically stimulated cochlea: effects of cochlear health. *J Acoust Soc Am*, *130*(6), 3954-3968.

Pfingst, B. E., Franck, K. H., Xu, L., Bauer, E. M., & Zwolan, T. A. (2001). Effects of electrode configuration and place of stimulation on speech perception with cochlear prostheses. *J Assoc Res Otolaryngol, 2*(2), 87-103.

Pfingst, B. E., Hughes, A. P., Colesa, D. J., Watts, M. M., Strahl, S. B., & Raphael, Y. (2015). Insertion trauma and recovery of function after cochlear implantation: Evidence from objective functional measures. *Hear Res, 330*(Pt A), 98-105.

Pfingst, B. E., Xu, L., & Thompson, C. S. (2004). Across-site threshold variation in cochlear implants: relation to speech recognition. *Audiol Neurootol, 9*(6), 341-352.

Pfingst, B. E., Xu, L., & Thompson, C. S. (2007). Effects of carrier pulse rate and stimulation site on modulation detection by subjects with cochlear implants. *J Acoust Soc Am, 121*(4), 2236-2246.

Phillips, D. P. (1993a). Neural representation of stimulus times in the primary auditory cortex. *Ann N Y Acad Sci, 682*, 104-118.

Phillips, D. P. (1993b). Representation of acoustic events in the primary auditory cortex. *J Exp Psychol Hum Percept Perform, 19*(1), 203-216.

Phillips, D. P., Comeau, M., & Andrus, J. N. (2010). Auditory temporal gap detection in children with and without auditory processing disorder. *J Am Acad Audiol, 21*(6), 404-408.

Phillips, D. P., & Farmer, M. E. (1990). Acquired word deafness, and the temporal grain of sound representation in the primary auditory cortex. *Behav Brain Res, 40*(2), 85-94.

Phillips, D. P., & Hall, S. E. (1990). Response timing constraints on the Cortical representation of sound time structure. *J Acoust Soc Am, 88*(3), 1403-1411.

Phillips, D. P., & Hall, S. E. (2002). Auditory temporal gap detection for noise markers with partially overlapping and non-overlapping spectra. *Hear Res, 174*(1-2), 133-141.

Phillips, D. P., & Sark, S. A. (1991). Separate mechanisms control spike numbers and interspike intervals in transient responses of cat auditory cortex neurons. *Hear Res, 53*(1), 17-27.

Phillips, D. P., & Smith, J. C. (2004). Correlations among within-channel and between-channel auditory gap-detection thresholds in normal listeners. *Perception, 33*(3), 371-378.

Phillips, D. P., Taylor, T. L., Hall, S. E., Carr, M. M., & Mossop, J. E. (1997). Detection of silent intervals between noises activating different perceptual channels: some properties of "central" auditory gap detection. *J Acoust Soc Am*, *101*(6), 3694-3705.

Pickles, J. O. (1988). An introduction to the physiology of hearing. London: Academic Press.

Picton, T. (2013). Hearing in time: evoked potential studies of temporal processing. *Ear Hear, 34*(4), 385-401.

Pinheiro M, Musiek F: Assessment of Central Auditory Dysfunction: Foundations and Clinical Correlates. Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins, 1985.

Plant, K., Holden, L., Skinner, M., Arcaroli, J., Whitford, L., Law, M. A., et al. (2007). Clinical evaluation of higher stimulation rates in the nucleus research platform 8 system. *Ear Hear, 28*(3), 381-393.

Plant, K. L., Whitford, L. A., Psarros, C. E., & Vandali, A. E. (2002). Parameter selection and programming recommendations for the ACE and CIS speech-processing strategies in the Nucleus 24 cochlear implant system. *Cochlear Implants Int, 3*(2), 104-125.

Polak, M., Hodges, A. V., King, J. E., & Balkany, T. J. (2004). Further prospective findings with compound action potentials from Nucleus 24 cochlear implants. *Hear Res, 188*(1-2), 104-116.

Ponton, C. W., Don, M., Eggermont, J. J., Waring, M. D., Kwong, B., & Masuda, A. (1996). Auditory system plasticity in children after long periods of complete deafness. *Neuroreport*, *8*(1), 61-65.

Ponton, C. W., Don, M., Eggermont, J. J., Waring, M. D., & Masuda, A. (1996). Maturation of human Cortical auditory function: differences between normal-hearing children and children with cochlear implants. *Ear Hear, 17*(5), 430-437.

Ponton, C. W., & Eggermont, J. J. (2001). Of kittens and kids: altered Cortical maturation following profound deafness and cochlear implant use. *Audiol Neurootol, 6*(6), 363-380.

Ponton, C. W., Moore, J. K., & Eggermont, J. J. (1996). Auditory brain stem response generation by parallel pathways: differential maturation of axonal conduction time and synaptic transmission. *Ear Hear, 17*(5), 402-410.

Ponton, C. W., Vasama, J. P., Tremblay, K., Khosla, D., Kwong, B., & Don, M. (2001). Plasticity in the adult human central auditory system: evidence from late-onset profound unilateral deafness. *Hear Res, 154*(1-2), 32-44.

Prado-Guitierrez, P., Fewster, L. M., Heasman, J. M., McKay, C. M., & Shepherd, R. K. (2006). Effect of interphase gap and pulse duration on electrically evoked potentials is correlated with auditory nerve survival. *Hear Res, 215*(1-2), 47-55.

Preece, J. P., & Tyler, R. S. (1989). Temporal-gap detection by cochlear prosthesis users. J Speech Hear Res, 32(4), 849-856.

Purcell DW, John SM, Schneider BA, Picton TW. Human temporal auditory acuity as assessed by envelope following responses. J Acoust Soc Am. 2004;116(6):3581-3593.

Queiroz, D. S., Momensohn-Santos, T. M., & Branco-Barreiro, F. C. (2010). Auditory temporal resolution threshold in elderly individuals. *Pro Fono, 22*(3), 351-357.

Ramekers, D., Versnel, H., Strahl, S. B., Klis, S. F., & Grolman, W. (2015a). Recovery characteristics of the electrically stimulated auditory nerve in deafened guinea pigs: relation to neuronal status. *Hear Res, 321*, 12-24.

Ramekers, D., Versnel, H., Strahl, S. B., Klis, S. F., & Grolman, W. (2015b). Temporary Neurotrophin Treatment Prevents Deafness-Induced Auditory Nerve Degeneration and Preserves Function. *J Neurosci, 35*(36), 12331-12345.

Rattay, F. (1999). The basic mechanism for the electrical stimulation of the nervous system. *Neuroscience*, *89*(2), 335-346.

Rawool VW. Effect of aging on the click-rate induced facilitation of acoustic reflex thresholds. J Gerontol Biol Sci Med Sci. 1996;51(2): B124-31

Robbins, A. M., Renshaw, J. J., & Berry, S. W. (1991). Evaluating meaningful auditory integration in profoundly hearing-impaired children. *Am J Otol, 12 Suppl*, 144-150.

Roberts, R. A., & Lister, J. J. (2004). Effects of age and hearing loss on gap detection and the precedence effect: broadband stimuli. *J Speech Lang Hear Res, 47*(5), 965-978.

Rosen, S. (1992). Temporal information in speech: acoustic, auditory and linguistic aspects. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 336*(1278), 367-373.

Rosen, S., Faulkner, A., & Wilkinson, L. (1999). Adaptation by normal listeners to upward spectral shifts of speech: implications for cochlear implants. *J Acoust Soc Am, 106*(6), 3629-3636.

Rubinstein, J. T., & Hong, R. (2003). Signal coding in cochlear implants: exploiting stochastic effects of electrical stimulation. *Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol Suppl, 191*, 14-19.

Rubinstein, J. T., Wilson, B. S., Finley, C. C., & Abbas, P. J. (1999). Pseudospontaneous activity: stochastic independence of auditory nerve fibers with electrical stimulation. *Hear Res, 127*(1-2), 108-118.

Runge, C. L., Du, F., & Hu, Y. (2018). Improved Speech Perception in Cochlear Implant Users with Interleaved High-Rate Pulse Trains. *Otol Neurotol, 39*(5), e319-e324.

Runge-Samuelson, C. L., Abbas, P. J., Rubinstein, J. T., Miller, C. A., & Robinson, B. K. (2004). Response of the auditory nerve to sinusoidal electrical stimulation: effects of high-rate pulse trains. *Hear Res, 194*(1-2), 1-13.

Rupp, A., Gutschalk, A., Hack, S., & Scherg, M. (2002). Temporal resolution of the human primary auditory cortex in gap detection. *Neuroreport, 13*(17), 2203-2207.

Sachs, M. B., & Young, E. D. (1979). Encoding of steady-state vowels in the auditory nerve: representation in terms of discharge rate. *J Acoust Soc Am, 66*(2), 470-479.

Sagi, E., Kaiser, A. R., Meyer, T. A., & Svirsky, M. A. (2009). The effect of temporal gap identification on speech perception by users of cochlear implants. *J Speech Lang Hear Res*, *52*(2), 385-395.

Samelli, A. G., & Schochat, E. (2008). The gaps-in-noise test: gap detection thresholds in normal-hearing young adults. *Int J Audiol, 47*(5), 238-245.

Scheperle, R. A., & Abbas, P. J. (2015a). Peripheral and Central Contributions to Cortical Responses in Cochlear Implant Users. *Ear Hear, 36*(4), 430-440.

Scheperle, R. A., & Abbas, P. J. (2015b). Relationships Among Peripheral and Central Electrophysiological Measures of Spatial and Spectral Selectivity and Speech Perception in Cochlear Implant Users. *Ear Hear, 36*(4), 441-453.

Scheperle, R. A., Tejani, V. D., Omtvedt, J. K., Brown, C. J., Abbas, P. J., Hansen, M. R., et al. (2017). Delayed changes in auditory status in cochlear implant users with preserved acoustic hearing. *Hear Res, 350*, 45-57.

Schmider, E., Ziegler, M., Danay, E., Beyer, L., &Buhner. (2010). Is it really robust? Reinvestigating the robustness of ANOVA against violations of the normal distribution assumption. Methodology, 6,147–151.

Schneider, B., Speranza, F., & Pichora-Fuller, M. K. (1998). Age-related changes in temporal resolution: envelope and intensity effects. *Can J Exp Psychol*, *5*2(4), 184-191.

Schvartz-Leyzac, K. C., Colesa, D. J., Buswinka, C. J., Swiderski, D. L., Raphael, Y., & Pfingst, B. E. (2019). Changes over time in the electrically evoked compound action potential (ECAP) interphase gap (IPG) effect following cochlear implantation in Guinea pigs. *Hear Res, 383*, 107809.

Schvartz-Leyzac, K. C., Holden, T. A., Zwolan, T. A., Arts, H. A., Firszt, J. B., Buswinka, C. J., et al. (2020). Effects of Electrode Location on Estimates of Neural Health in Humans with Cochlear Implants. *J Assoc Res Otolaryngol*, *21*(3), 259-275.

Schvartz-Leyzac, K. C., & Pfingst, B. E. (2016). Across-site patterns of electrically evoked compound action potential amplitude-growth functions in multichannel cochlear implant recipients and the effects of the interphase gap. *Hear Res, 341*, 50-65.

Scott, W. C., Giardina, C. K., Pappa, A. K., Fontenot, T. E., Anderson, M. L., Dillon, M. T., et al. (2016). The Compound Action Potential in Subjects Receiving a Cochlear Implant. *Otol Neurotol, 37*(10), 1654-1661.

Semenov, Y. R., Martinez-Monedero, R., & Niparko, J. K. (2012). Cochlear implants: clinical and societal outcomes. *Otolaryngol Clin North Am, 45*(5), 959-981.

Seyyedi, M., Eddington, D. K., & Nadol, J. B. (2011). Interaural comparison of spiral ganglion cell counts in profound deafness. *Hear Res, 282*(1-2), 56-62.

Seyyedi, M., Viana, L. M., & Nadol, J. B. (2014). Within-subject comparison of word recognition and spiral ganglion cell count in bilateral cochlear implant recipients. *Otol Neurotol, 35*(8), 1446-1450.

Shamma, S., & Lorenzi, C. (2013). On the balance of envelope and temporal fine structure in the encoding of speech in the early auditory system. *J Acoust Soc Am, 133*(5), 2818-2833.

Shamma, S. A. (1985a). Speech processing in the auditory system. I: The representation of speech sounds in the responses of the auditory nerve. *J Acoust Soc Am*, 78(5), 1612-1621.

Shamma, S. A. (1985b). Speech processing in the auditory system. II: Lateral inhibition and the central processing of speech evoked activity in the auditory nerve. *J Acoust Soc Am*, 78(5), 1622-1632.

Shannon, R. V. (1989). Detection of gaps in sinusoids and pulse trains by patients with cochlear implants. *J Acoust Soc Am, 85*(6), 2587-2592.

Shannon, R. V., Cruz, R. J., & Galvin, J. J. (2011). Effect of stimulation rate on cochlear implant users' phoneme, word and sentence recognition in quiet and in noise. *Audiol Neurootol, 16*(2), 113-123.

Shannon, R. V., Fu, Q. J., & Galvin, J. (2004). The number of spectral channels required for speech recognition depends on the difficulty of the listening situation. *Acta Otolaryngol Suppl*(552), 50-54.

Shannon, R. V., Galvin, J. J., & Baskent, D. (2002). Holes in hearing. *J Assoc Res Otolaryngol, 3*(2), 185-199.

Shannon, R. V., & Otto, S. R. (1990). Psychophysical measures from electrical stimulation of the human cochlear nucleus. *Hear Res, 47*(1-2), 159-168.

Shannon, R. V., Zeng, F. G., Kamath, V., Wygonski, J., & Ekelid, M. (1995). Speech recognition with primarily temporal cues. *Science*, *270*(5234), 303-304.

Shannon, R. V., Zeng, F. G., & Wygonski, J. (1998). Speech recognition with altered spectral distribution of envelope cues. *J Acoust Soc Am, 104*(4), 2467-2476.

Shaul C, Dragovic AS, Stringer AK, O'Leary SJ, Briggs RJ (2018) Scalar localisation of peri-modiolar electrodes and speech perception outcomes. J Laryngol Otol 29:1–7

Shearer, A. E., Tejani, V. D., Brown, C. J., Abbas, P. J., Hansen, M. R., Gantz, B. J., et al. (2018). In Vivo Electrocochleography in Hybrid Cochlear Implant Users Implicates TMPRSS3 in Spiral Ganglion Function. *Sci Rep, 8*(1), 14165.

Shepherd, R. K., & Hardie, N. A. (2001). Deafness-induced changes in the auditory pathway: implications for cochlear implants. *Audiol Neurootol, 6*(6), 305-318.

Shepherd, R. K., Hardie, N. A., & Baxi, J. H. (2001). Electrical stimulation of the auditory nerve: single neuron strength-duration functions in deafened animals. *Ann Biomed Eng, 29*(3), 195-201.

Shepherd, R. K., Hatsushika, S., & Clark, G. M. (1993). Electrical stimulation of the auditory nerve: the effect of electrode position on neural excitation. *Hear Res, 66*(1), 108-120.

Shepherd, R. K., Roberts, L. A., & Paolini, A. G. (2004). Long-term sensorineural hearing loss induces functional changes in the rat auditory nerve. *Eur J Neurosci, 20*(11), 3131-3140.

Shepherd, R. K., Wise, A. K., Enke, Y. L., Carter, P. M., & Fallon, J. B. (2017). Evaluation of focused multipolar stimulation for cochlear implants: a preclinical safety study. *J Neural Eng*, *14*(4), 046020.

Shinn, J. B., Chermak, G. D., & Musiek, F. E. (2009). GIN (Gaps-In-Noise) performance in the pediatric population. *J Am Acad Audiol, 20*(4), 229-238.

Shpak, T., Berlin, M., & Luntz, M. (2004). Objective measurements of auditory nerve recovery function in nucleus CI 24 implantees in relation to subjective preference of stimulation rate. *Acta Otolaryngol, 124*(6), 679-683.

Shpak, T., Most, T., & Luntz, M. (2014). Fundamental frequency information for speech recognition via bimodal stimulation: cochlear implant in one ear and hearing aid in the other. *Ear Hear, 35*(1), 97-109.

Skidmore, J., & He, S. (2020). The Effect of Increasing Interphase Gap on N1 Latency of the Electrically Evoked Compound Action Potential and the Stimulation Level Offset in Human Cochlear Implant Users. *Ear Hear*.

Skinner, M. W. (2003). Optimizing cochlear implant speech performance. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol Suppl, 191, 4-13.

Skinner, M. W., Holden, L. K., Fourakis, M. S., Hawks, J. W., Holden, T., Arcaroli, J., et al. (2006). Evaluation of equivalency in two recordings of monosyllabic words. *J Am Acad Audiol*, *17*(5), 350-366.

Skinner, M. W., Holden, L. K., Whitford, L. A., Plant, K. L., Psarros, C., & Holden, T. A. (2002). Speech recognition with the nucleus 24 SPEAK, ACE, and CIS speech coding strategies in newly implanted adults. *Ear Hear, 23*(3), 207-223.

Smart, J. L., Kuruvilla-Mathew, A., Kelly, A. S., & Purdy, S. C. (2019). Assessment of the efferent auditory system in children with suspected auditory processing disorder: the Middle ear muscle reflex and contralateral inhibition of OAEs. *Int J Audiol, 58*(1), 37-44.

Smith, K. J., & McDonald, W. I. (1999). The pathophysiology of multiple sclerosis: the mechanisms underlying the production of symptoms and the natural history of the disease. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 354*(1390), 1649-1673.

Smith, R. L. (1977). Short-term adaptation in single auditory nerve fibers: some poststimulatory effects. *J Neurophysiol, 40*(5), 1098-1111.

Smith, R. L., & Brachman, M. L. (1982). Adaptation in auditory-nerve fibers: a revised model. *Biol Cybern, 44*(2), 107-120.

Smoorenburg, G. F., Willeboer, C., & van Dijk, J. E. (2002). Speech perception in nucleus CI24M cochlear implant users with processor settings based on electrically evoked compound action potential thresholds. *Audiol Neurootol*, *7*(6), 335-347.

Snell, K. B. (1997). Age-related changes in temporal gap detection. *J Acoust Soc Am, 101*(4), 2214-2220.

Snell, K. B., & Hu, H. L. (1999). The effect of temporal placement on gap detectability. *J Acoust Soc Am, 106*(6), 3571-3577.

Souza, P.E.; Wright, R.A.; Blackburn, M.C.; Tatman, R.; Gallun, F.J. (2015). Individual sensitivity to spectral and temporal cues in listeners with hearing impairment. J. Speech Lang. Hear. Res, 58, 520–534

Spahr, A. J., & Dorman, M. F. (2005). Effects of minimum stimulation settings for the Med El Tempo+ speech processor on speech understanding. *Ear Hear, 26*(4 Suppl), 2S-6S.

Spoendlin, H. (1975a). Neuroanatomical basis of cochlear coding mechanisms. *Audiology*, *14*(5-6), 383-407.

Spoendlin, H. (1975b). Retrograde degeneration of the cochlear nerve. *Acta Otolaryngol,* 79(3-4), 266-275.

Steadman, M. A., & Sumner, C. J. (2018). Changes in Neuronal Representations of Consonants in the Ascending Auditory System and Their Role in Speech Recognition. *Front Neurosci, 12*, 671.

Stevens, C., Paulsen, D., Yasen, A., & Neville, H. (2015). Atypical auditory refractory periods in children from lower socio-economic status backgrounds: ERP evidence for a role of selective attention. *Int J Psychophysiol, 95*(2), 156-166.

Stickney, G. S., Loizou, P. C., Mishra, L. N., Assmann, P. F., Shannon, R. V., & Opie, J. M. (2006). Effects of electrode design and configuration on channel interactions. *Hear Res, 211*(1-2), 33-45.

Stypulkowski, P. H., & van den Honert, C. (1984). Physiological properties of the electrically stimulated auditory nerve. I. Compound action potential recordings. *Hear Res, 14*(3), 205-223.

Sugimoto, S., Hosokawa, Y., Horikawa, J., Nasu, M., & Taniguchi, I. (2002). Spatial focusing of neuronal responses induced by asynchronous two-tone stimuli in the guinea pig auditory cortex. *Cereb Cortex*, *12*(5), 506-514.

Swaminathan, J., & Heinz, M. G. (2012). Psychophysiological analyses demonstrate the importance of neural envelope coding for speech perception in noise. *J Neurosci, 32*(5), 1747-1756.

Swanson, B. A. (2008). "Pitch perception with cochlear implants," Ph.D. thesis, University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Australia.

Tabibi, S., Kegel, A., Lai, W. K., Bruce, I. C., & Dillier, N. (2019). Measuring temporal response properties of auditory nerve fibers in cochlear implant recipients. *Hear Res, 380*, 187-196.

Tanamati, L. F., Bevilacqua, M. C., & Costa, O. A. (2009). Longitudinal study of the eCAP measured in children with cochlear implants. *Braz J Otorhinolaryngol, 75*(1), 90-96.

Tejani, V. D., Abbas, P. J., & Brown, C. J. (2017). Relationship Between Peripheral and Psychophysical Measures of Amplitude Modulation Detection in Cochlear Implant Users. *Ear Hear*, *38*(5), e268-e284.

Tejani, V. D., Abbas, P. J., Brown, C. J., & Woo, J. (2019). An improved method of obtaining electrocochleography recordings from Nucleus Hybrid cochlear implant users. *Hear Res, 373*, 113-120.

Tejani, V. D., Schvartz-Leyzac, K. C., & Chatterjee, M. (2017). Sequential stream segregation in normally-hearing and cochlear-implant listeners. *J Acoust Soc Am, 141*(1), 50.

Telmesani, L. M., & Said, N. M. (2015). Effect of cochlear implant electrode array design on auditory nerve and behavioral response in children. *Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol, 79*(5), 660-665.

Todd, A. E., Goupell, M. J., & Litovsky, R. Y. (2019). Binaural unmasking with temporal envelope and fine structure in listeners with cochlear implants. *J Acoust Soc Am, 145*(5), 2982.

Tong, Y. C., Clark, G. M., Seligman, P. M., & Patrick, J. F. (1980). Speech processing for a multiple-electrode cochlear implant hearing prosthesis. *J Acoust Soc Am, 68*(6), 1897-1898.

Tong, Y. C., Millar, J. B., Clark, G. M., Martin, L. F., Busby, P. A., & Patrick, J. F. (1980). Psychophysical and speech perception studies on two multiple channel cochlear implant patients. *J Laryngol Otol, 94*(11), 1241-1256.

Turner, C. W., Gantz, B. J., Karsten, S., Fowler, J., & Reiss, L. A. (2010). Impact of hair cell preservation in cochlear implantation: combined electric and acoustic hearing. *Otol Neurotol, 31*(8), 1227-1232.

Tuz, D., Aslan, F., Böke, B., & Yücel, E. (2020). Assessment of temporal processing functions in early period cochlear implantation. *Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol, 277*(7), 1939-1947.

Tyler, R. S., Moore, B. C., & Kuk, F. K. (1989). Performance of some of the better cochlearimplant patients. *J Speech Hear Res, 32*(4), 887-911.

Vabnick, I., Messing, A., Chiu, S. Y., Levinson, S. R., Schachner, M., Roder, J., et al. (1997). Sodium channel distribution in axons of hypomyelinated and MAG null mutant mice. *J Neurosci Res*, *50*(2), 321-336.

Valero, J., Blaser, S., Papsin, B. C., James, A. L., & Gordon, K. A. (2012). Electrophysiologic and behavioral outcomes of cochlear implantation in children with auditory nerve hypoplasia. *Ear Hear, 33*(1), 3-18.

van de Heyning, P., Arauz, S. L., Atlas, M., Baumgartner, W. D., Caversaccio, M., Chester-Browne, R., et al. (2016). Electrically evoked compound action potentials are different depending on the site of cochlear stimulation. *Cochlear Implants Int, 17*(6), 251-262.

van den Honert, C., & Stypulkowski, P. H. (1984). Physiological properties of the electrically stimulated auditory nerve. II. Single fiber recordings. *Hear Res, 14*(3), 225-243.

van der Beek, F. B., Briaire, J. J., & Frijns, J. H. (2015). Population-based prediction of fitting levels for individual cochlear implant recipients. *Audiol Neurootol, 20*(1), 1-16.

van Dijk, B., Botros, A. M., Battmer, R. D., Begall, K., Dillier, N., Hey, M., et al. (2007). Clinical results of AutoNRT, a completely automatic ECAP recording system for cochlear implants. *Ear Hear, 28*(4), 558-570.

van Eijl, R. H., Buitenhuis, P. J., Stegeman, I., Klis, S. F., & Grolman, W. (2017). Systematic review of compound action potentials as predictors for cochlear implant performance. *Laryngoscope*, *127*(2), 476-487.

Van Tasell, D.J.; Soli, S.D.; Kirby, V.M.; Widin, G.P. (1987). Speech waveform envelope cues for consonant recognition. J Acoust. Soc. Am, 82, 1152–1161.

van Wieringen, A., & Wouters, J. (1999). Gap detection in single- and multiple-channel stimuli by LAURA cochlear implantees. *J Acoust Soc Am, 106*(4 Pt 1), 1925-1939.

Vandali, A. E., Whitford, L. A., Plant, K. L., & Clark, G. M. (2000). Speech perception as a function of electrical stimulation rate: using the Nucleus 24 cochlear implant system. *Ear Hear, 21*(6), 608-624.

Viemeister NF. Temporal modulation transfer functions based upon modulation thresholds. J Acoust Soc Am. 1979;66(5): 1364-1380

Vercammen, C., Goossens, T., Undurraga, J., Wouters, J., & van Wieringen, A. (2018). Electrophysiological and Behavioral Evidence of Reduced Binaural Temporal Processing in the Aging and Hearing Impaired Human Auditory System. *Trends Hear, 22*, 2331216518785733.

Verschuur, C. A. (2005). Effect of stimulation rate on speech perception in adult users of the Med-El CIS speech processing strategy. *Int J Audiol, 44*(1), 58-63.

Walton, J. P., Dziorny, A. C., Vasilyeva, O. N., & Luebke, A. E. (2018). Loss of the Cochlear Amplifier Prestin Reduces Temporal Processing Efficacy in the Central Auditory System. *Front Cell Neurosci, 12*, 291.

Warren RM, Obusek CJ, Farmer RM, Warren RP. Auditory sequence: confusion of patterns other than speech or music. Science. 1969;164(879): 586-587

Weber, B. P., Lai, W. K., Dillier, N., von Wallenberg, E. L., Killian, M. J., Pesch, J., et al. (2007). Performance and preference for ACE stimulation rates obtained with nucleus RP 8 and freedom system. *Ear Hear, 28*(2 Suppl), 46S-48S.

Webster, D. B., & Webster, M. (1977). Neonatal sound deprivation affects brainstem auditory nuclei. *Arch Otolaryngol, 103*(7), 392-396. doi:10.1001/archotol.1977.00780240050006

Wei, C., Cao, K., Jin, X., Chen, X., & Zeng, F. G. (2007). Psychophysical performance and Mandarin tone recognition in noise by cochlear implant users. *Ear Hear, 28*(2 Suppl), 62S-65S.

Westen, A. A., Dekker, D. M., Briaire, J. J., & Frijns, J. H. (2011). Stimulus level effects on neural excitation and eCAP amplitude. *Hear Res, 280*(1-2), 166-176.

Wiemes, G. R., Hamerschmidt, R., Moreira, A. T., de Fraga, R., Tenório, S. B., & Carvalho, B. (2016). Auditory Nerve Recovery Function in Cochlear Implant Surgery with Local Anesthesia and Sedation versus General Anesthesia. *Audiol Neurootol, 21*(3), 150-157.

Wilson, B. S. (1997). The future of cochlear implants. Br J Audiol, 31(4), 205-225.

Wilson, B. S., & Dorman, M. F. (2008a). Cochlear implants: a remarkable past and a brilliant future. *Hear Res, 242*(1-2), 3-21.

Wilson, B. S., & Dorman, M. F. (2008b). Cochlear implants: current designs and future possibilities. *J Rehabil Res Dev, 45*(5), 695-730.

Wilson, B. S., Finley, C. C., Lawson, D. T., & Zerbi, M. (1997). Temporal representations with cochlear implants. *Am J Otol, 18*(6 Suppl), S30-34.

Winn, M. B., Won, J. H., & Moon, I. J. (2016). Assessment of Spectral and Temporal Resolution in Cochlear Implant Users Using Psychoacoustic Discrimination and Speech Cue Categorization. *Ear Hear*, *37*(6), e377-e390.

Won, J. H., Drennan, W. R., Nie, K., Jameyson, E. M., & Rubinstein, J. T. (2011). Acoustic temporal modulation detection and speech perception in cochlear implant listeners. *J Acoust Soc Am*, *130*(1), 376-388.

Won, J. H., Humphrey, E. L., Yeager, K. R., Martinez, A. A., Robinson, C. H., Mills, K. E., et al. (2014). Relationship among the physiologic channel interactions, spectral-ripple discrimination, and vowel identification in cochlear implant users. *J Acoust Soc Am, 136*(5), 2714-2725.

Xi, X., Ji, F., Han, D. Y., Huang, D. L., Hong, M. D., & Yang, W. Y. (2004). [Refractory recovery function of electrical auditory on the survival auditory nerve in cochlear implant recipients]. *Zhonghua Er Bi Yan Hou Ke Za Zhi, 39*(2), 77-80.

Xu, H. X., Kim, G. H., Snissarenko, E. P., Cureoglu, S., & Paparella, M. M. (2012). Multichannel cochlear implant histopathology: are fewer spiral ganglion cells really related to better clinical performance? *Acta Otolaryngol, 132*(5), 482-490.

Yalçinkaya, F., Muluk, N. B., Ataş, A., & Keith, R. W. (2009). Random Gap Detection Test and Random Gap Detection Test-Expanded results in children with auditory neuropathy. *Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol, 73*(11), 1558-1563.

Yost WA, Soderquist DR. The precedence effect: revisited. J Acoust Soc Am. 1984;76 (5):1377-1383.

Young, E., & Sachs, M. B. (1973). Recovery from sound exposure in auditory-nerve fibers. *J Acoust Soc Am, 54*(6), 1535-1543.

Young, E. D., & Calhoun, B. M. (2005). Nonlinear modeling of auditory-nerve rate responses to wideband stimuli. *J Neurophysiol*, *94*(6), 4441-4454.

Zaidan, E., Garcia, A. P., Tedesco, M. L., & Baran, J. A. (2008). [Performance of normal young adults in two temporal resolution tests]. *Pro Fono, 20*(1), 19-24.

Zera J, Green DM. Detecting temporal onset and offset asynchrony in multicomponent complexes. J Acoust Soc Am. 1993;93(2): 1038-1052.

Zera J, Green DM. Detecting temporal asynchrony with asynchronous standards. J Acoust Soc Am. 1993;93(3):1571-1579.

Zera J, Green DM. Effect of signal component phase on asynchrony discrimination. J Acoust Soc Am. 1995;98(2, Pt 1): 817-827.

Zhang, F., Benson, C., Murphy, D., Boian, M., Scott, M., Keith, R., et al. (2013). Neural adaptation and behavioral measures of temporal processing and speech perception in cochlear implant recipients. *PLoS One, 8*(12), e84631.

Zhang, F., Samy, R. N., Anderson, J. M., & Houston, L. (2009). Recovery function of the late auditory evoked potential in cochlear implant users and normal-hearing listeners. *J Am Acad Audiol, 20*(7), 397-408.

Zhao, Y., Xu, X., He, J., Xu, J., & Zhang, J. (2015). Age-related changes in neural gap detection thresholds in the rat auditory cortex. *Eur J Neurosci, 41*(3), 285-292.

Zhou, R., Abbas, P. J., & Assouline, J. G. (1995). Electrically evoked auditory brainstem response in peripherally myelin-deficient mice. *Hear Res, 88*(1-2), 98-106.

Zhou, R., Assouline, J. G., Abbas, P. J., Messing, A., & Gantz, B. J. (1995). Anatomical and physiological measures of auditory system in mice with peripheral myelin deficiency. *Hear Res, 88*(1-2), 87-97.

Zhu, X., Cao, K., Pan, T., Yang, H., & Wang, Y. (2002). [Electrically evoked auditory nerve compound action potentials in Nucleus CI24M cochlear implant users]. *Lin Chuang Er Bi Yan Hou Ke Za Zhi, 16*(1), 5-8.

Zilany, M. S., & Carney, L. H. (2010). Power-law dynamics in an auditory-nerve model can account for neural adaptation to sound-level statistics. *J Neurosci, 30*(31), 10380-10390.

Zoefel, B., Reddy Pasham, N., Brüers, S., & VanRullen, R. (2015). The ability of the auditory system to cope with temporal subsampling depends on the hierarchical level of processing. *Neuroreport, 26*(13), 773-778.

Zwolan, T. A., Kileny, P. R., & Telian, S. A. (1996). Self-report of cochlear implant use and satisfaction by prelingually deafened adults. *Ear Hear, 17*(3), 198-210.

•

Appendix A:



Miss Sharmila Patel St George's University Hospitals NHS Trust Blackshaw Road London SW17 0QT



Email: hra.approval@nhs.net Research-permissions@wales.nhs.uk

10 August 2018

Dear Miss Patel



The association between the temporal properties of the auditory nerve and its effects on auditory temporal

Study title:

	processing and speech perception abilities in cochlear		
	implant users		
RAS project ID:	244347		
Protocol number:	n/a		
REC reference:	18/LO/1241		
Sponsor	University of Southampton		

I am pleased to confirm that <u>HRA and Health and Care Research Wales (HCRW) Approval</u> has been given for the above referenced study, on the basis described in the application form, protocol, supporting documentation and any clarifications received. You should not expect to receive anything further relating to this application.

How should I continue to work with participating NHS organisations in England and Wales? You should now provide a copy of this letter to all participating NHS organisations in England and Wales, as well as any documentation that has been updated as a result of the assessment.

Following the arranging of capacity and capability, participating NHS organisations should formally confirm their capacity and capability to undertake the study. How this will be confirmed is detailed in the "summary of assessment" section towards the end of this letter.

You should provide, if you have not already done so, detailed instructions to each organisation as to how you will notify them that research activities may commence at site following their confirmation of capacity and capability (e.g. provision by you of a 'green light' email, formal notification following a site initiation visit, activities may commence immediately following confirmation by participating organisation, etc.).

Page 1 of 7

It is important that you involve both the research management function (e.g. R&D office) supporting each organisation and the local research team (where there is one) in setting up your study. Contact details of the research management function for each organisation can be accessed <u>here</u>.

How should I work with participating NHS/HSC organisations in Northern Ireland and Scotland?

HRA and HCRW Approval does not apply to NHS/HSC organisations within the devolved administrations of Northern Ireland and Scotland.

If you indicated in your IRAS form that you do have participating organisations in either of these devolved administrations, the final document set and the study wide governance report (including this letter) has been sent to the coordinating centre of each participating nation. You should work with the relevant national coordinating functions to ensure any nation specific checks are complete, and with each site so that they are able to give management permission for the study to begin.

Please see IRAS Help for Information on working with NHS/HSC organisations in Northern Ireland and Scotland.

How should I work with participating non-NHS organisations?

HRA and HCRW Approval does not apply to non-NHS organisations. You should work with your non-NHS organisations to obtain local agreement in accordance with their procedures.

What are my notification responsibilities during the study?

The document "After Ethical Review – guidance for sponsors and investigators", issued with your REC favourable opinion, gives detailed guidance on reporting expectations for studies, including:

- Registration of research
- Notifying amendments
- · Notifying the end of the study

The <u>HRA website</u> also provides guidance on these topics, and is updated in the light of changes in reporting expectations or procedures.

I am a participating NHS organisation in England or Wales. What should I do once I receive this letter?

You should work with the applicant and sponsor to complete any outstanding arrangements so you are able to confirm capacity and capability in line with the information provided in this letter.

The sponsor contact for this application is as follows:

Name: Dr Ferdousl Chowdhury Tel: 02380 595058 Email: rgoinfo@soton.ac.uk

Who should I contact for further information?

Please do not hesitate to contact me for assistance with this application. My contact details are below.

Your IRAS project ID is 244347. Please quote this on all correspondence.

Page 2 of 7

Yours sincerely

Aliki Sifostratoudaki Assessor

Email: hra.approval@nhs.net

Copy to: Dr Ferdousi Chowdhury, University of Southampton, Sponsor contact Dr Deborah McCartney, St George's University Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, R&D Contact

Page 3 of 7

List of Documents

The final document set assessed and approved by HRA and HCRW Approval is listed below.

Document	Version	Date
Contract/Study Agreement template [Site Agreement]	1.0	01 June 2018
Evidence of Sponsor Insurance or Indemnity (non NHS Sponsors only) [Insurance Certificate]		28 March 2018
GP/consultant information sheets or letters [GP Study Notification Letter]	1.0	01 February 2018
HRA Schedule of Events [244347_SOE_Research sites_Assessed by HRA.docx]	1	19 July 2018
HRA Statement of Activities [244347_SOA_Research sites_Assessed by HRA]	1	19 July 2018
IRAS Application Form [IRAS_Form_25062018]		25 June 2018
Letters of invitation to participant [Participant Invitation Letter]	1.0	29 June 2018
Participant consent form [Participant Consent Form]	1.0	01 February 2018
Participant Information sheet (PIS) [Participant Information Sheet]	2	09 August 2018
Research protocol or project proposal [Research Proposal]	1.0	22 June 2018
Summary CV for Chief Investigator (CI) [CV]	1.0	22 June 2018
Summary CV for supervisor (student research) [Summary CV Supervisor]		

Summary of assessment

The following information provides assurance to you, the sponsor and the NHS in England and Wales that the study, as assessed for HRA and HCRW Approval, is compliant with relevant standards. It also provides information and clarification, where appropriate, to participating NHS organisations in England and Wales to assist in assessing, arranging and confirming capacity and capability.

Assessment criteria

Section	Assessment Criteria	Compliant with Standards	Comments
1.1	IRAS application completed correctly	Yes	No comments
2.1	Participant Information/consent documents and consent process	Yes	For the purpose of HRA assessment revisions were necessary to the participant information sheet and consent form in order to bring them in line with HRA standards.
3.1	Protocol assessment	Yes	No comments
4.1	Allocation of responsibilities and rights are agreed and documented	Yes	The Sponsor contact has confirmed that the model non-commercial agreement will be used with sites. The Sponsor has also provided a completed Statement of Activities and the Schedule of Events for Information only.
4.2	Insurance/Indemnity arrangements assessed	Yes	No comments
4.3	Financial arrangements assessed	Yes	This study is not receiving external funding.
5.1	Compliance with the Data Protection Act and data security issues assessed	Yes	The Applicant confirmed that no personal identifiable information will leave the sites.
5.2	CTIMPS — Arrangements for compliance with the Clinical Trials Regulations assessed	Not Applicable	No comments
5.3	Compliance with any applicable laws or regulations	Yes	No comments

Section	Assessment Criteria	Compliant with Standards	Comments
6.1	NHS Research Ethics Committee favourable opinion received for applicable studies	Yes	No comments
6.2	CTIMPS – Clinical Trials Authorisation (CTA) letter received	Not Applicable	No comments
6.3	Devices – MHRA notice of no objection received	Not Applicable	No comments
6.4	Other regulatory approvals and authorisations received	Not Applicable	No comments

Participating NHS Organisations in England and Wales

This provides detail on the types of participating NHS organisations in the study and a statement as to whether the activities at all organisations are the same or different.

There is one site type in this study – research sites. Research sites will be responsible for all activity as listed in the Protocol.

The Chief Investigator or sponsor should share relevant study documents with participating NHS organisations in England and Wales in order to put arrangements in place to deliver the study. The documents should be sent to both the local study team, where applicable, and the office providing the research management function at the participating organisation. Where applicable, the local LCRN contact should also be copied into this correspondence.

If chief investigators, sponsors or principal investigators are asked to complete site level forms for participating NHS organisations in England and Wales which are not provided in IRAS, the HRA or HCRW websites, the chief investigator, sponsor or principal investigator should notify the HRA immediately at <u>hra.approval@nhs.net</u> or HCRW at <u>Research-permissions@wales.nhs.uk</u>. We will work with these organisations to achieve a consistent approach to information provision.

Principal Investigator Suitability

This confirms whether the sponsor position on whether a PI, LC or neither should be in place is correct for each type of participating NHS organisation in England and Wales, and the minimum expectations for education, training and experience that PIs should meet (where applicable).

A Principal Investigator (PI) would be expected at this site type. The PI has been identified as the Chief Investigator.

A Local Collaborator (LC) would not be expected at this site type as the CI is already employed by the Trust. GCP training is not a generic training expectation. In line with the <u>HRA/HCRW/MHRA statement on</u> training expectations.

HR Good Practice Resource Pack Expectations

This confirms the HR Good Practice Resource Pack expectations for the study and the pre-engagement checks that should and should not be undertaken

No Honorary Research Contracts, Letters of Access or pre-engagement checks are expected for local staff employed by the participating NHS organisations. Where arrangements are not already in place, research staff not employed by the NHS host organisation undertaking any of the research activities listed in the research application would be expected to obtain a Letter of Access based on standard DBS checks and occupational health clearance.

Other Information to Aid Study Set-up

This details any other information that may be helpful to sponsors and participating NHS organisations in England and Wales to aid study set-up.

The applicant has indicated that they do not intend to apply for inclusion on the NIHR CRN Portfolio.